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Chapter A – A description of the business affairs of the entity
A description of the general development of the business affairs of the Company
1.

Company activity and a description of the development of its business affairs
Energix – Renewable Energies Ltd.1 was incorporated on December 7, 2006 as a private
company, limited by shares. In May 2011, the company was converted into a public company.
As of December 31, 2013 (hereinafter – the “reporting date” or the “date of the report”)
and as of the date of approval of the financial statements, the Company is a subsidiary under
the control of Alony Hetz Properties and Investments Ltd., also a public company (hereinafter
– “Alony Hetz”).
As of the reporting date, the Company, through itself and through wholly-owned or jointlyowned subsidiaries and partnerships (hereinafter – jointly, the “Company” or the “Group”),
is engaged in the field of renewable energy and focuses mainly on the following two operating
segments:
1.1 Production of electricity using photovoltaic technology (hereinafter – the
“Photovoltaic Segment”) – The Company is engaged in the initiation, development,
planning, construction, management and operation of photovoltaic systems owned by
the Company and the sale of electivity produced by these systems. At present, the
Company wholly owns thirty small systems and two mid-sized systems, and jointly owns
four systems under the joint control of the Company (50%). The total output of these
systems, connected to the electrical grid is 6MWp, of which the Company's share
amounts to 4.6MWp. The electricity produced by the systems is sold to the Israel Electric
Corporation (hereinafter – “IEC”). In addition, the Company owns a large system being
constructed in Neot Hovav, with a capacity of 37.5MWp and a number of systems in
various stages of initiation. As of the date of approval of the financial statements, the
Company is active in this field solely in Israel and is concurrently assessing the feasibility
of investing in the photovoltaic field in additional markets.
For details of the activity of the Company in the photovoltaic field, see section 5.10
below.
1.2 Production of electricity using wind turbines (hereinafter – the “Wind Energy
Segment”) – The Company is taking steps to develop and initiate projects in the wind
energy segment in Israel and in Poland, either wholly-owned endeavors or jointly
together with partners, commencing with the initial stages of the project. The Company
has agreements with third parties pertaining to transactions involving the establishment
and cooperation on projects in the wind field in Israel and Poland at aggregate volumes
of 400MW. All of the Company's projects in the wind segment are currently in the
initiation and development stages.
For details of the initiation activity of the Company in the wind field, see section 5.2
below.
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The Company was incorporated in 2006 under the name Amot Mikbatzim Ltd., changed in 2009 to
Amot Energy Ltd. and in 2011 to Energix – Renewable Energies Ltd.

Upon the going into effect of the Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports)
(Amendment) – 2014 (hereinafter – the “Regulations”) on March 10, 2014, we provide
herein notification that the Company is considered a "small entity" as the term is defined in
Regulation 5C of the Regulations. The Company decided not to implement the provisions of
the Regulations in connection with 2013.
The chapter on the description of the business affairs of the entity, involving a
description of the Company, its development and its field of activity, also includes
forward-looking information. Forward-looking information is uncertain information
regarding the future, based on information that exists in the company as of the date
of approval of the financial statements and includes estimates or intentions of the
Company as of the reporting date. The actual results may be materially different than
the estimated or implied results from this information.

2.

Holding Structure
The following is a chart of the major holdings of the Company as of the reporting date:

*

Including controlling shareholders in Alony Hetz.

**

Some of the partnerships are in the process of being established.

3.

Investments in the equity of the Company and transactions in shares
Investments made in the equity of the entity in the past three years:
Date
May 2, 2011
April 4, 2013

Details
Initial public offering
Exercise of Series 1 options

Par value
119,775,190
31,349,860

Proceeds in thousands
145,342(*)
47,025

Price per share
1.22
1.5

(*) Net of issuance costs.
During the reporting period, the Company issued a shelf prospectus under which the Company may recruit additional equity to finance its operations for a
period of up to three years from the date of issuance of the prospectus.2
4.

Distribution of dividends
Since the date on which the Company commenced its activity, it has not distributed dividends to its shareholders. The Company has no dividend distribution
policy.
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Regarding the third year – subject to the Company's compliance with the requirements of the Israel Securities Authority.

Financial data pertaining to the activity of the Company
The following is a tabulation of financial data pertaining to the activity of the Company (in
NIS thousands)
3102

3103

3100

Revenues from the sale of electricity

,89,8

784,4

,8797

Other income

984,9

909

790

Total revenues

017,30

673,5

279,,

Operating costs, net of depreciation and amortization

97880,

484,0

9898,

Loss before finance, taxes, depreciation and
amortization

)27,,,(

)3760,(

)076,9(

Provisions and losses (gains) on impairment of
financial assets

)998(

78,77

-

Depreciation and amortization

8849,

,8778

98004

Loss before finance and taxes

)675,,(

)017511(

)376,5(

Loss for the year

),898,(

)9899,(

)98908(

)998,99(

)989,9(

,99

7089,,

7,80,7

898999

3197,,1

0627,51

0,,7,,6

Cash flows from current operations
Depreciated costs of connected systems
Total assets

For additional information on the statement of financial position (balance sheet) and results
of operations of the Company, see Chapter C of the report – the financial statements.
At present, the Company has revenues only from the photovoltaic segment. The expenses
reflect amounts relating to the photovoltaic and wind energy segments. For a breakdown by
operating segment, see Note 19 of Chapter C of the report – the financial statements.
For quantity data on the existing systems, the Company's initiation activity and forecast
estimates, see section 1 of Chapter B of the report – the Report of the Board of Directors.
5.

The photovoltaic segment and the wind energy segment
5.1 General – the photovoltaic segment
The Company is engaged in the sale of electricity produced by photovoltaic systems it
owns in Israel, as well as in initiation, construction, management and operation of
photovoltaic systems and facilities it owns for the production of electricity in Israel.
The size of the systems is measured in peak kilowatt / megawatt units (MWp / KWp)
(hereinafter – the “installed output”). According to data publicized by the Ministry of

Energy and Water3, the average annual output produced from every 1KWp installed in
Israel by a small photovoltaic system is estimated at 1,650KWh (kilowatt hour) a year
and by a mid-sized photovoltaic system is estimated at 1,700KWh a year (as of the
reporting date, the Company estimates that the cost involved in constructing a
photovoltaic system (including all of its components) is approximately NIS 5 to 7 million
per 1MWp, based on the type of equipment and the complexity of the project.
5.1. a General environment and the impact of external factors on the activity of the
Company in the photovoltaic sector in Israel
General:
As part of the global trend of adopting a policy regarding the reduction of greenhouse
gas emissions, many countries, including Israel, encourage investment in the
construction of facilities to produce renewable energy-based electricity through
government incentives to entrepreneurs.
In 2010, the Ministry of Energy and Water publicized its policy regarding the
achievement of government targets for the production of electricity in renewable
energy-based facilities by 2020, whereby 10% of Israel's electricity needs in that year
will be produced from renewable energy-based facilities.
In recent years, there has been a significant decline in the prices of equipment of
photovoltaic facilities, which has facilitated a gradual reduction in the incentives for
initiators of electricity rates. As a result of these reductions, in the coming years,
photovoltaic facilities can be expected to operate in a rate environment that reflects an
ever-declining dependence on government incentives, until the economic break-even
point is reached with regard to photovoltaic energy;

A significant
decrease in the
prices of panels and
in the cost of
installing systems

A lowering of rates
by the Public
Utilities Authority –
Electricity

Maintenance of
economic feasibility
through adequate
returns for
entrepreneurs

An increase in the
market potential
due to the
approaching of grid
parity

During August 2013, the Israeli government approved the setting up of a ministerial
committee for the promotion, development and implementation of renewable energies,
which will act as the government's execution arm in implementing its decisions in the
area of developing the renewable energy market in Israel. To the best of the Company's
knowledge, the committee has been weighing the movement of caps between the
various areas of renewable energy.
In the opinion of the Company, in view of the aforementioned global trend, and in
view of the regulatory arrangements in this matter, there exists a trend of increasing
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"The policy of the Ministry of National Infrastructures (the name of which was changed to the Ministry
of Energy and Water) to incorporate renewable energies in the Israeli electricity production
framework", dated February 14, 2010.

demand for the production of electricity by renewable energy sources, including the
services offered by the Company.
Notwithstanding, by its very nature, there is no guarantee regarding the Company's
growth potential and its competitive capabilities against its competition. In addition,
the above estimate is forward-looking information that is not under the control of the
Company.
Raw materials and suppliers
Photovoltaic systems are comprised of panels and converters, mechanical aluminum
frames in which the panels are installed, cables, connectors and electrical cabinets. The
Company's system at Neot Hovav also consists of a substation.
The Company is meticulous about purchasing components for its photovoltaic systems
from leading global suppliers with experience and good reputations in the photovoltaic
sector. In the opinion of the Company, in view of the large quantity of companies
around the world that manufacture the components used in the photovoltaic systems,
with technical capabilities that are similar to the vendors from which the Company
purchases these components, it has no dependency on any given vendor.
Notwithstanding the above, in the Neot Hovav project, the Company elected to
purchase panels using "thin film" technology which is unique to First Solar, Inc., known
for the quality of its panels and for the service it renders to its customers.
For more information on additional external factors that may have an impact on the
activity of the Company, including the regulatory arrangements that apply to the
market, see sections 5.3 – 5.13 below.
5.1.b Company activity in the photovoltaic sector in Israel
5.1.b.1 The Neot Hovav Project
Purchase transaction, costs and forecasted cash flows
During the reporting period, the Company concluded its purchase of the
photovoltaic project with an output of 37.5MWp at Neot Hovav. The
consideration that the Company has to pay for all of the shares in the project
company amounts to €7.5 million (NIS 35 million), approximately equivalent
to the shareholders' equity of the project company. In addition, the Company
undertook to pay to the entrepreneurs an additional consideration of NIS 25
million, in respect of services that they rendered to the project company.
Proximate to the date of transfer of ownership over the project company, the
entrepreneurs were paid an amount of €3.75 million (NIS 17.5 million). The
balance of the consideration in respect of the shares and the additional
amounts due to the entrepreneurs in respect of services that they rendered to
the project company, in an amount of NIS 42.5 million (hereinafter – the
“balance of the consideration”), will be paid to the entrepreneurs proximate
to the receipt of the permanent license of the system (but no later than
December 31, 2015). The Company furnished a loan to the entrepreneurs on
account of the balance of the consideration, in an amount of NIS 21 million.
The loan bears annual interest at a rate of 6%, linked to the Index (payable

quarterly), and it will be paid out of the balance of the consideration to the
aforementioned payment.
The total cost of the project to the Group in respect of the purchase,
construction, financing costs, reserve funds and management and initiation
fees is estimated at NIS 350 million, of which, during the reporting period,
payments were made in connection with the purchase of the project and the
development activity for purposes of advancing the project, in an amount of
NIS 84 million. The forecasted flow of revenues is estimated at NIS 42 million
per annum, and the forecasted operating expenses are estimated at NIS 5 – 6
million per annum.
Construction of the Project: The project will be constructed by a dedicated
EPC contractor (engineering, procurement and construction) (a German
company, one of the leading firms in this sector) under a turnkey format and
the Company is making preparations to render services to the EPC contractor
through various contractors (including the Israel Electric Corporation), in
connection with the construction of the substation that is required to operate
and connect the project to the electric grid. As part of the above, the
construction contractor undertakes full responsibility for the planning and
setting up of the project, for the output of the facility and for its proper
functioning for a three-year period following delivery of the system. In
addition, the Company entered into an agreement with the construction
contractor to render operating services to the system for a period of up to 20
years.
Immediately after the signing of the construction and operating agreements,
the contractor was given notice that the construction work at the site had
commenced and such work actually commenced in January 2014.
Project financing:
For details regarding the financing of the project in an amount of up to €50
million, which is secured by the assets and revenues of the project (nonrecourse) and negotiations regarding refinancing during the period of
operation, see section 16 below and Note 12A(4) of the consolidated financial
statements of the Company.
As of the date of approval of the financial statements, the project company
has not yet tapped into the financing framework and to date, all of its
investments have been financed by the Company.
For additional information on the project, including in connection with
property rights, see Note 12A(4) in Chapter C of this report – the financial
statements.
5.1.b.2 In addition to the large system under construction as described in 5.1.b.1, as
of the date of approval of the statements, the Company is involved in the sale
of electricity, produced by the small and mid-sized photovoltaic systems, with
a total output of 6MWp (the share of the Company is 4.6MWp) and in the

initiation of additional mid and large-sized systems in various stages of
development.
Please note that in view of the surplus of the conditional licenses that
have been issued, versus the existing quotas that have not been
exhausted, and in relation to the quota in Judea and Samaria, in view of
the complexity of the regulatory and statutory processes versus the Civil
Administration of Judea and Samaria, the Company cannot be sure that
it will obtain conditional tariff approvals in respect of additional
projects.
5.1.b.3 the following table summarizes all of the connected systems of the Company,
under construction and under development:
Connected systems

Number
of
systems

Installed
output

Small connected systems
Mid-sized connected systems
Mid-sized connected systems
Total connected systems
Systems under construction /
development

30
2
4
36
No. of
systems

1.5MWp
1.7MWp
2.8MWp
6MWp
Installed
output

100%
100%
50%

Large ground-mounted
system – Neot Hovav

1

37.5MWp

100%

Mid-sized land system under
development

1

5MWp

Mid-sized
system
development

under

1

0.6MWp

Total
systems
under
construction / development
Total systems connected and
under development

3

43.1MWp

40.3MWp

44,790

374,600

39

49.1MWp

44.9MWp

57,090

435,793

*

4

Share of the Company in
the system

Representative
annual
revenue*
(Company
share, NIS'000)
4,600
4,300
3,400
12,300
Forecasted
annual revenue
(Company
share, NIS'000)

Actual revenue
in 2013
(Company share,
NIS'000)

Cost
(Company
share,
NIS'000)

4,769
4,214
1,196
10,179
Status

37.5MWp

42,000

50.1%

2.5MWp

2,500

50%

0.3MWp

290

Construction
phase in the field
(commenced
January 2014
Contingent
license, waiting
for tariff
approval as part
of regulation in
Judea and
Samaria
Financial closing
for project
obtained

22,218
23,542
15,433
61,193
Forecasted
cost
(Company
share,
NIS'000)
350,000

1.5MEWP
1.7MWp
1.4MWp
4.6MWp
Share of the Company in
the system

Representative annual revenue was calculated on the basis of the assumption
that the annual output of electricity production is 1,650KWh per annum, per
1KWp in connection with a small system, 1,700 KWh per annum, per 1KWp
for a mid-sized system and 1,750 KWh per annum, per 1KWp for the Neot
Hovav system.4

The calculation is based primarily on information publicized by the Ministry of Energy and Water in
the "Policy of the Ministry of National Infrastructures to Integrate Renewable Energy in the Israeli
Electricity Production Framework".

22,600

2,000

5.1.c

The Activity of the Company in the photovoltaic sector abroad
As of the date of this report, the Company has not been developing or been
engaged in the sale of electricity generated through photovoltaic facilities
abroad. However, it intends on assessing the initiation, construction and
investment in such projects abroad, subject to economic feasibility and
stability, feasibility to obtain financing and the existence of a reliable regulatory
environment that supports investors.
All of the information appearing in section 5.1 above, in connection with
the business environment and future information in connection with
systems that are currently in the process of initiation, various stages of
construction or operation, including the Company's preparations in
connection with the forecasted cost of construction or forecasted annual
revenues is forward-looking information pursuant to article 32A of the
Securities Law – 1968, based on information currently in the possession
of the Company (under the assumption that the systems that have not
yet been completed will be completed, will be connected to the electrical
grid at tariffs currently known to the Company as of today, and
continuous and proper functioning of the systems pursuant to their
installed output). Forward-looking information is a forecast,
assumption, estimate or other information relating to a future event or
matter, the fruition of which is not certain and is not solely under the
control of the Company.

5.2 Wind energy sector
5.2.a General environment and the impact of external factors on the activity of the
Company in the wind energy sector in Israel5
The wind energy sector is the leading global sector in producing electricity through the
use of renewable energy, with a global installed output of more than 300GW.
In recent years, the global wind market has increased at an annual rate of 40GW. The
dependency of renewable energies on government incentives, against the backdrop of
the global financial crisis, has led many countries to reassess and change their policies
regarding these incentives. The change in policy and in the incentive mechanisms has
caused, in certain circumstances, a lack of stability and economic uncertainty for
manufacturers of turbines, and entrepreneurs and investors in the wind sector.
Notwithstanding, at present, there is an expansion of the global wind energy market.
At present, a typical wind turbine has an output of 2-3MW, the diameter of its rotors
ranges between 80 – 120 meters and the height of its mast is between 80 – 140 meters.
For the most part, the type of turbine that will be installed at the site will be determined
on the basis of the wind characteristics at the given site.
Among the large turbine manufacturers can be found companies such as Siemens
(Germany), GE (the U.S.), Vestas (Denmark), Gold Win (China) and Enercon
(Germany). The major challenge facing the turbine manufacturers is the need to
5

Based on information publicized on the http://www.gwec.net website.

increase the utilization of the turbine, so that the turbines produce more energy from
the existing wind regime. Increasing the utilization of the turbine brings the costs of
producing energy from wind closer to the economic breakeven point when compared
to the cost of production from conventional sources, and allows manufacturers to
expand their market share into areas in which government incentives are low or to sites
at which the wind velocity is low.
In order to properly operate a wind farm, the operator requires ongoing maintenance
which, for the most part, is supplied by the manufacturer of the turbine as part of a
long-term service and maintenance package.
The manner in which a large wind turbine is operated and the major
components thereof:
Electricity production from wind energy is the result of kinetic energy that derives from
the flow of air hitting the rotors of the turbine causing the rotation of the rotors. This
rotating motion is converted into electrical energy through the use of an electric
generator that is located at the top of the mast on which the turbine is placed. The
stronger the velocity of the wind, the higher the output produced by the generator, up
to a point at which the generator reaches the limit of its capacity. Since the wind
direction changes frequently, based on the wind regime at the site, the turbine has
sensors that turn the body of the turbine such that the rotors always face the direction
of the wind.
At a farm that has a number of turbines, the turbines are usually connected to one
another through an underground cable which eventually is connected to the electrical
grid.
The following is a description of the major components of a large wind turbine:

A lack of regulatory clarity in Poland in connection with the regulation of wind
energy
In the past two years, the Polish regulator has been preparing a proposed amendment
to the existing energy law by way of legislation dealing with renewable energy. During
2013, a number of drafts were issued that resulted in uncertainty in the market and in
addition, the prices of green certificates and the price of electricity on the Polish
exchange have dropped to a low point that has had a direct influence on the ability to
finance wind projects using bank financing.
5.2.b For information pertaining to additional external factors that may have an impact on
the activity of the Company, including regulatory arrangements applying to the market,
see sections 5.3 – 5.13 below.
The activity of the Company in the wind energy sector in Israel
The Company has been taking steps, by itself or with partners, to initiate and develop
a number of projects for the production of electricity through the use of wind energy.
As of the reporting date and the date of approval of the financial statements, all of the
activity of the Company in the wind energy sector is in the initiation and development
phases and the Company has been taking steps to achieve the necessary milestones for
purposes of obtaining conditional licenses and advancing the necessary planning
aspects for purposes of promoting the projects it desires to establish.
Based on the data available to the Company at present, the Company estimates that the
forecasted cost per 1MW installed in the wind project is between NIS 6 – 7 million.
Accordingly, the Company's activity in the wind sector is equity-intensive activity and
the construction of the systems is subject to the ability of the Company to obtain longterm external financing to construct each project. The financing is expected to be at a
rate of 80% of the total cost of the project, in the form of project financing on a nonrecourse basis.
5.2.b.1 ARN Project – For information pertaining to the signing of an agreement to
invest in a private company that holds the rights to initiate and develop a
project for the construction of a wind farm in the Golan Heights with an
estimated output of 155MW, see Note 12B(1)a of Chapter C of the report –
the financial statements. Subsequent to the reporting date, the Company
notified the project company of its intention to take steps to advance the
milestones required to complete the transaction and, at the same time, it started
making preparations to advance the ARN Project (ARN – Hebrew acronym
for Clean Wind Energy). As part of the above, the Company is conducting
negotiations with various parties, including the Defense Ministry, in
connection with possibilities for development of the project. At this stage, it is
not possible to estimate the feasibility of the establishment of the ARN Project.

5.2.b.2 The following table summarizes the systems in which the Company is
involved in Israel, in the initial initiation stages:

Projects under initiation

Golan Heights
Galilee
Menashe Heights
Kibbutzim (Lower Galilee)

*

No. of
farms

Total
output

1
2
1
3
7

155MWp
35MWp
35MWp
70MWp
295MWp

Company share of farm

75%
116MWp
100%
35MWp
74%
25.9MWp
74%
51.8MWp
228.7MWp

Total
expected
investment
in project
(NIS'000)
1,000,000
250,000
210,000
450,000
1,910,000

Total
expected
annual
income *
(NIS'000)
200,900
35,500
35,500
71,000
342,900

The expected annual income was calculated on the basis of a forecasted annual
output of electricity production of 3,000KWh per annum, of 1KW installed for
the projects to be constructed in the Golan Heights and 2,400KWh per annum,
of 1KW installed for projects to be constructed in all other areas, and based on
the existing rate in the arrangement of the Electricity Authority in an amount of
NIS 0.432 per KWh.
For additional information on the systems the Company wants to advance, see
Note 12C(1) of Chapter C of the report – the financial statements.

Please note that all the projects the Company is developing in Israel are in the
initial initiation stages and are subject to feasibility studies, economic feasibility
and completion of the regulatory process, which may change from time to time.
Therefore, there is no certainty whatsoever that they will be actually constructed
and/or connected to the electrical grid. Subject to the above, in connection with
projects to be advanced by the Company and which will comply with the
milestone of tariff approval, the Company estimates that these projects may
come to a financial closing during the period 2015 – 2017.
5.2.c

The activity of the Company in the wind sector in Poland
The following table summarizes the systems in which the Company is involved
in Poland, in the initiation stages:

Projects under initiation

Poland

No. of
farms

Total
output

2

100MW

Company share of farm

100%

100MW

Forecasted
construction
cost
(NIS'000)
750,000

Expected
annual
income
(NIS'000)
103,000

As of the reporting date, the Company decided not to invest material
amounts in advancing projects in Poland until it is certain of the
regulatory and legal regulation that will apply to wind facilities in
Poland.
For additional information, see section 5.9.f below.
For additional information pertaining to the systems in which the Company is
involved in Poland and which are in the development stages, see Note 12C(2)
of Chapter 3 of the report – the financial statements.
It is hereby clarified that anything appearing in section 5.2 above
(including by way of referral to notes in the financial statements) in

relation to the business environment, to the completion of the licensing
phases and to readiness to construct and/or to future information in
connection with systems in the process of initiating construction
phases, including the estimates of the Company in connection with the
output of the systems and/or the forecasted annual income and the
forecasted costs of construction, is forward-looking information in
accordance with article 32A of the Securities Law – 1968, based on
information in the possession of the Company or its estimates as of the
date of approval of the financial statements (under the assumption that
systems that have not been completed will be completed and connected
to the electrical grid at tariffs known to the Company as of today, and
compliance with the expected output). Forward-looking information is
a forecast, assumption, estimate or other information that relates to
future events or matters, the realization of which is uncertain and which
is not under the sole control of the Company.
5.3 Environmental quality
The Company may be exposed to environmental quality concerns in the Neot Hovav
facility being constructed on rehabilitated pools, on land that was polluted in the past.
To the best of the knowledge of the Company, it is possible that there is pollution in the
ground in the area (the existence of poisonous and hazardous wastes in the ground),
poisonous gases that exit breather valves in the ground, air pollution in the area deriving
from factories in the area and from chemical evaporation ponds located relatively close
to the project site, as well as from pollutants from other land in the area, borne by the
wind. The Company enforces high standards and work procedures with a goal of
complying with environmental quality standards and preserving the health of the
employees at the project site and taking all steps to prevent bad health and illnesses that
may be caused to employees as a result of the danger of exposure to poisonous materials
in the air.
For information pertaining to consequences of the going into effect of the Electronic
Waste Law, see section 18 below.
5.4 The global financial crisis
In the opinion of Company Management, the retreat of global economic activity and the
debt crisis in the Euro block are not expected to have a negative impact on the revenues
of the Company from its activity in Israel, due to the fact that all of the revenues of the
Company are from the sale of electricity to a single customer – the Israel Electric
Corporation.
On the other hand, a retreat in global economic activity or a worsening of the Euroblock debt crisis may have a negative impact on the business environment in which the
Company operates and on the feasibility and savings in investment in various projects,
including and with an emphasis on the activity of the Company in Poland.
For additional information, see Part B of Chapter B of the report – the Report of the
Board of Directors.

5.5 Changes in interest rates
For information pertaining to changes in interest rates, see section 3.3 of Part B of the
Board of Directors report and Note 21(3)b of Chapter C of the report – the financial
statements.
5.6 Changes in the volume of activity in the sector and its profitability
During the reporting period, the increase in revenues from the sale of electricity during
2013 is attributed to the fact that in 2013, the Company generated revenues from 30
small systems and two mid-sized systems that worked at full production all year (while
the mid-sized systems in 2012 were attached only during the fourth quarter of 2012 and,
therefore, they did not work all year). The results of the operations of the Granot Energy
partnership, accounted for on the equity method, in connection with the four mid-sized
systems it owns, were included in the item entitled "Share of the Company in the results
of equity-accounted investee companies". For information, see section 2.2 of Chapter B
of the report – the Report of the Board of Directors.
The breakdown of revenues in 2013 (segmented by quarter) is in line with the forecasts
that were made by the Company on the basis of seasonal data that was forecasted in
connection with the systems that operated in each of the years 2010, 2011 and 2012. In
2013, there was no change in the operating profit margin (revenues from the sale of
electricity, net of rental and maintenance expenses), which on the average was about
85%.
During 2013, the Company significantly expanded its investments in the construction of
photovoltaic systems (first and foremost, its investment in the Neot Hovav project with
a total output of 37.5 MWp, as well as the completion of the construction of four projects
that were established in the Granot Energy partnership). In addition, the initiation of
projects in the wind sector was expanded and, as part of this expansion, agreements were
signed for the development of a wind farm of material size. For information on the
agreements and investments in 2013, see Note 12 of Chapter C of the report – the
financial statements.
5.7 Changes in the framework of suppliers and raw materials in the operating
segment
During 2013, there was no change in the framework of suppliers and raw materials
involving the photovoltaic segment.
During 2013, the initiation activity in the wind segment did not include procurement of
raw materials or a binding agreement with suppliers of turbines.
5.8 Segmenting product revenues and profits
As of December 31, 2013, the Company has revenues from sales of electricity produced
by photovoltaic systems in Israel only.

5.9 Restrictions, legislation and standards that apply to the operating segment
5.9.a The operations of the Company in Israel – General:
The regulatory framework which covers the activity of the Company in Israel is the
relevant legislation for the electricity market through the Electricity Economy Law –
1996 (hereinafter – the “Law”), the Electricity Law – 1954 (hereinafter – the
“Electricity Law”) and the regulations enacted thereunder, as well as decisions of the
Public Utilities Authority – Electricity (hereinafter – the “Electricity Authority”).
In addition, the Company's operations in Israel are significantly affected by decisions
of the Israeli government and the Ministry of Energy and Water. Moreover, the activity
of the Company is dependent on the approvals of other entities, such as local councils,
the Israel Electric Corporation, planning and construction entities, and various
government ministries such as the Ministries of Agriculture, Interior, and Defense.
In general, to the best of the knowledge of the Company, the Company is in compliance
with the legislation and regulations that apply to its field of activity.
I. Threshold conditions for the completion of the regulatory process for
purposes of constructing photovoltaic systems or a wind farm in Israel

An entrepreneur who wants to set up a mid-sized or large system to produce
electricity using photovoltaic technology or an entrepreneur who wants to set up a
large wind farm has to meet the conditions set out by the regulations of the
Electricity Authority.
The significant milestones of such regulations (from the initial phase through the
most advanced stage) that have to be met by the entrepreneur are: obtaining a
conditional license, obtaining a tariff approval, meeting the financial closing
milestone and furnishing shareholders' equity of 20% of the normative cost of the
project6, complying with the timetable for the construction and connection of the
facility to the national electrical grid and obtaining a permanent license.
The conditional license stipulates that the party that meets the milestone of the
conditional license through the tariff approval will be entitled to a rate as set out in
the license, as long as at that time, there is still an available quota. In other words,
the quota is allotted on the basis of the "first-come-first-served" principle.
II. The photovoltaic sector:
The regulation of the photovoltaic sector addresses three types of systems for the
production of electricity using photovoltaic technology: small systems, mid-sized
systems and large systems. The following is a review of the types of systems and
their characteristics:
5.9.a.1 Photovoltaic electricity production systems for self-consumption, with
an output of up to 50KWp (hereinafter – “small systems”) or “business
systems”
The Electricity Authority publicized a number of regulations for small
systems in which it set quotas and tariffs. The base rate was set in accordance
with the date of the systems initial operation, and it is fixed for 20 years and
linked to the Cost of Living Index.
As of the date of the report, the Company is not active in initiating small
systems. For details regarding the Company's small systems, see section
5.1.b.2 above.
5.9.a.2 Photovoltaic electricity production systems, with an output of more
than 51KWp and connected to the distribution grid (hereinafter –
“mid-sized systems”)
The decision passed by the Electricity Authority at meeting 284 in December
2009 (hereinafter – “Decision 284”) regulated tariffs and quotas for private
electricity producers using photovoltaic technology for systems larger than
51KWp and which are connected to the distribution grid. The tariffs in this
regulation were reduced in 2011 and in 2013. The base rate is set at the date
the tariff approval is received from the Electricity Authority (prior to the
completion of the financial closing) and it is fixed for 20 years from the date

6

As set from time to time by the Electricity Authority.

of receipt of the permanent license and is linked to the Consumer Price
Index.
As of the date of the report, there is no available quote in the regulation of
mid-sized systems (except for the regulation of Judea and Samaria, as set out
below).
For information on the Company's mid-sized systems, see section 5.1.b.3
above.
Regulation in favor of systems in Judea and Samaria
In July 2011, a quota of 30MWp was deducted from the quota for mid-sized
systems (which amounted to 300MWp) in favor of setting up mid-sized
systems in Judea and Samaria.
After the reduction in tariffs in 2013, a number of entrepreneurs appealed to
the High Court of Justice against this reduction, claiming that a distortion
was caused as part of the updating of the rate for electricity production from
renewable energy in Judea and Samaria. At this stage, on the
recommendation of the High Court of Justice, the parties are conducting
negotiations to find a compromise. To the best of the knowledge of the
Company, further to the appeal to the High Court of Justice, the Electricity
Commissioner froze the granting of tariff approvals until the High Court of
Justice renders its decision on this issue.
For details of the Company's mid-sized systems in Judea and Samaria, see
section 5.1.b.2 above.
5.9.a.3 Photovoltaic electricity production systems connected to the
transmission grid (hereinafter – “large systems”)
The Electricity Authority issued a regulation dealing with the setting up of
large systems, with a total quota of 200MWp. The regulation set a rate of NIS
0.98 per KWh produced. In October 2012, after a hearing was held, the
Electricity Authority reduced the rate for large systems to a rate of NIS 0.663
per KWh produced, subject to an adjustment mechanism.
As of the date of the report, the quota was exhausted. Out of the quota,
37.5MWp relates to the Neot Hovav project which is wholly-owned by the
Company.
For additional information regarding the large system owned by the
Company which is in the construction stages, see section 5.1.b.1 above.
5.9.b Future quotas
To the best of the Company's knowledge, the Ministry of Energy and Water, together
with the Electricity Authority, is exploring the allotment of additional quotas in the
photovoltaic sector.
III.

The wind energy sector

5.9.c Regulation of the wind sector in Israel – regulating systems in excess of 50KW
(hereinafter – “large systems”)
5.9.c.1 The quota and rate in Israel
5.9.c.1.1 In July 2011, the Israeli government allotted a quota of 800MW in favor
of the production of electricity using wind energy. Subsequent to the date
of the report, as part of the deliberations of the ministerial committee for
the development and implementation of renewable energies that took
place in February 2014, it was decided to divert 70MW from the quota of
systems for the production of electricity using wind energies, in favor of
the setting up of facilities in the photovoltaic sector. As of the date of
approval of the report, an appeal was filed against this decision.
5.9.c.1.2 In October 2011, the Electricity Authority stipulated that the rate for this
regulation should amount to NIS 0.53 per KWh produced, linked to the
Index, for plants that receive a tariff approval by the earlier of December
31, 2014 or until the quota of 440MW is exhausted. Afterwards, the rate
will be NIS 0.49 per KWh produced until the earlier of December 31,
2017 or the filling of the full quota (linked to the Index). As of the date
of approval of the financial statements, the rate, after linkage, is NIS 0.468
and NIS 0.432, respectively.
5.9.c.1.3 The rate table for wind farms with conditional licenses that have not yet
received tariff approval will be updated once a year based on a mechanism
of linkage to the dollar (30%), to the rate of the Euro (50%) and to the
Consumer Price Index (20%).
5.9.c.1.4 The rate will be guaranteed for a period of 20 years. After 20 years, the
provider of the critical service will pay the producer, in accordance with
the regulations to be set by the Electricity Authority at that time, taking
into consideration the fact that the rate obtained by the producer for the
20-year period covered the cost of construction and on condition that the
producer has a valid license and pursuant to the conditions.
5.9.c.1.5 To the best of the Company’s knowledge, as of the date of approval of
the financial statements, no tariff approval was granted pursuant to the
abovementioned regulations.
5.9.d Planning and construction aspects –National Zoning Plan for wind facilities
At its meeting on April 3, 2012, the National Planning and Construction Council
(hereinafter – the “National Council”) decided to adopt the principles of a policy
paper that was compiled by the Planning Administration regarding the setting up of
wind turbines for the production of electricity. In addition, the National Council
decided to prepare a national zoning plan (TAMA 12/D/10) that would set out the
planning rules and guidelines for approval of wind turbines as part of construction
plans and permits. In October 2013, a draft of the national zoning plan was publicized
for public comment and in February 2014, it was presented to the members of the
National Council. The zoning plan is expected to go into effect in the coming months.

The National Council also decided to set up an inter-ministry committee for the
identification and assessment of land with potential for construction of large wind
farms across the country and to determine preferential areas for the said construction.
In February 2014, the inter-ministry committee presented its conclusions to the
members of the National Council and immediately thereafter, publicized its
conclusions to the public. Out of a total of 160 compounds that were submitted by all
of the entrepreneurs, the committee recommended 31 compounds as having planning
potential for the construction of wind turbines.
The Company submitted four compounds to the inter-ministry committee and they
were recommended by the committee as having planning potential for the construction
of wind turbines.
5.9.e Additional provisions of law:
5.9.e.1 The Company may be impacted by the directives of the Commissioner of Banks
regarding an industry-wide restriction and other restrictions on borrower debts
in borrower groups which may limit the ability of the Company to obtain
additional financing for projects it is constructing.
5.9.f The activity of the Company in the Polish wind sector:
The Polish electricity regime and the existing law
The per capita level of carbon emissions in Poland is high and it is considered one of
the most polluted countries in Europe (more than 80% of its electricity is produced
using coal). In addition, the vast majority of the installed output in Poland is produced
by plants constructed in the period 1970 – 1985, using coal as a source of fuel. The life
span of coal-based plants ranges between 35 – 40 years. Therefore, it can be expected
that in the coming years, Poland will require vast investments in new infrastructure or
in updating the existing infrastructure.
In addition, Poland, as a member of the European Union, must meet targets for the
production of electricity using renewable energies that were set by the EU, whereby
15% of the total Polish electricity production must use renewable energies by 2020.
The Green Certificates Mechanism
In order to achieve these goals and to provide incentives to the Polish renewable energy
industry, the Polish government adopted a Tradable Green Certificates (TGC)
mechanism. Pursuant to the mechanism, Green Certificates are issued to electricity
producers using renewable energies and they can sell the certificates to other producers
of electricity in lieu of payment of a levy in respect of pollution.
The amount of the levy set by the Polish regulator is presently 297.35 zlotys per 1MWh,
linked to the Index.
According to the existing regulations in Poland, a producer of electricity from
renewable energy, including from wind technology, sells the electricity it produces on
the Electricity Exchange or to local marketers. According to the arrangement, the local
marketer (the owner of a transmission grid in the location in which the electricity is

produced) must purchase the electricity produced at the wind farm at a price set and
publicized by the regulator. This price is set annually on the basis of the average price
of electricity in the previous year. The price for 2013 amounted to 201.36 zlotys per
1MW.
In addition to the right to sell the electricity, with a goal of encouraging entrepreneurs
to invest in renewable energy projects in Poland, Poland adopted a Tradable Green
Certificates (TGC) mechanism. According to this mechanism, green certificates are
issued to producers of electricity using renewable energies. The green certificates are
transferable to producers of electricity who do not use renewable energy and to entities
that sell electricity to end users and commodity brokers (hereinafter – “electricity
traders”) and are tradable on commodity exchanges. Electricity traders are required by
law to obtain and submit to the Polish Energy Authority green certificates of a certain
percentage of their total electricity sales or, alternatively, to pay a levy (hereinafter – the
“Substitute Fee”). The fee that was set by the Polish regulator currently amounts to
297.35 zlotys per 1MWh, linked to the Index.
Updating the legislation
In the past two years, the Polish regulator has been working on a draft amendment to
the existing Energy Law by way of legislation on renewable energies. The objective of
the draft legislation is to regulate the renewable energy market in the country, with a
goal of meeting its commitments to the EU and declared government policies. During
2013, a number of draft pieces of legislation were publicized, causing uncertainty in the
market and causing the prices of green certificates and electricity on the Polish
exchange to fall to new lows, directly impacting on the ability to finance wind projects
using bank financing.
5.10 Technological changes that have a material impact on the operating segment
To date, there are a number of different technologies being developed.
In the photovoltaic sector, some of the technologies place an emphasis on increasing the
ability to utilize photovoltaic energy and some of them place an emphasis on lowering
production costs of photovoltaic systems.
In the wind sector, technologies place an emphasis on increasing the utilization and
output of the turbines (which are reflected mainly in the size of the turbines) and on
increasing the utilization of turbines at low wind speeds. Please note that technological
development, should it come to fruition, will have an impact on the economic feasibility
of the construction of future projects, but not of existing projects that are currently in
operation.
5.11 The critical success factors in the operating segment and the changes applicable
thereto
Areas of activity are impacted mainly by changes that may occur in respect of climatic
data (e.g., solar radiation and wind strength), regulatory changes (including changes in
the tariffs of electricity purchase), ability to procure financing, the cost of the equity
needed for purposes of investment in projects and the costs of producing energy from
other sources.

5.12 The major entry and exist barriers of the operating segment
In the opinion of the Company, the factors set out below constitute the major entry
barriers into the Company's operating segment:
(1) The existence of the equity needed to finance the initiation phase and the furnishing
of the shareholders' equity needed for the setting-up phase.
(2) Affinity to land – the opportunity to enter into rental / leasing agreements in
connection with the land / space on which the company wants to install the
photovoltaic systems or the wind facilities.
(3) Knowledge of the various regulatory provisions applicable to the operating
segment, compliance with such regulations and receipt of a quota for a preferred
rate and/or the signing of contracts for the sale of electricity.
(4) Professional experience in planning, initiation, construction and connecting the
electricity facilities.
(5) Access to sources of financing.
In the opinion of the Company, the major exit barriers of the operating segment (i.e., the
realization of projects and the sale thereof to third parties) are as follows:
(1) Compliance with the conditions that the regulator requires of the owners of the
project or of the company holding the project.
(2) The existence of fair economic conditions that will facilitate the realization of the
project.
For additional information on the competition in the operating segment of the Company
and a summary of the risk factors involved in the activity of the Company, see sections
8 and 27 below.
5.13 Substitutes for the products produced by the operating segment and changes that
occur therein
Renewable energy includes, among other things, thermo-solar energy, bio-mass, bio-gas,
hydroelectric energy and geothermal energy. Except for photovoltaic energy and wind
energy, all types of renewable energy as well as natural gas, constitute substitutes to the
activity of the Company.
For additional information regarding technological changes, see section 5.10 above.
6.

Customers
6.1 Sale of electricity
As of the date of this report, the sole customer of the Company in Israel is a supplier of
the critical service, the Israel Electric Corporation, which is committed to enter into longterm agreements with the Company for 20 years, on the basis of the tariffs set by the
Electricity Authority (for additional information on the regulations applying to this issue,
see section 5.1.a of the report). Therefore, notwithstanding the dependence on this

customer, the Company does not believe that this dependence will have a material impact
on the operations of the Company.
As of the date of this report, the future customers of the Company in Poland are the
electricity brokers in Poland which customarily enter into agreements for periods of
between 1 to 15 years. For a general description of the Polish electricity market and the
relevant regulations, see section 5.9.f above.
6.2 Rendering operating services under operating agreements with partnerships
The Company renders management and operating services to photovoltaic systems, in
the construction of which it was involved. For details, see Note 15(H) of Chapter C of
the report – the financial statements.
7.

Marketing and distribution
As of the date of approval of the financial statements, the operations of the Company do not
require marketing and distribution, due to the fact that the sole customer of the Company is
the Israel Electric Corporation which is committed to enter into long-term agreements with
the Company and to purchase the energy that is or that will be produced by the Company on
the basis of tariffs set by the Electricity Authority.

8.

Competition
In the photovoltaic field and in the wind energy field in Israel, the possibility of participating
in the quotas publicized by the Electricity Authority (thereby benefiting from the various
tariffs publicized in connection with each quota), experience and professionalism, the ability
to provide inexpensive capital in favor of investment in projects, identifying properties that
are suitable for the installation of photovoltaic systems and the manner of engaging owners
of roofs and properties all have an impact on success in these fields, taking into consideration
the forecasted income flow which as long as a permanent license has not been obtained, is
affected by regulatory changes.
As of the reporting date, many companies in Israel are active in the field of renewable energy
in Israel in general and in the photovoltaic field and the wind energy field in particular.
Since the activity of entrepreneurs in the field of renewable energy is dependent on quotas
publicized by the Electricity Authority, a limitation may apply to the ability of the Company
to realize projects being promoted by it, to the extent that such quota is fully utilized by the
competition.
As of the reporting date, in the opinion of the Company, the share of the Company in the
Israeli renewable energy market is insignificant.
In the Polish wind field, the possibility of setting up a wind farm is dependent to a great extent
on the ability of the initiator to participate in the existing infrastructure of the electricity grid
and to obtain the approvals needed to obtain a construction permit, to sign agreements for
the sale of electricity and green certificates and to reach financial closure.
As of the reporting date, many companies are active in the Polish wind energy field and, in
the opinion of the Company, the share of the Company in the Polish renewable energy market
is negligible.

9.

Seasonality
By its very nature, solar radiation in different seasons of the year has an impact on the output
of the photovoltaic systems. Therefore, in the spring and summer months – in which radiation
is high, the output of the facilities increases while in the fall and winter months – in which the
quantity of radiation is relatively low, output decreases. As of the reporting date, the Company
has not yet begun to produce electricity through the use of wind turbines. However, in general,
the production of electricity using wind energy is also affected by changes in the wind regime
over the seasons of the year, in accordance with the specific region in which the turbines are
installed, and by the wind regime variance between years.

10. Production capacity
For information pertaining to the electrical production capacity of the Company, see section
5.1.b.2 above.
11. Fixed assets
The facilities of the Company are constructed on properties and roofs that are not owned by
the Company, rather they are leased for periods of up to 25 years. The assets of the facility
are owned by the Company and they include mainly the panels, converters and infrastructure
of the installation.
The Company has no fixed assets aside from the electricity production facilities it owns.
For additional information, see Note 7 and 7A of Chapter C of the report – the financial
statements.
For information pertaining to the rental of roofs and other areas for purposes of constructing
the projects, see Note 12A(7) and Note 15B of Chapter C of the report – the financial
statements.
12. Human resources
12.1 Organizational structure
The following is a chart describing the organizational structure of the Company as of
the date of this report:
CEO
Business
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Legal
Counsel

Initiation and
Regularization
Manager

Legal
Department

Business
Development

Solar Segment
Manager
Operations
Department
Project
Managers

Wind Segment
Manager
Wind Project
Managers in
Israel

CFO

Bookkeeping

Budgetary
Control
Controller

As of the reporting date, the Company employs a staff of 18 and, as of the date of
approval of the financial statements, the Company employs a staff of 22, compared with
12 employees as of December 31, 2010. All of the employees of the Company are
employed under personal employment contracts. The liabilities of the Company for
employee severance rights are covered by deposits in managers insurance policies and by
the reserve for severance pay.
In addition, the Company receives management and support services from Alony Hetz
through its employees, in various fields, including logistical support, business policy,
business development, assistance in raising capital and financing, accounting and legal
aspects, and the service of employees of Alony Hetz as directors in the Company
(hereinafter – the “Management Services”). The management services and the
consideration in respect thereof are regulated by a management agreement with Alony
Hetz. For additional information see Regulation 22 of Chapter D of the report –
Additional Information and Note 15A of Chapter C – the financial statements.
The Company has no material dependency on any particular employee.
12.2 Employee stock option plan
The Company views the granting of equity compensation, which is long-term
compensation, as being in line with the goals of the Company and such equity
compensation generates identification of interests between the employee and the success
of the Company. In addition, granting compensation on the basis of options does not
involve an expenditure of cash on the part of the Company.
As of the date of approval of the financial statements, the Company has three stock
option plans under which it granted or can grant options to employees and officers of
the Company to purchase shares of the Company, pursuant to the provisions of article
102 of the Income Tax Ordinance (New Version) (hereinafter – “Article 102”):
(i) The first and second plans: Pursuant to the terms of the plan and except if the
board of directors of the Company decides otherwise, options that are granted under
the plan will be granted on a four-year basis and will be subject to a four-year vesting
period. 50% of the quantity of options will vest at the end of the two-year period
following the date of the decision of the board of directors to allot the options
(hereinafter – the “Decision Date”), 25% will vest at the end of the three-year period
following the decision date and the balance of 25% of the options will vest at the end
of the fourth year following the decision date. The options will expire at the end of
the five-year period following the decision date. The exercise price will be in
accordance with the decision of the board of directors.
Commencing from January 1, 2014, the Company has not allotted any additional
options under the first and second plans.
(ii) The third plan: Pursuant to the terms of the plan and except if the board of directors
of the Company decides otherwise, options that are granted under the plan will be
subject to a two-year vesting period and are exercisable during the third year following
the allotment of the options. The exercise price will be at the higher of the following:

(a) The weighted average of the share prices of the Company on the stock exchange
during the 30-trading day period ended on the day before the decision was passed
by the board of directors to grant the option warrants.
(b) 8% above the share price, at the end of the trading day on the exchange that
preceded the date on which the board of directors decided to grant the option
warrants.
The following is a breakdown of the option warrants allotted to the employees of the
Company, pursuant to the option plans (including subsequent to the balance sheet date,
including allotments to the CEO of the Company and the CFO.
Option plan

Decision date
regarding
allotment

Number of
offerees

Quantity of
allotted
options

Exercise price

First plan, total of
875,000 options
Second plan, total of
10,000,000 options

January 2011

1

875,000

0.01

December
2011
March 2013
June 2013
March 2014

6

5,480,000

Third plan, total of
10,000,000 options

4
2
8

2,350,000
1,320,000
1,717,000

Last exercise
date (as of the
date the report
was issued)
Dec. 13, 2014
Nov. 13, 2016

1.55
2.684

Mar. 9, 2018
May 12, 2018
Mar. 12, 2017

For more information regarding the granting of option warrants to employees and
officers of the Company, including subsequent to the balance sheet date, see Note 16 of
Chapter C of the report – the financial statements and Regulation 21 of Part D of the
report – Additional Information.
12.3 Officers and senior management employees
The chairman of the board, the CEO, CFO and internal auditor are officers of the
Company
The chairman of the board renders his services to the Company as part of a range of
services rendered to the Company pursuant to a management agreement signed between
the Company and Alony Hetz, the controlling shareholder, which also regulates the
consideration in respect of the abovementioned services. He does not receive additional
compensation in respect of his services to the board of directors.
Subsequent to the balance sheet date, the CFO, Nodary Zizov, gave notice of his
resignation from the Company following the release of the financial statements. The
Company thanks Mr. Zizov for his contribution to and investment in the Company and
its success, and wishes him success is his future endeavors.
For additional information regarding the major provisions of the employment contract
of the CEO and the CFO, and regarding the decisions pertaining to the annual
remuneration and option warrants granted to them, see Regulation 21 of the Additional
Information Report and Note 15I of Chapter C of the Report – the financial statements.
For information pertaining to the internal auditor of the Company (a senior officer of
the entity), see section 8.6 of Part B of the Report – the Report of the Board of Directors.
13. Raw materials and suppliers

As of the date of the report, the Company has not committed to specific purchases from any
suppliers. In respect of the Neot Hovav project, the construction of which commenced at the
beginning of 2014, the Group entered into an agreement with a chief contractor to construct
the plant, and as part of the agreements with him, the chief contractor will be responsible for
the overall project (including the supply and installation of panels). Please note that the
Company undertook to construct the substation of the project for the chief contractor and to
supply the relevant raw materials for the construction of the substation. For additional
information regarding the photovoltaic-related raw materials and suppliers, see section 5.1.a
above.
14. Suppliers and product warranty
According to the agreements between the Company and the suppliers of panels it purchased
in the past, the Company is entitled to a warranty of five years on the product, ten years'
warranty for output of at least 90% and output warranty of up to an additional 15 years (after
the aforementioned 10-year period) for output of at least 80%. At present, the Company
receives 10 years for the product in addition to output warranty for 25 years which commences
with a warranty of 97% output in the first year and decreases by 0.7% a year on a linear basis.
The total output warranty after 25 years amounts to 80.2%.
In the event that during the warranty period, the panels do not reach an output of the
percentages set out above, the suppliers undertake to supply to the Company replacement
panels in order to reach the minimum output to which they committed or to pay financial
compensation.
The converter suppliers grant a warranty of between 5 – 10 years on the converters.
Construction and operation services
In respect of the Neot Hovav project, the Company entered into a turnkey agreement with a
construction and operating contractor regarding the building. For additional information, see
section 5.1.b.1 above regarding the agreement and the terms of the warranty in connection
with the aforementioned services.
15. Working capital
As of December 31, 2013, the Company has a working capital surplus of NIS 30,401
thousand, and as of December 31, 2012, the Company has a working capital surplus of
NIS 63,006 thousand.
16. Financing
16.1 General
The Company has to or will have to provide significant equity to finance the construction
of the projects for the production of electricity with which it is involved (in the
photovoltaic field and even more so in the field of wind energy). As a result, the activity
of the Company is expected to be financed by a combination of self-financing and longterm third-party financing in the form of project finance, and is based on a commitment
of the Israel Electric Corporation to purchase the electricity produced from the relevant
systems for a period of twenty years.

As of the date of the report, the Company's activity is financed by the funds received in
May 2011 as part of an issuance of equity and the realization of Series 1 option warrants
in April 2013.
In the opinion of the Company, in the event that it obtains additional licenses to set up
photovoltaic systems or if it enters into additional transactions of significant amounts in
the renewable energy field, it will have to recruit additional financing or equity, beyond
the amounts already located in its coffers.
At the end of May 2013, the Company issued a shelf prospectus that varies the
fundraising abilities of the Company to the extent it will need such fundraising in order
to finance its activities.
16.2 Reportable credit
As of the date of the report, the Company is party to two financing agreements with
third parties in the form of project finance and on a non-recourse basis. The agreements
are secured by the facilities owned by the Company (directly or indirectly), as described
in the following table7:

Borrowing
entity

Energix Neot
Hovav Ltd.

Energix
Projects 1,
Limited
Partnership

7
8

9

Lender

Foreign
bank

Banking
institution

Currenc
y

Euro

NIS

Amount of
original loan
/ framework

Balance of loan
– December 31,
2013

NIS millions

NIS millions

90

79

Amortization
table

Contractual
conditions

Note in
financi
stateme

92808,

Construction period –
Monthly Euribor +4%
Operating period –
Euribor + 4% + currency
SWAP

See
paragraph a
below

See no
12A(4

9280,0

A spread of 3.4% over the
government bond series
with similar yield to
maturity but not less than
4.6% linked to the Index

See
paragraph a
below

See no
12A(3

Date of final
settlement

Rate of annual interest

%

-

Up to 9 years from
the date financing
was furnished
(unless it is replaced
before then by
alternative
financing

9-

Semi-annual
payments over a
16-year period
based on a ???
amortization table

8

Regarding pledges and collateral granted to secure the loans described in the table, see Note 20C of
Chapter C of the report – the financial statements.
See Note 12A(4) of Chapter C of the Report – the financial statements, for information pertaining to
the negotiations in respect of the signing of a financing agreement in connection with the Neot Hovav
Project, in an amount of between NIS 314 – 360 million to be furnished proximate to the connecting
of the project to the electricity grid, which will replace the existing financing provided by the foreign
bank.
The partnership is entitled to draw the amount of the loan at a number of dates (at its discretion),
dependent on the volume of the facilities transferred to its ownership and pledged to the lender to secure
the repayment of the loan and dependent on its compliance with the terms of the financing transaction.
In February 2014, a loan was furnished in an amount of NIS 19 million out of the total amount of the
credit, against a pledge to secure the loan, placed on 21 small systems for the production of electricity
with a total capacity of 1.05MWp.

a)

As mentioned in Note 12A(4) and 12A(3) of Part C of the Report – the financial
statements, the Company has: (i) a financing agreement of €50 million from a
foreign bank to fund the construction of the Neot Hovav project. The Company
intends on utilizing the credit line of €50 million through a subsidiary, in accordance
with and dependent on the rate of progress of the Neot Hovav project, and subject
to the terms of the financing agreement. Up to the date of approval of the financial
statements, this credit line has not yet been utilized and investments in connection
with the project have been financed from the shareholders' equity of the Company;
and (ii) a financing agreement of NIS 49 million in respect of 29 small and 2 midsized connected systems fully-owned by the Company.

b)

The agreements include financial covenants, which the failure to comply with shall
constitute cause for the immediate repayment of the loans (as of the date of the
report, none of the above credit has been utilized so that a breakdown of the ratios
as of December 31, 2013 is irrelevant). In addition, the credit agreements include
additional common terms that will provide cause for immediate repayment
including regarding, among other things, the following events: (1) a change in
structure and merger; (2) liquidation, receivership and asset realization and Sheriff
Office processes; (3) a change in the control over the Company; (4) cross default;
(5) an irrevocable commitment of the Company not to place a floating charge on
any of its assets in favor of a third party, etc.; (6) damage or loss to the facility; (7)
an impairment in the electricity rate; (8) a regulatory change for the worse; (9) a loss
of linkage to the property as a result of a cancelation of a rental agreement.
Principal financial covenants
Minimum amount of reserve
funds
Minimum ADSCR to debt
Minimum LLCR to debt
Minimum shareholders' equity

NIS
Ratio
Ratio
NIS

Neot Hovav
Greater than 16 million
Greater than 1.075
Greater than 1.075
Higher than the equity
required by the Electricity
Authority (NIS 60 million)

Projects 1
Greater than 6 months debt
service (NIS 7 million)10
Greater than 1.1
Greater than 1.1
Higher than the equity required
by the Electricity Authority
(NIS 6.5 million)

16.3 Credit received in the period between the date of the financial statements and
immediately preceding the date of the report
In February 2014, a loan was granted in an amount of NIS 19 million out of the total
amount of the credit, against a pledge to secure the loan, placed on 21 small systems for
the production of electricity with a total capacity of 1.05MWp. See Note 12A(3) and 22C
of Chapter C of the Report – the financial statements.
16.4 Credit rating
The senior debt of Energix Projects 1, Limited Parttnership, in an amount of NIS 49
million, is rated by Midroog Ltd. (hereinafter – “Midroog”) as A3, stable.

10

Excluding reserve funds for the replacement of equipment to be filled within 8 years and a reserve fund
to secure IEC payments in an amount equal to 2 months' receipts.

Factors that may impair the rating:
1.

A significant and continuous erosion in the coverage ratios and in the fortitude of
the producers.

2.

A material change in ownership of the roofs on which the facilities are located, a
lowering of the rating of Amot Investments or a change in the owners of the
properties.

3.

An impairment in the financial position of Energix in a manner that could impair
its ability to operate the facilities.

4.

An impairment in the financial position of IEC and/or a regulatory change in the
electricity regime that could have an impact on the free flow of the facilities.

16.5 The following is a summary of information regarding the negotiations the
Company is conducting in connection with additional financing agreements:
16.5.a As of the date of approval of the financial statements, the Company is conducting
negotiations to sign a financing agreement in connection with the Neot Hovav
project, in an amount of between NIS 314 – 360 million, to be furnished
proximate to the date the project is connected to the electricity grid. The new
financing will replace the existing financing of the foreign bank in an amount of
up to €50 million, as described above. See Note 12A(4) of Chapter C of the Report
– the financial statements for additional information pertaining to the financing
transactions and the terms thereof, as well as pertaining to the negotiations to sign
the new financing agreement.
16.5.b In addition to the financing agreements described above, the Company intends
on taking steps to recruit financing for the Granot Amot Energy Limited
Partnership (in which the Company holds 50% of the rights) in an amount of NIS
40 million. This financing will take a similar form as the financing transaction for
the connected systems, against the pledging of the four mid-sized systems owned
by the partnership.
17. Taxation
17.1 Corporate taxes
For information, see Note 18 of Chapter C of the report – the financial statements.
17.2 Property taxes
As a rule, the activity of the Company does not involve the purchase or sale of real estate
assets, rather entering into agreements for the rental of real estate for periods of not
more than 24 years and 11 months, for purposes of operating electricity production
facilities. The Company may be exposed to lawsuits initiated by the tax authorities and/or
by local councils regarding the payment of levies, rates and miscellaneous taxes.
See Note 20A of Chapter C of the report – the financial statements, for information
pertaining to the demand for payment of a betterment levy received from the Haifa
Regional Planning and Construction Council in connection with property located in the
Caesarea Industrial Park on which the Company constructed an electricity producing

facility and pertaining to the proceedings initiated by the Company to cancel the entire
amount of the levy.
18. Environmental risks and risk management
As of the date of the report and the date of approval of the financial statements and subject
to the stipulations set out below, the Company is not aware of any environmental risks that
have or may have a material impact on the Company or of any laws in connection with
environmental risks that may have material consequences on the Company and its activity.
In connection with the above, please note that, on March 1, 2014, the Law for the
Environmental Treatment of Electrical and Electronic Equipment and Batteries – 2012 went
into effect. Among other things, the law prescribed various requirements of the owners of
electronic equipment and batteries, including the removal and handling of electronic waste.
As of the date of approval of the financial statements, the law has no material effect on the
present activity of the Company. However, the law may have an effect in the future, should
the systems and their components meet the definition of "electronic waste" pursuant to the
provisions of the law.
The Company acts in accordance with all relevant laws in order to reduce environmental risks
and, to the best of its knowledge, it has complied with all the environmental standards required
to obtain the permits to operate the Company's facilities in Israel.
Company policy pertaining to environmental risk management is a part of its overall risk
management policy and it focuses on actions that reduce to the minimum possible negative
impacts on the operations of the Group. Risk management is primarily performed by the
CEO of the Company by regularly monitoring regulatory developments regarding the
operations of the Company, including in the area of environmental risks. As part of the
Group's overall risk management, the board of directors of the Company decided that the
CEO of the Company should report on a regular basis to the chairman of the board of
directors regarding the degree of the existing exposure.
In connection with the above, please note that the large system being set up by the Company
in the Neot Hovav Regional Council is located on land that in the past was polluted and that
underwent a process of rehabilitation, the completion of which was approved and monitored
by the Ministry of Environmental Quality. As part of the agreements between the Company
and the Neot Hovav Eco-Industrial Council (hereinafter – the “Council”), the council
confirmed that the Company would bear no liability in connection with the system's land
which is leased from the Council, neither direct nor indirect, in all matters dealing with the
aspects of environmental hazards that do not result from acts of commission or omission by
the Company which are performed in breach of the rental agreement between the Company
(through a wholly-owned subsidiary) and the Council.
As of the date of the report, the Company is not a party to any legal proceedings, including a
material legal or administrative proceeding connected to environmental quality to which the
Company or one of its senior officers is a party. In addition, the Company was not a party to
any such proceeding in the year that preceded the date of this report. As of the date of the
report, no amounts were awarded, no provisions were recognized in the financial statements
and there were no other environmental costs that applied to the Company.
19. Restrictions and supervision over the entity

The Concentration Law
On December 11, 2013, the Law for the Advancement of Competition and the Reduction of
Concentration – 2013 (hereinafter in this section – the “Concentration Law” or the “Law”)
was published in the Official Gazette.
The Concentration Law is divided into three main chapters:
Chapter B of the Concentration Law – deals with restrictions on the allotment of rights in
crucial infrastructures and in government companies and is designed to reduce the overall
market concentration, by reducing the granting of licenses and franchises to entities that
already have a dominant business presence.
Chapter C of the Concentration Law – deals with restrictions on the activity of business
groups structured in the form of a pyramid, including also legislative amendments to the
Companies Law – 1999 (the "Companies Law") and other pieces of legislation the
applicability of which is not limited solely to pyramidal structures.
Chapter D of the Concentration Law – deals with the separation between the control over
significant real properties and the control over significant financial assets.
Regarding direct ramifications of the Concentration Law on the Group – the Law prescribes
that the Committee for the Reduction of Concentration should set down and issue a list of
the significant real entities, to include real entities that meet one of a number of criteria. One
of the criteria that may prove to be relevant to Alony Hetz, the controlling shareholder in the
Company, is that effective credit of the entity exceeds NIS 6 billion. Regarding this matter,
the effective credit of the entity shall be calculated as its total effective credit, the total effective
credit of the controlling shareholder of the entity and of all of the real entities under its
control, and under the control of the controlling interest in it. If Alony Hetz meets the
definition of a significant real entity, certain provisions shall apply to the Company. Of those
provisions, the following could have an impact on the activity of the Company:
Article 5 of the Concentration Law places certain restrictions regarding the factors that have
to be taken into consideration by an authority that grants a permit in respect of the allotment
of a right to a concentrated factor in the area of a crucial infrastructure. This may have an
impact on the Company in the event of a request for a production permit involving the
construction and operation of a power plant to produce electricity with a capacity that exceeds
175 MW that connects to the electricity grid (article 6.4 of the Addendum to the
Concentration Law)11.
Please note that this capacity is high. For example, the Company's Neot Hovav project,
considered to be a large project, has a capacity of 37.5MWp only.
Pursuant to article 21 of the Concentration Law, a second-tier company is prohibited from
controlling a company of a different tier. The upshot of this is that the Company cannot
control a reporting entity (this provision is in effect since January 10, 2014).
Credit restrictions – Article 26 of the Concentration Law stipulates that the Finance Minister
or anyone he authorizes in this matter, and the Governor of the Bank of Israel or anyone he
11

The applicability of this provision (subject to exceptions) is a year following the publicizing of the
Concentration Law.

authorizes in this matter, shall set out provisions regarding restrictions on the aggregate credit
to be granted to a business entity or group by financial entities, taking into consideration,
among other things, the debt of each entity or the total debt of the business group, as
applicable. In this section, a "business group" means the controlling shareholder and the
companies under its control, a "financial entity" means an institutional entity, banking
institution, an auxiliary entity and a clearing entity.
Please note that the Concentration Law stipulates that initial provisions regarding credit
restrictions shall be set out within a year after the publicizing of the law (with a possible
extension for one additional year), i.e., until December 11, 2014, before such extension.
For information pertaining to additional restrictions and supervision over the entity, see
Restrictions and Supervision over the Entity in the area of activity, as set out in section 5.9
above and Environmental Risks and the Management thereof in section 18 above.
20. Material agreements
The following is a brief description of material agreements, not in the normal course of
business, to which the Company is party:
A.

Management agreement with Alony Hetz – for details, see Regulation 22 in Part D
– Additional Details and Note 15A of Chapter C of the report – the financial statements.

B.

Rental agreements with third parties regarding roofs and properties – see Notes
12A(7) and 15B of Chapter C of the report – the financial statements.

C.

Agreements pertaining to the Neot Hovav Project – the Company entered into an
agreement as part of the agreements needed for purposes of purchasing and construction
of the photovoltaic project in Neot Hovav, with a capacity of 37.5 MW. For information
pertaining to the agreements and their major terms, see Note 12A(4) of Chapter C of the
report – the financial statements.

D. The ARN Project – for information pertaining to the entering of the Company into an
agreement regarding the investment in a company holding rights for the development of
a wind project with a capacity of 155MW, see Note 12B(1) of Chapter C of the report –
the financial statements.
E. Financing agreement – for information regarding an agreement pertaining to financing
from an institutional entity, to which the Company is party, in an amount of up to NIS
49 million, see Note 12A(3) of Chapter C of the report – the financial statements.
21. Cooperative agreements
A.

12

Agreement with Granot (photovoltaic) – the Company has a cooperative agreement
with Granot Cooperative, Central Agricultural Cooperative Society Ltd.12 to set up
photovoltaic systems in properties belonging to various Kibbutzim, as part of which the
parties set up a limited partnership, Granot Amot Energy, Limited Partnership
(hereinafter – “Granot Energy”), an entity that constructs and maintains ownership of
systems that were constructed as part of the cooperative agreement. According to the

Granot is an agricultural – industrial concern that includes 20 plants and entities that belong to 42
Kibbutzim and Moshavim, with an aggregate annual turnover of more than NIS 3 billion.

agreements between the parties, the ownership over the Granot Energy assets and the
financing of its expenses will be equally shared between the parties. It was further agreed
that the Company is the one that will manage and supervise the construction and
operation of the systems in return for 6% of the construction costs of the facility. As of
the date of approval of the financial statements, Granot Energy has four systems
connected to the electricity grid, with a total capacity of 2.8MWp (the share of the
Company in which is 1.4MWp). For additional information on the systems set up under
the cooperative activities with Granot, see Note 12A(2) of Chapter C of the report – the
financial statements.
B.

Agreements with entrepreneurs to promote projects in the wind field in Israel –
see Note 12C(1) of Chapter C of the report – the financial statements.

C.

A group of agreements for the initiation, development and construction of two
wind farms in Poland (one with a capacity of up to 60MW and the second with a
capacity of up to 40MW) which are in the advanced stages of licensing, see Note 12C(b)
of Chapter C of the report – the financial statements.

22. Legal proceedings
As of the date of the report and as of the date of approval of the financial statements, the
Company is not a party to legal proceedings, except for the following:
22.1 Demand for payment of a betterment levy
For information pertaining to the legal proceedings that the Company is conducting in
connection with a demand it received regarding the payment of a betterment levy in an
amount of NIS 1.2 million in respect of the construction of photovoltaic facilities on a
structure in the Caesarea industrial park, see Note 20 of Chapter C of the report – the
financial statements.
22.2 The Multi-Green suit relating to the ARN transaction
A) On September 2, 2012, Multi Green (2010) Ltd. (hereinafter – “Multi Green”) filed
suit in the Tel Aviv District Court for declarative relief against the Company,
demanding that the court enforce the Memorandum of Principles signed between
the parties in connection with an investment transaction regarding a wind project
in which the Company is involved (hereinafter – the “Memorandum of
Principles”). The suit was erased and as of the date of the report, there is a pending
petition of appeal filed by the Company, requesting that the suit be rejected instead
of being erased.
B)

On June 6, 2013, Multi Green filed an additional suit against the Company with the
Tel Aviv District Court (the "2013 suit"). The 2013 Suit is based primarily on causes
and reliefs that are identical to those of the suit that was erased. Subsequent to the
balance sheet date, on March 3, 2014, Multi Green filed a notification with the court
in which it requests that the suit be erased.

22.3 Exchanges of legal letters in connection with a wind project in the Galilee
(Greengo)

Subsequent to the balance sheet date, the Company received letters in which Greengo
Environmental Consulting Ltd. (hereinafter – “Greengo”) raised claims against the
Company in connection with wind energy-related projects being developed by the
Company in the Galilee. The Company is of the opinion that Greengo's claims are
baseless and is currently weighing its actions on this issue, including in connection with
the filing of a suit against Greengo in respect of damages caused to the Company in
connection with the wind project.
22.4 The Zahal Harel (in receivership) Loan
The Company is involved in legal proceedings against Zahal Harel in connection with a
loan that it furnished to Wind Energies Holdings Ltd. and which was guaranteed by
Zahal Harel. The Company provided for the full amount of the loan as a doubtful debt,
in its 2012 financial statements. As part of the repayment steps taken by the Company
to collect the debt, bankruptcy proceedings were initiated against Zahal Harel and a
receiver was appointed in respect of the shares of Clean Wind Energies Ltd., owned by
Wind Energies Holdings Ltd.
23. Objectives and business strategy
The Company set a goal for itself, to be an independent power producer (IPP) that initiates,
develops and holds long-term ownership of projects in the field of renewable energy. As a
strategy, the Company decided to specialize in the production of electricity from photovoltaic
and wind energies, in Israel and abroad. As of the date of approval of the report, the Company
is active in Israel in the fields of photovoltaic energy and wind energy and is active in the field
of wind energy in Poland. Concurrently, as part of its ongoing activity, the Company assesses
additional investment channels in these areas of operations in Israel and abroad, and also
periodically assesses additional areas of activity in the field of renewable energy, by creating
strategic cooperative arrangements and merger and acquisition transactions.
This information is forward-looking information as that term is defined in article 32A of the
Securities Law and, as such, the fruition of such information is uncertain and is not under the
control of the Company.
24. Forecasted developments for the coming year
The Company expects that in the coming year, it will continue to develop its business, to
identify opportunities for the construction of facilities in Israel and abroad, in the photovoltaic
and wind energy fields.
The Neot Hovav Project is the flagship project of the Company, the construction of which
commenced at the beginning of 2014. The Company expects its construction to be completed
by the end of 2014 and that the project will be connected to the electricity grid (after all of
the required testing has been performed and a permanent license has been obtained) in the
first half of 2015. From that date and thereafter, for a period of 20 years, annual revenues
from sales of electricity are expected to amount to NIS 42 million. 2014 will be characterized
by a significant increase in the volume of financing to be undertaken by the Company (due to
the financing of the Neot Hovav Project in an amount of €50 million and the financing of the
connected systems of the Company and a limited partnership in a total additional amount of
NIS 70 million (the share of the Company).

The Company is currently assessing and will continue to assess during the coming year the
ability to advance projects as part of the quotas of the Electricity Authority and the Military
Technical Officer – Electricity, and will also assess the feasibility of joining projects as part of
the planned new arrangements. The Company also intends on assessing the feasibility of
initiating photovoltaic systems as part of future arrangements. In addition, the Company will
continue advancing the initiation of projects in the wind energy field in Israel (in the opinion
of the Company, the development of such projects is scheduled to take three to four years)
and will continue with the initiation and purchase of projects in advanced stages of initiation
(pre-construction) in the wind energy field in Poland and with the purchase of projects in the
photovoltaic and wind energy fields in Israel.
The information presented in the section above is forward-looking information. The
Company has no control in connection with the new business offers and initiatives which it
may be offered to join. Therefore, there is no certainty that the expectation for the
development of the Company in the coming year, as presented in this section, will reach
fruition. In addition, there is no certainty regarding the potential for the Company's growth
and for its ability to compete against its competitors. Its estimates and assessments, as
presented above are considered to be forward-looking information which is not under the
control of the Company and which is not certain. In addition, Company Management is
unable to estimate the impact of the events presented in this section on the future operations
of the Group. The degree of impact of these events on the Company, if at all, is dependent
on the intensity of the events, their scope, duration and the ability of the Company to contend
with them in the future.
The information presented above is forward-looking information as the term is
defined in article 32A of the Securities Law and, as such its fruition is uncertain and
is not under the control of the Company.
25. Extraordinary changes in the business affairs of the Company
The Company is unaware of any extraordinary changes in its business affairs, including during
the normal course of business, in the period between the date of the financial statements and
the date of release of the report. For information pertaining to subsequent events (after the
date of the report), see Note 22 of Chapter C of the report – the financial statements.
26. An event or matter that deviates from the ordinary business of the Company
To the best of the Company's knowledge, there has been no event or matter that was not
discussed in sections 5 through 26 of the report that deviates from the ordinary course of
business of the Company due to its quality, scope or possible outcome, which has or may
have a material impact on the Company.

27. Risk factors
27.1 Non-receipt of licenses or quotas
A failure to obtain licenses for the production of photovoltaic or wind energy by the
Company and/or the exhausting of quotas for the purchase of photovoltaic or wind
energy set by the Electricity Authority will affect the goals and business strategy of the
Company regarding the performance of additional investments in the photovoltaic and
wind fields in Israel.
27.2 Dependency on the receipt of permits and approvals
For purposes of constructing the photovoltaic facilities and the wind facilities, it is
necessary to perform earth work and to obtain all of the relevant permits and approvals
from the various authorities, such as, among other things, local councils and planning
and construction committees, the IDF, the Nature Reserve Authority, and from the
owners of rights in the properties. There is no certainty that all of the permits and
approvals will indeed be forthcoming or that they will be granted in accordance with the
planned timetable for each project. In addition, the aforementioned permits may be
contingent upon various conditions, a fact that may cause a delay in schedules and may
make proceedings more expensive, thereby turning the project into an economically
unfeasible affair.
27.3 Hours of sunlight and climatic changes
The output of the Company's systems is a direct result of the intensity of the radiation
of the sun (the level of radiation and the hours of sunlight), conditions relating to
temperature, wind, atmospheric pressure and additional climatic parameters. Therefore,
the output of the systems varies on the basis of climatic changes.
27.4 A shortage of sources of funding or difficulties in obtaining financing
A slowdown in global economic activity may affect the ability of the Company to recruit
the financing necessary for the existing and future projects and may harm the Company.
Since expansion of Company activity is dependent upon obtaining bank financing and
recruiting funds from other sources, a slowdown in financial markets may reduce the
sources of financing, may cause an increase in the costs of project financing, thereby
impairing the feasibility of the projects and Company profitability. This also holds true
for the geo-political situation in Israel and for political, economic and security changes
in Israel, which may impact the Company's ability to raise funds and construct new
projects. In a direct manner, the lack of ability to obtain financing for the systems being
set up, may place the ability of the Company to obtain contingent licenses in peril due to
non-compliance with the terms of the financial closing, and may significantly reduce the
economic feasibility of constructing facilities. In addition, the Company may be subject
to credit restrictions of the financing entities, either by virtue of the provisions of the
Commissioner of Banks regarding industry-wide restrictions or the restrictions of a single
borrower or borrower group.
27.5 Changes in the rates of kilowatts per hour sold to the IEC
The rates of kilowatts per hour sold to the IEC are set by the Electricity Authority. The
Electricity Authority takes steps to reduce the feed-in tariffs as a result of a decrease in

equipment prices. Since there is no assurance that the costs of the facilities will also
decrease at an identical rate or that an improvement in the capacity of the facilities –
deriving from research and development and technological improvements – will match
the pace, then to the extent that these reductions are not made in an educated manner
and in a manner that suits the levels of price reductions, the Company will be exposed
to a decrease in the level of economic feasibility of the photovoltaic and wind energy
projects being developed by the Company. Please note, however, that in relation to the
rates of revenues from electricity from systems connected to the electrical grid or that
have already received approval of permanent rates, in the opinion of the Company there
is a low risk that a retroactive change in them will be made.
27.6 The proper functioning of the facilities, natural disasters in Israel
Company revenues are dependent on the proper functioning of the Company's
photovoltaic facilities and the production of the minimum output from the facilities. In
addition, the Company may be exposed to the risk of intentional damage, theft, the
existence of unexploded shells in the areas in which the facilities are scheduled to be
constructed and to natural disasters in the areas surrounding the facilities. All of these
may cause a delay in the planned timetables of the projects and/or result in additional
costs incurred in the handling or removal of such problems.
27.7 Environmental quality aspects
The activity of the Company may involve various environmental risks. For additional
information, see section 18 above.
27.8 Financial risks
The Company has deposits and loans that bear interest at variable interest rates and that
are exposed to interest rate risks in respect of cash flows. In addition, the Company has
a backlog of revenues from electricity on the basis of the rate that is updated once a year,
in accordance with the Consumer Price Index. On the other hand, most of the
commitments of the Company with the lessors of properties for the projects, the
payment of rental fees, are linked to the Consumer Price Index. Therefore, the Company
is exposed to fluctuations in the Consumer Price Index and, accordingly, the future cash
flows of the Company are exposed to changes in the Consumer Price Index. In addition,
according to the financing agreements to which the Company is party, the Company
must meet financial covenants and various liabilities which are not necessarily under its
control. In the aforementioned event, the funding parties may demand immediate
repayment of the entire amount of the financing or may restrict the distribution of excess
cash to the Company from the project.
27.9 Changes in the Israeli regulatory environment
As set out in detail in section 5.9.a above, the activity of the Company is subject to Israeli
regulation. The revenues of the Group from this activity are exposed to possible
regulatory changes in connection with, among other things, the rates set for the sale of
electricity to the IEC and to various conditions the Company must meet in order to
obtain the licenses need for the construction of renewable energy facilities.

27.10 Changes in the Polish regulatory environment
As set out in details in section 5.9.f above, the activity of the Company in Poland is
subject to Polish regulation and to the Polish Renewable Energy Law that is expected to
change during 2014. The future revenues (if any) of the Group from this activity are
exposed to possible changes in the regulatory environment in connection with, among
other things, tariff restrictions and guarantees that may be set for the electricity sold from
the wind facilities and various conditions with which the Company must comply in order
to obtain the rates from the sale of electricity. In addition, the regulatory uncertainty can
lead to extraordinary changes in the prices of the green certificates, the nature of the
agreements for the sale of electricity, the ability to finance the projects and the prices of
electricity, thereby possibly influencing the expected certainty of the Company’s
revenues and of the profitability of the projects in the Polish wind energy field.
27.11 Changes in the exchange rate of the NIS
Until the date of purchase of the systems (both photovoltaic and wind energy systems),
the Company's cash flows are exposed to changes in the exchange rate of the NIS against
foreign currencies, since the lion's share of the equipment purchases from the suppliers
of the Company are paid for in foreign currency. Therefore, fluctuations in the exchange
rate may impact the ability of the Company to maintain a volume of assets that is
sufficient to meet all of its liabilities.
After the systems are set up in Israel (at present, only in the photovoltaic field), the cash
flows of the Company are received in NIS. Please note that as the Company starts setting
up wind systems in Poland, the cash flows of the Company will be exposed to changes
in the exchange rate of the NIS versus the Polish zloty.
The Company may be exposed to a currency risk as a result of changes in the exchange
rate of the euro against the NIS, in view of the fact that the financing of the Neot Hovav
project is euro-denominated. The Company took a number of steps to reduce the
currency risk (a hedging mechanism against the construction contractor). Due to the fact
that after the project is connected, the Group intends on refinancing from an Israeli
financer in NIS (see Note 21A(4) of Chapter C of the report – the financial statements),
after each withdrawal from the total amount of the euro financing from the foreign bank,
the Company intends on entering into a hedging transaction in respect of the euro rate
from the date of the withdrawal until the expected date of settlement of the loan (the
date of the connection and the refinancing).
27.12 Exposure regarding property
The Israel Land Authority set out restrictive guidelines regarding the setting up of landbased photovoltaic facilities, including setting high appraisals in respect of discounting
fees, without granting regional discounts. These decisions impact the level of feasibility
and profitability of the land projects that the Company has been advancing in Israel, and
the Company has been taking steps to reduce the impact of these decisions on the
projects it is developing.

27.13 Increase in the prices of inputs
The increase in the price of inputs (including the prices of silicon or wind turbine
components) may have an impact on the increase in the price of raw material used in the
production of photovoltaic systems or wind turbines and, as a direct result, on the price
at which the Company will purchase its systems from manufacturers and suppliers. Any
such change may impact the future cash flows of the Company and it may also have an
impact on the economic feasibility of the purchase and construction of systems or their
components.
The following table presents the risks factors described above and the impact thereof on the results
of operations of the Company, based on the assessments of Company Management:
The degree of impact of the risk factor on operations
High

Medium

Low

Macroeconomic risk factors
Change in interest

X
X

Consumer Price Index
Increase in price of inputs

X

Change in exchange rate of the NIS

X

Financial exposure

X

Industry-wide risk factors:
Non-receipt of licenses or quotas

X

Dependency on approvals and permits

X

Hours of sunlight and changes in climate

X

Changes in the rate of kilowatts per hour sold to IEC

X

Lack of ability to obtain financing to construct projects

X

Proper functioning of facilities and natural disasters in Israel
Changes in the regulatory environment in Israel and in Poland

X
X

Exposure regarding property

X

Environmental quality

X

28. Information pertaining to subsidiaries and material affiliated companies
28.1 Investments in subsidiaries and in affiliated companies as of December 31, 2013
For information pertaining to investments in subsidiaries and affiliated companies, see
Regulation 11 of Chapter D – Additional Information.
28.2 Revenues of subsidiaries and affiliated companies and revenues of the entity
therefrom in 2013 (NIS'000)
For information on investments in subsidiaries and affiliated companies, see Regulation
13 of Chapter D – Additional Information.

Assa Levinger – CEO

Natan Hetz –
Chairman of the Board
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December 31

Note

2013

2012

NIS in thousands

NIS in thousands

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

4a

29,352

47,914

Pledged deposit

4b

3,006

-

Deposits and marketable securities

4c

-

29,124

Trade receivables

5

1,146

991

Receivables and debit balances

6

3,072

1,100

36,576

79,129

7

40,563

43,084

Systems under construction

7a

5,310

3,032

Receivables in respect of project in progress

7b

105,781

-

Fixed assets

7

958

487

Investment in equity-accounted investees

8

16,967

25,481

162

64

3,153

2,583

172,894

74,731

209,470

153,860

Total current assets
Non-current assets
Connected electricity generation systems

Other receivables
Deferred taxes, net

18

Total non-current assets
Total assets
Liabilities and equity
Current liabilities
Trade payables

9

385

1,116

Payables and credit balances

10

5,530

15,010

5,915

16,126

260

-

21,357

-

21,617

-

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Liability for employee severance benefits, net
Other long-term liabilities

11

Total non-current liabilities
Equity
Share capital

13

1,677

1,364

Capital reserves

190,894

144,144

Accumulated loss

(10,523)

(7,750)

Total equity attributable to the owners of the Company

182,048

137,758

Non-controlling interests

(110)

(24)

Total equity

181,938

137,734

209,470

153,860

Total liabilities and equity

Nathan Hetz
Asa Levinger
Itzhak Nodary Zizov

Chairman of the Board of Directors
CEO
CFO

March 12, 2014
The notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part thereof.
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Consolidated Statements of Income
Year ended December 31,

Note

2013
NIS in
thousands

2012
NIS in
thousands

2011
NIS in
thousands

Revenues
Revenues from the sale of electricity

14a

8,982

4,737

3,494

Other revenues, net

14b

1,739

509

450

10,721

5,246

3,944

Expenses
Rental of rooftops

14c

898

473

349

Maintenance of systems

14d

350

229

133

Payroll and related expenses

14e

6,524

4,094

2,866

Initiation expenses

14g

3,017

(*) 359

-

Administrative, headquarters and other

14f

3,419

(*) 2,605

2,175

14,208

7,760

5,523

(3,487)

(2,514)

(1,579)

592

(4,644)

-

(2,793)

(3,442)

(1,007)

(5,688)

(10,600)

(2,586)

Profit before financing, taxes, depreciation
and amortization
Decrease (increase) in impairment provisions
and losses
Depreciation and amortization

12b(2)b
7

Loss before financing and taxes
Financing income

14i

2,274

3,233

2,357

Financing expenses

14h

(580)

(67)

(780)

Financing income, net

1,694

3,166

1,577

Loss after financing, net

(3,994)

(7,434)

(1,009)

(514)

(1,142)

(93)

580

2,583

-

(3,928)

(5,993)

(1,102)

(4,026)

(5,947)

(1,102)

98

(46)

-

(0.025)

(0.044)

(0.011)

159,676,359

136,400,190

96,365,743

Company’s share in the results of equityaccounted investees
Taxes on income

8b
18

Loss for the year

Loss for the period attributable to the
owners of the Company
Income (loss) for the period attributable to
non-controlling interests

Basic and diluted loss per share (NIS)
Weighted average share capital used to
compute the basic and diluted loss per
share

17
17

(*) Reclassified -see note 2(i)
The notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part thereof.
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
Year ended December 31
2013
NIS in
thousands

2012
NIS in
thousands

2011
NIS in
thousands

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income items that will
be transferred to profit or loss
Foreign currency translation differences for
foreign operation

(3,928)

(5,993)

(1,102)

38

-

-

Total comprehensive income for the year

(3,890)

(5,993)

(1,102)

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company

(3,988)

(5,947)

(1,102)

Non-controlling interests

98

(46)

-

Total comprehensive income for the year

(3,890)

(5,993)

(1,102)

The notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part thereof.
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity (Capital Deficiency)

Year ended December 31, 2013

Share
capital
Balance as at January 1, 2013
Profit (loss) for the year
Other comprehensive income for
the year
Exercise of share options
Derecognition of non-controlling
interests due to sale of subsidiary
Share-based payment
Balance as at December 31, 2013

1,364
-

Capital
reserves

Translation
reserve from
foreign
operation

144,144
-

38

Total equity
attributable to
Accumulated
the owners of
loss
the Company
NIS in thousands
(7,750)
137,758
(4,026)
(4,026)
-

38

Noncontrolling
interests
(24)
98
-

Total equity
137,734
(3,928)
38

313

46,712

-

-

47,025

-

47,025

1,677

190,856

38

1,253
(10,523)

1,253
182,048

(184)
(110)

(184)
1,253
181,938

Year ended December 31, 2012

Share
capital
Balance as at January 1, 2012
Issue of shares to non-controlling
interests in subsidiaries
Loss for the year
Share-based payment
Balance as at December 31, 2012

Capital
reserves

Total equity
attributable to
Accumulated
the owners of
loss
the Company
NIS in thousands

Noncontrolling
interests

Total equity

1,364

144,144

(2,564)

142,944

-

142,944

1,364

144,144

(5,947)
761
(7,750)

(5,947)
761
137,758

22
(46)
(24)

22
(5,993)
761
137,734

Year ended December 31, 2011
Share capital
Balance as at January 1, 2011
Loss for the year
Share-based payment
Issue of share capital
Balance as at December 31, 2011

166
1,198
1,364

Capital
Accumulated
reserves
loss
NIS in thousands
(2,022)
(1,102)
560
144,144
144,144
(2,564)

The notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part thereof.
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(1,856)
(1,102)
560
145,342
142,944

Financial Statements (Convenience Translations of report and financial statements originally issued in Hebrew)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Note

Cash flows - operating activities
Loss for the period
(Income) expenses not involving cash flows
(Schedule A)
Changes in working capital (Schedule B)
Activity related to concession arrangements
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Cash flows - investing activities
Investment in electricity generation systems
Disposal of investment in photovoltaic systems
Withdrawal of (investment in) deposits and
marketable securities, net
Increase in pledged deposit
Decrease in pledged deposit
Investment in equity-accounted investees
Collection of loans to equity-accounted investees
Payment related to acquisition of project
Grant of loans
Interest received
Investment in other fixed assets
Other receivables
Consideration from sale of fixed assets
Consideration from sale of subsidiary, less cash of the
subsidiary (Schedule C)
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows - financing activities
Issue of shares
Capital raising costs
Issue of shares to non-controlling interests in
subsidiaries
Short-term loans received from non-controlling
interests in subsidiaries
Consideration from exercise of share options
Long-term loans received from the former parent
company
Short-term loans received from the former parent
company
Repayment of loans from the former parent company
Interest paid
Net cash provided by financing activities
Change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the
year
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and
cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
(of the Alony Hetz Group)

2h(2)

7 ,7a

4b
4b
8b
12a(4)

7

12b(2)
(b)

13c(2)

Year ended December 31
2013
2012
2011
NIS in
NIS in
NIS in
thousands
thousands
thousands

(3,928)

(5,993)

(1,102)

3,279
(649)

4,538
(1,455)

(5)
(1,107)

(2,978)
(8,232)
(11,859)

286
(1,169)

1,498
391

(6,455)
-

(3,870)
786

(33,507)
3,892

(13,100)
10,100
7,800
(76,154)
1,110
(641)
(127)
19

(3,064)
(26,769)
1,476
(155)
(19)
-

(26,050)
(2,839)
1,142
(413)
(29)
-

19,663
(57,785)

(31,615)

(57,804)

-

-

146,166
(824)

-

22

-

3,910
47,025

12,667
-

-

-

-

12,583

-

-

3,783
(36,537)
(963)

50,935
(18,709)

12,689
(20,095)

124,208
66,795

47,914

68,009

1,214

147
29,352

47,914

68,009
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Note

Schedule - Adjustments required for presenting
cash flows from operating activities
a. (Income) expenses not involving cash flows:
Financing (income) expenses, net
Capital gain

Year ended December 31
2013
2012
2011
NIS in
NIS in
NIS in
thousands
thousands
thousands

(1,257)
-

(2,095)
(180)

(418)
(434)

(592)
14

-

-

1,124
2,793

(547)
8,086

(813)
1,007

514
(570)
1,253
3,279

1,142
2,583
(46)
761
4,538

93
560
(5)

b. Changes in asset and liability items (changes in
working capital):
Change in trade receivables and other receivables

(2,542)

(453)

(871)

Change in trade and other payables

(436)

739

2,369

(2,978)

286

1,498

1,101

1,396

2,810

21,357

-

-

-

-

33,475

14

-

Reversal of impairment on subsidiary that was sold
Capital loss
Revaluation of loans, deposits and marketable
securities
Depreciation, amortization and provisions
Company’s share in the results of equity-accounted
investees
Movement in deferred taxes, net
Share of non-controlling interests in loss
Share-based payment

12b(2)
(b)

7
8b
18
16

Non-cash activity
Investment in electricity generation facilities against
supplier credit and payables
Investment in project against long-term liability
Conversion of long-term loans received from the
former parent company into short-term loans

11

Additional information
-

Taxes paid
c. Sale of formerly consolidated subsidiary
Cash and cash equivalents

134

-

-

Deposits and marketable securities

27,623

-

-

Receivables and debit balances

649

-

-

Systems under construction

5,234

-

-

Trade payables

(674)

-

-

Payables and credit balances

(13,577)

-

-

Non-controlling interests

(184)

-

-

Reversal of impairment on subsidiary that was sold

592

-

-

Total cash received

19,797

-

-

Less cash of the subsidiary
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary, less cash of the
subsidiary

(134)

-

-

19,663

-

-

The notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part thereof.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Note 1 - General
a.
General description of the Company and its activity
The Company is a public company whose securities are listed for trade on the Tel Aviv Stock
Exchange since May 2011. The Company is a controlled subsidiary of Alony Hetz Properties and
Investments Ltd. (hereinafter: “Alony Hetz”) and as at the date of this report the Company
operates in the field of renewable energies.
The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at December 31, 2013 comprise those
of the Company, the companies and partnerships it controls and the Group’s rights in an equityaccounted joint venture.
The Group, as defined in section c. below, operates in two operating segments: one - initiation,
development, planning and construction of projects for the generation of electricity using
photovoltaic solar systems that it owns in Israel and the sale of the electricity that it produces to
the Israel Electric Corporation (“IEC”) (hereinafter: “the photovoltaic field”) and the second initiation, development and planning the construction of projects for the generation of electricity
using wind energy and selling it to IEC (hereinafter: “the wind energy field”).
b.

Material events in the reporting period
(1) Acquisition of rights in the Neot Hovav project - as described in note 12a(4), in July 2013 the
Company completed the acquisition of the full rights in an upcoming photovoltaic project
with a capacity of 37.5 MWp in Neot Hovav, including the series of the agreements in
connection with the setting up of the project and its financing by a foreign bank.
(2) Exercise of options and increase in the Company’s equity - as described in note 13c(2), in
April 2013 some 31.35 million options (series 1) have been exercised into shares of the
Company. The immediate consideration from the exercise of the before mentioned options
amounted to approximately NIS 47 million, with a corresponding increase in the equity of
the Company.
(3) Signing of a financing agreement with a financial institution - as described in note 12a(3), the
Company, through a wholly owned limited partnership, entered into a binding agreement with
financial institutions to receive financing of up to NIS 49 million in a “project finance” format
over a period of 16 years.

c.

Definitions in these financial statements
The Company
Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
The Group
Subsidiaries

The Company and its subsidiaries. For details of investee companies,
see Note 8.
Companies, including a partnership, the financial statements
of which are fully consolidated, directly or indirectly, with the
financial statements of the Company.

Investee companies

Subsidiaries and companies, including a partnership or joint venture,
the Company's investment in which is stated, directly or indirectly, on
the equity basis (see also Note 3a(5)).

Alony Hetz

Alony-Hetz Properties and Investments Ltd.

Amot

Amot investments Ltd. and all of its subsidiaries and investee and
consolidated companies.

Granot Energy

Granot Amot Energy Solar Projects, Limited Partnership, which is 50%
held by the Company.

Small systems

Photovoltaic systems with an electricity generation capacity of up to 50
KWp each.

Medium systems

Photovoltaic systems with an electricity generation capacity in excess
of 51 KWp that are connected to the distribution network.

Large systems

Photovoltaic systems for the generation of electricity that are
connected to the transmission network.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Note 1 – General (cont’d)
Neot Hovav Project

A photovoltaic project under construction with a capacity of
37.5 MWp that is located in Neot Hovav.

IEC/ the Essential
Service Provider

Israel Electric Corporation Ltd.

The Electricity
Authority

The Public Utilities Authority - Electricity.

KWp

Peak kilowatt units that are used in measuring the scale of systems.

MWp

1,000 peak kilowatt units that are used in measuring the scale of
systems.

Index

The Consumer Price Index as published by the Central Bureau of
Statistics.

Related party

Within its meaning in IAS 24 (2009), “Related Party Disclosures”.

Interested parties

Within their meaning in Paragraph (1) of the definition of an
“interested party” in Section 1 of the Securities Law - 1968.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 2 - Basis of Preparation
a.

Statement of compliance – international financial reporting standards (IFRS):
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been drawn up in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (hereinafter- “IFRS”) and related interpretations
published by the International Accounting Standards Boards (IASB).

b.

Furthermore, these financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Securities
Regulations (Annual Financial Statements) - 2010.

c.

These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Company’s Board of
Directors on March 12, 2014.

d.

Functional and presentation currency
These consolidated financial statements are presented in NIS, which is the Company’s functional
currency, and have been rounded to the nearest thousand, except when otherwise indicated.

e.

Basis of measurement
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following
assets and liabilities:
 Investments in equity-accounted joint ventures
 Money market funds that are presented under cash and cash equivalents and designated at fair
value through profit or loss
 Deferred tax assets and liabilities

f.

Operating cycle
The operating cycle of the Group is 12 months.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Note 2 - Basis of Preparation (cont’d)
g.

Statement of income; statement of comprehensive income; statement of cash flows.
(1) Classification of expenses recognized in the statement of income - the classification of the
Group’s expenses recognized in the statement of income is based on the function of the expense.
The Group has elected this classification method since, in its opinion, it facilitates an easier and
clearer understanding of the profitability index before financing, taxes, depreciation and
amortization, an index that is significant to companies such as the Company and that contributes
to the understanding or its operating results.
(2) Statement of cash flows - the statement of cash flows from operating activities is presented
based on the indirect method; interest paid by the Group is classified in the statement of cash
flows under financing activities, except borrowing costs to the extent capitalized to a qualifying
asset that is a fixed asset, which are to be classified as an investing activity; interest received
by the Group is classified in the statement of cash flows under investing activities; the Group
believes that as long as there is no financial debt in the Company, the selected format of
presentation more accurately reflects the business operations of the Group.

h.

Use of estimates and judgments
(1) The preparation of financial statements according to IFRSs requires management of the
Company to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. It is
hereby clarified that actual results may differ from these estimates. The formulation of
accounting estimates used in the preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management of the Company to make assumptions regarding circumstances and events that
involve considerable uncertainty. Management of the Company prepares the estimates on the
basis of past experience, various facts, external circumstances, and reasonable assumptions
according to the pertinent circumstances of each estimate.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any
future periods affected.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Note 2 - Basis of Preparation (cont’d)
h.

Use of estimates and judgments (cont’d)
The following table summarizes the estimates and the principal assumptions on which the Group
relied in relation to the future and other reasons for uncertainty with respect to estimates that
have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the next financial year, and the relevant notes:
Estimate

Principal assumptions

Possible
effects
Recognition ofThe probability that taxable profits
Recognition or
deferred tax asset will be available in the future
reversal of a
in respect of tax
there against which carryforward deferred tax
losses
losses could be utilized
asset in profit or
loss

Reference

Assessment of the
probability of
contingent
liabilities

Reversal or
creation of a
provision for a
claim

For information on
the Company’s
exposure to claims
see Note 20
regarding contingent
liabilities

Increase in
depreciation
expenses or the
recording of an
impairment loss

For additional
information on the
useful lives and the
depreciation rates of
the fixed assets, see
Note 3d.

Whether it is more likely than not
that an outflow of economic
resources will be required in
respect of legal claims pending
against the Company and its
investees

Useful life of fixed The period of depreciation of the
assets
fixed assets most closely reflects
the expected pattern of
consumption of the future
economic benefits that are
embodied in the asset

For information on
losses for which a
deferred tax asset
was recognized, see
Note 18 regarding
taxes on income.

(2) IFRIC 12 - Service Concession Arrangements
As a rule, within the framework of service concession arrangements with Government bodies
for the construction and operation of a facility in consideration for fixed and variable payments,
which are within the scope of IFRIC 12, a financial asset is to be recognized commencing from
the start of the construction or upgrade of the facility when the Group has an unconditional
contractual right to receive cash or some other financial asset for the construction services or
upgrade. The financial asset reflects the unconditional payments receivable in the future from
the Government body and bears an appropriate rate of risk interest that is determined based on
the risk of the customer. In addition, from that same date an intangible asset is to be recognized
representing the fair value of the facility construction services in excess of the unconditional
payment from the Government body (the financial asset as stated above), reflecting its right to
collect usage fees from the public with respect to the facility.
a. As regarding medium systems of the Company and jointly controlled partnerships
In December 2012, the Israel Securities Authority (“ISA”) published two similar
applications for pre-rulings of two different companies (“the applicant companies”) that
had been sent to the ISA and involve the scope of IFRIC 12, as regarding the accounting
treatment of medium photovoltaic facilities in Israel. ISA’s staff decieded not to intervene
in the position of the applicant companies, by which the facilities are in the scope of the
interpretation and should be accounted for using the “financial asset” model.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Note 2 - Basis of Preparation (cont’d)
h.

Use of estimates and judgments (cont’d)
The Company examined the factual background included in the applications that the two
companies had submitted to the ISA, and the characteristics of the Company-owned
medium facilities that are connected to the electricity grid, including through an equityaccounted limited partnership (in which the Company holds 50% of the rights), until
December 31, 2013, as follows:
1) The production capacity of the facilities is less than 5MW and they are connected to
“energy intensive” facilities (that can use the entire electricity output of the facility).
2) The residual value of the facilities is significant, even just considering the additional
20-year usability of the facility (besides the 20 years in the regularization period) at
high output rates.
3) The grantor of the concession is not the owner of the residual value (at the end of the
regularization period) and does not even control it (because of, inter alia, the
characteristics stated in the Electricity Sector Law by which there is no need to obtain
a license to produce electricity for facilities that meet both of the following conditions:
(1) the facility’s capacity is less than 5MWp; and (2) electricity is not sold to third
parties).
In addition to the usability test for examining the residual value of the facilities, the
Company made two additional quantitative calculations as described hereunder that also
led it to the conclusion that the residual value is significant:
The first – a calculation of the facility’s value in years 21-40 (the expected additional 20
years of use of the facility after the regularization years) compared to the construction cost
of the facility proximate to receiving financial closing approval.
The second – a calculation of the facility’s value in years 21-40 and its comparison to the
value of the facility in years 1-40.
The calculations relating to the value of the facility were prepared using the DCF method
(discounting the free cash flows derived from the facility) and SPOT tariffs rather than the
regularization tariffs, so as to reflect the economic value of the facility in the eyes of the
grantor (and not in the eyes of the entrepreneur).
In view of the aforesaid, the Company believes that the proper accounting treatment of its
connected medium facilities is the fixed asset model.
b. As regarding a large system under construction (Neot Hovav facility):
The production capacity of the Neot Hovav facility, which is subject to the regularization
of large systems, is 37.5MWp, and therefore different from the characteristics of the
medium facilities the Company constructed until December 31, 2013 as mentioned in
section a. above (which are lower than 5MW and are connected to “energy intensive”
facilities that can use the entire electricity output of the facility). In view of the aforesaid,
the Company has requested the ISA to examine whether the proper accounting treatment
of the Neot Hovav facility is according to the fixed asset model or the financial asset model.
in order to be included in the scope of IFRIC 12 on service concession arrangements, both
of the following cumulative conditions should be met:
1) The grantor controls or regulates which services the operator must provide with the
infrastructure, to whom it must provide them and at what price.
2) The grantor controls, through ownership, beneficial interest or some other means, any
significant residual interest in the infrastructure at the end of the regularization period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Note 2 - Basis of Preparation (cont’d)
h.
Use of estimates and judgments (cont’d)
In the opinion of Company management, which is supported by a legal opinion it received,
the Company is entitled to free itself from the purchase agreement it signed with the IEC
and to sell electricity to providers per their definition in the Electricity Sector Law. In this
case, in order to be fully or partially freed from the agreement with the IEC, in the
Company’s opinion it will not be required to take any action beyond coordinating (which
in the Company’s opinion is essentially technical) and signing an appropriate agreement
with the provider, in accordance with the instructions set in the law and in the license. In
light of this fact, in the Company’s opinion the grantor may indeed control or regularize
which services the operator must provide via the infrastructure, but does not control to
whom the services must be provided and at what price. Accordingly, in the Company’s
opinion the cumulative conditions for inclusion in the scope of the interpretation are not
met and therefore these facilities must be accounted for according to the fixed asset model.
As at the date of issue of this report, the discussions on the subject between the Company and
the ISA have yet to be concluded. Due to the fact that the applications for pre-rulings that were
published by the ISA in December 2012 are still in effect, the Company accounts for the
investment in the facility in accordance with the financial asset model (while until the facility
is connected to the electric grid all the costs related to construction of the facility are charged
to a project in progress account receivable and only after its connection will be charged to a
financial asset account). Accounting for the facility according to the financial asset model
versus the fixed asset model has an immaterial effect on the measurement and presentation in
the financial statements as at December 31, 2013 and for the year ended on December 31,
2013. The commencement of the construction works at the beginning of 2014 will result in
material differences between the presentation and measurement of the facility under the
financial asset model as compared to the fixed asset model, including as regarding the possible
recognition of profits during the construction period.
To the extent that the position of the Company is accepted by the ISA, the Company will
present the facility in accordance with the fixed asset model.
i.

Change in classification
The Company has made immaterial changes to the classification of the comparative figures for the
preceding periods to match the classification in the financial statements as at December 31, 2013.
As part of the classifications in the statement of income, the initiation expenses (that had been
previously included under administrative, headquarters, initiation and other expenses) are
presented separately from administrative, headquarters and other expenses.

j.

Changes in accounting policies
As from January 1, 2013, the Group applies the new standards and amendments described below:
(1) IFRS 13 Main changes:

When measuring the fair value of a liability, the effect of the entity’s own credit risk
must be taken into account.
The amendment is applicable on a prospective basis where the disclosure requirements need
not be applied in comparative information for periods before initial application.
The implementation of the Standard did not have a material effect on the financial statements.
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(2) Amendment to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, in respect of presentation of
items of other comprehensive income
Main changes:
 The amendment changed the presentation of items of other comprehensive income in
the financial statements, so that items of other comprehensive income that after initial
recognition in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss are
presented separately from those that would never be reclassified to profit or loss.
The amendment is applicable retrospectively. The implementation of the Standard did affect
the financial statements.
(3) Amendment to IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, Offsetting Financial Assets
and Financial Liabilities
Main changes:
 The amendment contains new disclosure requirements for financial assets and
liabilities that are offset in the statement of financial position or are subject to master
netting arrangements or similar agreements.
The amendment is applicable retrospectively.
As at December 31, 2013, the Company offsets the financial asset - a loan granted to an
entrepreneur, against a financial liability payable to said entrepreneur, see Note 21(5).
Note 3 - Significant Accounting Policies
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently for all periods presented in these
consolidated financial statements, except as explained in Note 2j above:
a.

Basis of consolidation
(1) Control
Control exists when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with a subsidiary (as defined below) and it has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the subsidiary. Substantive rights held by the Group and others are
taken into account when assessing control.
(2) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. The financial statements of subsidiaries
are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that the Company achieves
control over the relevant entity until the date that control is lost.
The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align them with
the policies adopted by the Group.
(3) Non-controlling interests
Non-controlling interests comprise the equity of a subsidiary that cannot be attributed, directly
or indirectly, to the parent company.
Allocation of the comprehensive income among the equity holders
Profit or loss and any component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the Company and to non-controlling interests.

Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
(of the Alony Hetz Group)

4814

Financial Statements (Convenience Translations of report and financial statements originally issued in Hebrew)
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Note 3 - Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)
a.
Basis od consolidation (cont’d)
(4) Loss of control
Upon the loss of control, the Group derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary,
any non-controlling interests and the other components of equity related to the subsidiary.
The amounts recognized in equity through other comprehensive income with respect to the
same subsidiary are reclassified to profit or loss or to retained earnings in the same manner
that would have been applicable if the subsidiary had itself realized the same assets or
liabilities.
(5) Investment in joint ventures
Joint ventures are joint arrangements in which the Group has rights to the net assets of the
arrangement.
Investments in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method and are initially
recognized at cost.
The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the income and expenses
in profit or loss and of other comprehensive income of equity accounted investees, after
adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of the Group, from the date that joint
control commences until the date that joint control ceases.
(6) Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising from
intra-group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealized gains arising from transactions with joint ventures are eliminated against the
investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in these investments.
b.

Functional and presentation currency
(1) Functional and presentation currency - The financial statements of the Company and of
each of its investees are presented in the currency of the principal economic environment in
which the Company or the investees operate (hereinafter - the functional currency). The
functional currency of the Company and of all of its investee companies and entities (with the
exception of an investee entity in Poland that has the zloty as its principal function currency)
is the NIS.
Translation of transactions and balances that are denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency - Transactions that are denominated in a currency other then the
Group’s functional currency (hereinafter - foreign currency) are translated into the functional
currency for the purpose of their inclusion in the financial statements of the Group, at the
exchange rate in effect on the date of each transaction. Monetary items denominated in
foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate in effect on each date of the statement of
financial position; non-monetary items that are measured at cost are translated using the
exchange rate at the date of the transaction relating to the non-monetary item.
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b.
Functional and presentation currency (cont’d)
(2) Recognition of foreign currency differences - Foreign currency differences are generally
recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
(3) Foreign operations - The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated to NIS at
exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are
translated to NIS at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign currency differences are recognized in other comprehensive income and presented in
the foreign operation translation reserve.
When the foreign operation is a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, then the
relevant proportionate share of the foreign operation translation difference is allocated to the
non-controlling interests.
When a foreign operation is disposed of such that control, significant influence or joint control
is lost, the cumulative amount in the translation reserve related to that foreign operation is
reclassified to profit or loss as a part of the gain or loss on disposal.
Generally, foreign currency differences in respect of loans received from or granted to foreign
operations, including foreign operations that are subsidiaries, are recognized in profit or loss
in the consolidated financial statements.
Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from loans received from or granted to a foreign
operation, the settlement of which is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future, are
considered to form part of a net investment in a foreign operation and are recognized in other
comprehensive income and presented within equity in the translation reserve.
c.

Financial instruments
(1) Non-derivative financial assets
 Initial recognition of financial assets and derecognition of financial assets
The Group initially recognizes loans and receivables and deposits on the date that they are
created. All other financial assets acquired in a regular way purchase are recognized
initially on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument, meaning on the date the Group undertook to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognized when the contractual rights of the Group to the cash flows
from the asset expire, or the Group transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows
on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset are transferred.
The non-derivative financial instruments of the Group comprise cash and cash equivalents,
deposits and marketable securities and trade and other receivables. The classification into
these categories is based on the nature and purpose of holding of the financial asset and is
determined on the initial recognition of the financial asset.
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c.
Financial instruments (cont’d)
 The Group classifies financial assets according to the following categories:
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include deposits in banks available for immediate use and term
deposits that are not restricted in use with original maturities of three months or less. This
item includes short-term investments in NIS money market funds in Israel with an original
average duration to maturity of 3 months or less, in which the investment policy is
investment in instruments that qualify as cash equivalents.
Deposits and marketable securities
Deposits and marketable securities include deposits the original maturity of which is more
than three months and less than one year.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables include trade and other receivables. Loans and receivables are nonderivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Such assets are recognized initially at fair value plus any attributable
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. Interest
income is recognized over the period of the loan or the balance receivable using the
effective interest method, other than in respect of short-term trade and other receivables
where the effect of the discount is immaterial.
Impairment losses on non-derivative financial assets and their reversal
Financial assets are individually tested at the end of each reporting period to identify the
existence of indications of impairment. Such indication of impairment arises in the
existence of objective evidence that a single event or several events that took place
subsequent to the initial recognition of a financial asset have adversely affected the
estimated cash flows that are expected from the investment in the financial asset.
An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost (mainly
receivables) is calculated as the difference between its carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest
rate. This amount is carried to profit or loss. If in a period subsequent to the period or
recognition of an impairment loss in respect of a financial asset that is presented at
amortized cost there is indication that the amount of loss from its impairment has reduced
and such reduction is objectively associated with an event that took place after the
recognition of the impairment, then the impairment loss that was previously recognized is
reversed, in whole or in part, against profit or loss. The amount of such reversal is limited
such that the carrying amount of the investment in the financial asset on the date of reversal
of the impairment loss shall not exceed the amortized cost of the asset on the date of reversal
excluding the impairment previously recognized.
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(2) Non-derivative financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognized initially on the trade date at which the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial liabilities are derecognized when the obligation of the Group, as specified in the
agreement, expires or when it is discharged or canceled.
Financial liabilities in the Group trade and other payables and credit balances.
Financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value plus any attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost and
the financing costs are generally carried to profit or loss using the effective interest method.
(3) Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are presented at net amount in the statement of
financial position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legal right to offset the
amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
(4) CPI-linked assets and liabilities that are not measured at fair value
The value of CPI-linked financial assets and liabilities, which are not measured at fair value,
is remeasured every period in accordance with the actual change in the CPI.
(5) Share capital
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
ordinary shares and share options are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax
effects.
d.

Fixed assets
(1) General
The fixed assets of the Group constitute a tangible item that is held for the provision of services
and is anticipated to be used in more than one period.
(2) Recognition and measurement
Fixed asset items are measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation and cumulative
impairment losses.
Cost includes payment that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of
self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labor, any other costs directly
attributable to bringing the assets to the location and condition that are necessary for its
operation in the manner intended by management and the costs of dismantling and removing
the items and restoring the site on which they are located. As to the recognition of costs that
are capitalized to fixed assets in respect of project in the initiation stage - see Note 3i below.
The cost of qualifying assets also includes borrowing costs that are capitalized to the asset. In
this regard, see Note 3f below.
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d.
Fixed assets (cont’d)
When major parts of a fixed asset item have different useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate items (major components) of fixed assets.
Gains and losses on disposal of a fixed asset item are determined by comparing the net
proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of the asset, and are recognized net within
“other income” or “other expenses”, as relevant, in profit or loss.
(3) Subsequent costs
The cost of replacing part of a fixed asset item and other subsequent costs are capitalized if it
is probable that the future economic benefits associated with them will flow to the Group and
their cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part of a fixed asset
item is derecognized.
The costs of day-to-day servicing are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.
(4) Depreciation
Depreciation is a systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over its useful
life.
Components of a depreciable fixed asset item with a significant cost compared to the total cost
of the item are depreciated separately. Depreciation is systematically applied (as detailed
below) over the estimated useful lives of each part of the fixed asset item from the date on
which the asset is ready for use as intended by management, taking into account the anticipated
residual value at the end of the useful life.
The method of depreciation of the fixed assets reflects the expected pattern of consumption of
the future economic benefits that are embodied in the asset. The Group depreciates the fixed
assets at equal annual rates on a straight-line basis, with the exception of panels and
infrastructure that are depreciated based on the diminishing of the output of the receptors over
the estimated useful life of 20 years.
The estimated useful lives and the rates of depreciation that are used in calculating the
depreciation are as follows:

Converters
Panels and
infrastructure
Office furniture and
equipment

Useful life

% of depreciation

Depreciation method

10 years
20 years

10
4.63-5.37

Straight-line
Diminishing of output

3-16 years

6-33

Straight-line

Residual values, depreciation methods and the useful lives of the assets are reviewed by
management of the Company at the end of each reporting year. Changes are accounted for
prospectively as a change in estimate.
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e.

Impairment losses on non-current tangible assets and their reversal
The Group examines its tangible assets at the end of each reporting period to identify the existence
of objective indications of impairment in their value. If such indications are present, the recoverable
amount of the asset is compared against its carrying amount in order to determine the amount of
impairment loss that should be recognized, if any.
The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the assessments of market participants regarding the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset, for which the estimated future cash flows
from the asset were not adjusted.
If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated below its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. Such reduction represents a loss from the
impairment of the asset and is recognized as an expenses in the statement of profit or loss.
Impairment loss on an asset is reversed if, and only if, there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. The
carrying amount of the investment, after the reversal of the impairment loss, will not exceed the
carrying amount of the investment that would have been determined if no impairment loss had been
recognized. In such case, the carrying amount of the asset is reinstated to the estimated recoverable
amount, provided that the amount of the asset after the increase does not exceed the carrying amount
of the asset that would have been determined (net of depreciation as appropriate) if no impairment
loss had been previously been recognized in its respect. The reversal of an impairment loss is carried
to profit or loss.

f.

Capitalization of borrowing costs
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of qualifying assets,
the preparation of which for their intended use or sale is significantly time consuming (at least more
than six months) are capitalized to the cost of such assets until they are substantively ready for their
intended use or sale. Income earned on the temporary investment of specific credit received for
investing in a qualifying asset is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization.

g.

Leases
The Group customarily leases building rooftops and lands for the installation of photovoltaic
systems. Such lease arrangements are classified as an operating lease, i.e.: the leased assets are not
recognized in the statement of financial position, since all of the risks and rewards of ownership
substantively remain in the hands of the lessor of the rooftops or the land. Conditional lease
payments that are calculated as a percentage of the receipts of the Company from the provision of
the electricity to IEC are recognized in profit or loss when the condition is cleared in accordance
with its eligibility for the receipts from IEC, as above.
Payments made under operating leases are recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease.
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h.

Financing income and expenses
Financing income comprises interest income on funds invested and changes in the fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
Interest income is recognized as it accrues using the effective interest method. Changes in the fair
value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss also include interest income.
Financing expenses comprise bank commissions and interest expenses on loans received and
changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
Borrowing costs, which are not capitalized to qualifying assets, are recognized in profit or loss using
the effective interest method.
Foreign currency gains and losses on financial assets and financial liabilities are reported on a net
basis as either financing income or financing expenses depending on the foreign currency
movements.

i.

Initiation expenses
The Company recognizes in profit or loss all of the initiation expenses in respect of projects that is
develops until the stage in which management believes the feasibility of construction of the project
has been proven. Once the project becomes feasible, the development and construction costs are
capitalized to the cost of the project.

j.

Income tax
(1) General
Income tax expense (income) presented in profit or loss comprises all current taxes as well as
the amount of change in the balances of deferred taxes.
(2) Current taxes
Current tax expense (income) is calculated based on the taxable income of the Company and
the Group companies in the reporting period. Taxable income differs from the profit before
income tax, due to the inclusion or exclusion of items of income and expenses that are taxable
or that may be deducted in varying reporting periods, or that are not taxable or deductible.
Assets and liabilities in respect of current taxes are determined using the tax rates and tax laws
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the date of the statement of financial
position.
(3) Deferred taxes
The Company and the Group companies recognize taxes in respect of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax base and in respect of tax
losses and benefits that are expected to be realized. Deferred taxes are determined using the
tax rates that are expected to apply upon their realization, based on the tax rates and the tax
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the date of the statement of financial
position. Deferred tax liabilities are usually recognized in respect of all of the temporary
differences between the value of assets and liabilities for tax purposes and their carrying
amount. Deferred tax assets are recognized in respect of all of the deductible temporary
differences, to the extent that it is probable that a future taxable income will be available
against which they may be utilized.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax
authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis.
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k.

Provisions
A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation.

l.

Revenue Recognition
(1) Revenues from the sale of electricity
Revenues are measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable by the
Group and are recognized in the financial statements to the extent that their collection is
believed to be probable on the date of their recognition and provided that the amount of the
revenues can be measured reliably. Revenues from the sale of electricity are carried to the
statement of profit or loss as they accrue over the period in which they are derived.
(2) Revenues from maintenance and operation contracts
Revenue from a transaction for the provision of maintenance and operation services for
photovoltaic electricity generation systems. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration from the transaction. Revenue recognition is subject to the following
conditions:
a. The amount of revenue can be measured reliably
b. The flow to the Company of the economic benefits relating to the transaction is probable
Revenues are recognized upon the provision of the service over the period of the service
contract.
(3) Revenues from service concession arrangements
Revenues from the provision of the construction services are recognized by the percentage of
completion method, in accordance with International Accounting Standard No. 11.
The percentage of completion of construction contracts is determined based on the ratio of
the physical proportion of the contract work performed as at the cut-off date to total work
under the contract. Costs incurred prior to the construction period, including the purchase of
panels and converters, are not taken into account in determining the percentage of completion.
Revenues from the operation services are recognized pro rata over the period of the
arrangement, in accordance with International Accounting Standard No. 18.
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest income is recognized by the effective interest
method over the period of the arrangement.

m.

Earnings per share
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic
EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the reporting period. Diluted
EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the
Company and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise share options granted to the CEO, CFO and
employees of the Company.
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n.

Share-based payment
In transactions of share-based payment to employees (including officers and others who provide
similar services) that are settled with equity instruments of the Group (share options), the benefit
embodied in the equity instruments that are granted is determined based on their fair value at grant
date. At each date of the statement of financial position, the Group estimates the number of equity
instruments that are expected to vest and any change in the estimate in relation to prior periods is
carried to profit or loss over the remaining vesting period. See also Note 16.
Such benefits are recognized as an expense in the statement of profit or loss against an increase in
retained earnings under equity, on a straight-line basis over the vesting periods of the equity
instrument granted, with each sub-grant being treated as a separate series (graded vesting).

o.

Employees benefits
The Group has a number of post-employment benefit plans. The plans are usually financed by
deposits with insurance companies or with funds managed by a trustee and are classified as defined
contribution plans and as defined benefit plans.
(1) Defined contribution plans
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the Group pays
fixed contributions into a separate entity and has no legal or constructive obligation to pay
further amounts. The Group’s obligations for contributions to a defined contribution plan are
recognized as an expense in profit or loss in the periods during which related services are
rendered by employees.
(2) Defined benefit plans
A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution
plan. The Group’s net obligation in respect of a defined benefit plan for post-employment
benefits is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that
employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. That benefit
is presented at present value, less the fair value of the plan assets.

p.

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
Described below are new standards and amendments that have not yet been adopted, which
may be relevant to the Group and have an effect on the financial statements:
(1) IFRIC 21, Levies
The interpretation addresses the accounting for a liability to pay government levies that are
within the scope of IAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as well
as a liability to pay government levies which are not within the scope of IAS 37 since their
timing and amount is certain. “Levy” is defined as an outflow of resources that is imposed on
an entity by the government through legislation and/or regulation. The Interpretation does not
apply to amounts that are charged on behalf of the government, such as VAT, or that are within
the scope of other standards, such as income tax.
Pursuant to the Interpretation, a liability for the payment of a levy will be recognized only upon
the occurrence of an event that triggers the payment liability, even if it is virtually impracticable
for the entity to avoid such event. The aforesaid also applies in the interim periods, i.e. a liability
for the payment of a levy will only be recognized in the interim period in which the trigger
event takes place.
The Interpretation will be applicable to annual periods commencing on January 1, 2014 or
thereafter; early adoption is permitted. The provisions of the Interpretation are to be applied
retrospectively.

Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
(of the Alony Hetz Group)

4823

Financial Statements (Convenience Translations of report and financial statements originally issued in Hebrew)
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Note 3 - Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)
p.
New standards and interpretations not yet adopted (cont’d)
The Group is examining the effects of adopting the Interpretation on its financial statements,
inter alia, with respect to the accounting treatment of betterment levies. In the opinion of the
Group, the adoption of the Interpretation will not have a material effect on the financial
statements.
(2) IFRS 9 (2010), Financial Instruments (hereinafter - “the Standard”)
The Standard replaces the requirements included in IAS 39 regarding the classification and
measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities. In accordance with the Standard, there
are two principal categories for measuring financial assets: amortized cost and fair value. The
basis of classification for debt instruments is based on the entity’s business model for managing
financial assets and on the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. In
addition, investments in equity instruments are measured at fair value with changes in fair value
being recognized in profit or loss. Nevertheless, the Standard allows an entity on the initial
recognition of an equity instrument not held for trading to elect to present fair value changes in
the equity instrument in other comprehensive income where no amount so recognized is ever
classified to profit or loss at a later date.
The Standard generally preserves the provisions regarding classification and measurement of
financial liabilities that are provided in IAS 39. Nevertheless, unlike IAS 39, the Standard
requires as a rule that the amount of change in the fair value of financial liabilities designated
at fair value through profit or loss, other than loan grant commitments and financial guarantee
contracts, attributable to changes in the credit risk of the liability, be presented in other
comprehensive income, with the remaining amount being included in profit or loss.
The mandatory effective date of the Standard has not yet been determined Early adoption is
permitted subject to providing disclosure and at the same time adopting other IFRS amendments
as specified in the schedule to the Standard. The Standard is to be applied retrospectively other
than in a number of exceptions as indicated in the transitional provisions included in the
Standard.
The Group has yet to consider the implications of the adoption of the Standard on the financial
statements.
(3) Amendmentsto IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation
The amendment to IAS 32 clarifies that an entity currently has a legally enforceable right to
offset a liability from an asset and an asset from a liability (net presentation), subject to meeting
the following cumulative conditions:
a. A legally enforceable right to offset the amounts recognized, if such right is not contingent
on a future event;
b. The right is enforceable both in the ordinary course of business and in the event of
insolvency or bankruptcy of the entity and of any of the counterparties.
The amendment to the Standard is applicable retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2014. In the opinion of the Company, the amendment to the Standard is not
expected to have a material effect on its financial statements.
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a. Composition:
December 31

Balances in banks
NIS money market funds (*)
Short-term bank deposits

2013

2012

NIS in thousands

NIS in thousands

407
20,903
8,042

36,001
11,913

29,352

47,914

(*) Investments in short-term NIS money market funds with an original average duration to maturity
of 3 months or less.
b.

The exposure of the Group to credit risk, interest rate risk and foreign currency risk and a sensitivity
analysis of financial assets are presented in Note 21, Financial Instruments.

Note 4B - Pledged Deposit
A bank deposit made in 2013 in relation to the provision of a bank guarantee for a project. For additional
information on guarantees provided, see Note 20b and 12a(4).
Note 4C - Deposits and Marketable Securities
The deposit as at December 31, 2012 included a deposit in the amount of € 6 million that was deposited
in an escrow account by the Company and its partners in a wind project in Poland in favor of the payment
for the rights in a wind farm license, shortly before and as a prerequisite for the financial closing of the
project. The Company’s share of the deposit, which amounted to € 3.6 million, was refunded to the
Company at the beginning of April 2013, upon the sale of its holdings in the subsidiary. For additional
information, see Note 12b(2)(b).
Note 5 - Trade Receivables
The only material customer of the Company to date is IEC, which has entered into long-term agreements
with the Company for a period of 20 years, based on the arrangements prescribed by IEC. For information
on the terms of the engagement with IEC, see Note 12a below.
Pursuant to the existing regulation in Israel, the concession for the production of electricity in the small
systems is granted to the owner of the electricity meter that is not necessarily the owner of the
photovoltaic system. As at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, the Group has 30 small systems,
the majority of which are installed on the rooftops of Amot Properties (a related party of the Company)
and accordingly, the concession to produce electricity is granted to them as the owners of the property
and of the electricity meter. Therefore, a substantial portion of the balance of trade receivables as at
December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 represents direct debts of Amot to the Group (and indirectly
represents debts of IEC to the Group). Amot has signed with the Company an assignment by way of lien
of rights to receive monies in respect of the systems that are installed on the rooftops of Amot, to the
effect that the monies will be directly transferred from IEC to the account of the Company or of its wholly
owned partnership.
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Note 6 - Other Accounts Receivable and Debit Balances
December 31

Institutions
Investees (*)
Prepaid expenses
Suppliers of equipment
Others

2013

2012

NIS in thousands

NIS in thousands

825
1,154
522
571
3,072

585
417
10
88
1,100

(*) Represents balances of current accounts.
See also Note 15k.
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Note 7 - Fixed Assets
a. Composition and movement:
Photovoltaic systems

Other

Converters

Panels
and infrastructure

Office
furniture
and
equipment

Cost
Balance as at January 1,
2013

Leasehold
Vehicles
improvements
NIS in thousands

Electronic
equipment

Total

5,271

40,353

279

231

91

-

46,225

Addition during the year

7

127

386

-

-

271

791

Retirements during the year
Balance as at December 31,
2013

-

-

-

(48)

(15)

-

(63)

5,278

40,480

665

183

76

271

46,953

Accumulated depreciation
Balance as at January 1,
2013

447

2,093

62

45

7

-

2,654

Addition during the year

522

2,133

85

34

9

10

2,793

Retirements during the year
Balance as at December 31,
2013

-

-

-

(15)

-

-

(15)

969

4,226

147

64

16

10

5,432

Amortized cost
Balance as at December 31,
2013

4,309

36,254

518

119

60

261

41,521

Photovoltaic systems

Converters

Panels and
infrastructure

Other
Office
furniture
and
equipment
Vehicles

Leasehold
improvements

Total

NIS in thousands
Cost
Balance as at January 1, 2012

2,320

20,060

173

231

42

22,826

Addition during the year

3,008

20,881

106

-

49

24,044

(57)

(588)

-

-

-

(645)

5,271

40,353

279

231

91

46,225

Balance as at January 1, 2012

212

1,013

22

10

2

1,259

Addition during the year

241

Retirements during the year
Balance as at December 31,
2012
Accumulated depreciation

1,112

40

35

5

1,433

Retirements during the year
Balance as at December 31,
2012

(6)

(32)

-

-

-

(38)

447

2,093

62

45

7

2,654

Amortized cost
Balance as at December 31,
2012

4,824

38,260

217

186

84

43,571

b.
c.

In connection with facilities sold by the Company to a wholly owned partnership, see Note
8a(4) to the report.
For information on the depreciation rights and methods, see Note 3d(4) above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Note 7 - Fixed Assets (cont’d)
d.

Supplementary information:
December 31
2013
NIS in thousands

Direct costs
Costs capitalized to systems

(*)

2012
NIS in thousands

46,035
918
46,953

(*) 45,307
(*) 918
46,225

Reclassified.

For information on a financing agreement that involved the pledging of the lion’s share of the
aforesaid systems to secure the loan, see Note 12a(3).
Note 7A - Systems under construction

December 31
2013
NIS in thousands

Photovoltaic
Wind

2012
NIS in thousands

3,927
1,383
5,310

212
2,820
3,032

The balances relate to projects with respect to which management believes the recovery of the
accrued cost is probable.
Note 7B - Receivables in respect of Project in Progress
The balances relate to costs accrued in respect of the Neot Hovav project prior to the
commencement of the work on the site (in January 2014). See also Note 12a(4) and Note 2h(2)
to the report.

December 31

Initiation expenses accrued in the project company
prior to the purchase of the shares by the Company
Rent determined in advance for use of land
Costs in connection with equipment and installations
Direct legal fees and other costs relating to the
project
Initiation fees

Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
(of the Alony Hetz Group)

2013

2012

NIS in thousands

NIS in thousands

35,000
34,979
1,765

-

9,114
24,923
105,781

-
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Note 8 - Investments in Investees
a. Subsidiaries
1) Details of subsidiaries
Following is a list of the material subsidiaries and consolidated partnerships of the
Company:
Principal
location of
the
Company’s
operations

Name of investee

(*)

Energix Neot Hovav Ltd.
Energix Projects 1, Limited
Partnership
Energix South Har Hevron,
Limited Partnership

Israel
Israel

C&C WIND S.P. Z.O.O

Poland

Ownership rights of
the Company in the
subsidiary /
partnership
Year ended December
31
2013

2012

%
100%

%
-

100%
50.1%
-

Volume of
investment in
investee (*)
December 31,
2013
2013

2012

NIS in thousands

34,690

-

-

7,853

-

60%

(205)
-

2,062

Israel

The volume of investment in an investee is calculated as a net amount of total assets less
total liabilities of the investee that is attributable to the equity holders of the Company, as
presented in the consolidated financial statements of the Company.
Following are details of loans to the material subsidiaries and consolidated partnerships of
the Company:

Interest

Name of loan recipient
Energix Neot Hovav Ltd.
Energix South Har Hevron,
Limited Partnership

ENEAL SP. Z.O.O

Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
(of the Alony Hetz Group)

Linkage
terms

%
4.10%

-

Loan balance
December 31
2013
NIS in
thousands

2012
NIS in
thousands

43,076

-

2,616
1,447

-

4.10%

Euro

-
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Note 8 - Investments in Investees (cont’d)
a. Subsidiaries (cont’d)
2) Following is summary information of the status of projects in the subsidiaries and
consolidated partnerships of the Company:
Capacity of systems
Company’s
share

Total

Name of investee
Energix Projects 1,
Limited Partnership

Energix Neot Hovav
Ltd.

Energix South Har
Hevron, Limited
Partnership

Status of projects systems connected /
under construction
Owns 29 small and 2
medium connected
facilities
Holds a financial
closing approval and
under construction
Application for the
approval of tariffs regularization in the
Judea & Samaria
region in planning
stages

KWp

Cost of
Company’s
share (*)

Expected
financing
(***)

NIS in thousands

3,177

3,177

(**) 50,750

49,000

37,500

37,500

350,000

314,000

5,000

2,505

22,600

-

(*) For facilities under construction cost relates to the anticipated costs.
(**) Cost as per sale agreement between the Company and Energix Projects 1, see section 4 below.
(***) The anticipated financing in respect of the Neot Hovav project relates to the anticipated
refinancing following the connection of the faciiliy to the electricity grid. See section 12a(4)
below.
3) Energix Neot Hovav Ltd. (hereinafter - “the project company”)
In July 2013, the Company completed the acquisition of the full rights in the project
company, to the effect that upon the completion of the transaction, as from the third
quarter of 2013 the Company consolidated the project company in its financial statements.
The project company is engaged in the initiation, construction, management and operation
of a photovoltaic project with a total capacity of 37.5MWp in Neot Hovav under a tender
awarded to them by the Neot Hovav Eco-Industrial Council. For information on
commitments, agreements, the financing of the project and a bank guarantee that was
provided by the Company in favor of the Council in connection with the project, see Note
12a(4) below.
4) Energix Projects 1, Limited Partnership (hereinafter: Energix Projects)
Energix Projects is a limited partnership that is wholly owned by the Company and has
been consolidated in the financial statements of the Company since the third quarter of
2013. Commencing in November 2013, Energix Projects owns 29 small systems with a
total capacity of 1.45 MWp and two medium systems with a total installed capacity of
1.727MWp that it had acquired from the Company in consideration of approximately NIS
50.7 million.
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Note 8 - Investments in Investees (cont’d)
a. Subsidiaries (cont’d)
The amortized cost of the sold facilities in the accounts of the Company amounted to
approximately NIS 40.6 million and accordingly the Company recognized a gain of
approximately NIS 10.1 million. This gain that was recognized in respect of the sale of
the facilities to the wholly owned partnership of the Company was eliminated in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements and is therefore not included in the
consolidated financial statements. For information on commitments, agreements and
financing received by Energix Projects, see Note 12a(3) below.
5) Energix South Har Hevron, Limited Partnership (hereinafter: Energix Har
Hevron)
Commencing in 2013, the Company consolidates in its financial statements Energix Har
Hevron, in which the Company holds 50.1%.
The partnership was established for the purpose of the initiation, construction and
operation of a facility for the generation of electricity using photovoltaic energy at the
Meitarim industrial zone in the Judea & Samaria region with a capacity of 5MWp (the
Company’s share - about 2.5MWp). For information on the project, see Note 12a(5)
below.
6) In the reporting period, the Company sold its entire holdings and interests in C&C WIND
SP. Z.O.O, a project company that was engaged in the construction of a wind project with
a volume of 37.5MWp in Poland, which had been acquired and accounted for in 2012 as
a business combination. Accordingly, as from the date of the sale the Company no longer
consolidates the project company in its financial statements. For additional information,
see Note 12b(2)(b) below.
b.

Equity-accounted investees
Presented below are details of an investment in a joint venture:

Name of investee

Country of
incorporation

Volume of
investment in
investee
December 31
2013

2012

The Company’s
share in the
equity
December 31
2013

NIS in thousands

Granot Amot Energy Solar Projects,
Limited Partnership (*)

Israel

16,967

25,481

2012
%

50%

50%

(*) The volume of investment in an investee is calculated as a net amount of total assets less
total liabilities of the investee that is attributable to the equity holders of the Company, as
presented in the consolidated financial statements of the Company. As at December 31,
2013, out of the total balance of investment in the partnership, an amount of NIS 5,432
thousands is attributed to equity and the remaining balance to partners’ loans.
(**) In the reporting period, the limited partnership repaid to the Company an amount of
approximately NIS 7.8 million out of the partners’ equity that had been extended to it by
the Company in 2012.
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Note 8 - Investments in Investees (cont’d)
Condensed information on Granot Energy, an equity-accounted investee partnership, without
adjustment for the percentage ownership of the Group:

Percentage
ownership

Current
assets (1)

Noncurrent
assets

Current
liabilities

Non-current
liabilities

Total net
assets
NIS in
thousands

Company’s
share in net
assets

Elimination of
inter-company
profits

Carrying amount
of the investment

December 31, 2013

50%

5,610

30,310

(1,666)

-

34,254

17,127

(160)

16,967

5,610

30,310

(1,666)

-

34,254

17,127

(160)

16,967

30,266

25,870

(3,128)

(2,046)

50,962

25,481

-

25,481

30,266

25,870

(3,128)

(2,046)

50,962

25,481

-

25,481

December 31, 2012

50%

Percentage
ownership

Revenues
from the
sale of
electricity

Operating
expenses

Depreciation
and
amortization

Financing
income

Financing
expenses (3)
NIS in
thousands

Loss for the
year

Company’s
share of the
loss

Elimination
Company’s
of
share of the loss
intercompany presented in the
profits
accounts

2013

50%

2,433

(681)

(766)

188

(2,280)

(1,106)

(553)

39

(514)

2,433

(681)

(766)

188

(2,280)

(1,106)

(553)

39

(514)

2012
50%

-

(168)

(312)

816

(2,620)

(2,284)

(1,142)

-

(1,142)

-

(168)

(312)

816

(2,620)

(2,284)

(1,142)

-

(1,142)

(1) Of which cash and cash equivalents of NIS 4,687 thousands (2012: NIS 13,548
thousands)
(2) Of which trade and other payables of NIS 1,666 thousands (2012: NIS 1,658 thousands)
(3) Of which financing expenses of NIS 1,138 thousands in respect of loans that the
Company extended to the partnership (2012: NIS 1,309 thousands).
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Note 9 - Trade Payables
December 31
2013

2012

NIS in thousands

NIS in thousands

Trade payables
Trade payables in respect of fixed assets

223
47
115
385

Notes payable

678
282
156
1,116

Note 10 - Payables and Credit Balances
December 31
2013

2012

NIS in thousands

NIS in thousands

Institutions

108

733

Accrued expenses
Short-term loans received from non-controlling
interests in subsidiaries

619

555

3,000

12,677

526

293

1,237
40
5,530

752
15,010

Related companies (*)
Short-term benefits to employees, including
bonuses
Payables and credit balances

(*) Balances of current accounts - for details see Note 15k.

Note 11 - Long-Term Loans and Other Long-Term Liabilities
In the fourth quarter of 2013, the Company extended a loan of approximately NIS 21.4 million to
one of the entrepreneurs that sold to the Company their holdings in the Energix Neot Hovav Ltd.
project company. The loan was provided, inter alia, against a deferred liability for the payment of
approximately NIS 17.8 million for shares in the project company, as well as against other amounts
that are due to the sellers, aggregating approximately NIS 25 million, in respect of initiation and
management services that they had provided. In view of the existence of an legally enforceable
right to offset the amount of the loan from the liability to the entrepreneurs as well as the intention
of the Company to to settle the loan and the liability up to the amount of the loan on a net basis,
the Company presents the balance of the liability to the entrepreneurs at NIS 21.4 million, having
offset the balance of the loan that was extended. For additional information, see note 12a(4) below.
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Note 12 - Commitments
a. Information on the photovoltaic sector and relevant commitments:
(1) General
The operations of the Company in the photovoltaic sector in Israel are materially affected
by regulation aspects. The regulation in Israel provides for three types of systems for the
generation of electricity using photovoltaic technology: electricity generation systems with
a capacity of up to 50 KWp each, which are designated for private consumption
(hereinafter: “small systems”), electricity generation systems with a capacity in excess of
51KWp that are connected to the distribution network (hereinafter: “medium systems”),
as well as electricity generation systems that are connected to the transmission network
(hereinafter: “large systems”).
(2) Connected electricity generation systems
To the date of issue of the financial statements, the Company owns, inter alia through the
Energix Projects 1 limited partnership, the following:
a.
30 small systems with a total installed capacity of some 1.5 MWp. The average
electricity tariff for the sale of electricity from the above mentioned systems is
approximately NIS 1.82 per kWh, linked to the consumer price index.
b.
2 medium systems with a total installed capacity of some 1.73 MWp. The average
electricity tariff for the sale of electricity from the above mentioned systems is
approximately NIS 1.50 per kWh, linked to the consumer price index.
Pursuant to the financing documents, Energix Projects 1 undertakes to register a lien on all
of its assets, including all of the aforesaid systems (with the exception of one system with
a capacity of 50KWp) to secure its liabilities under the financing document in an aggregate
amount of up to NIS 49 million. For information on a the transaction between the Company
and Energix Projects 1 for the sale of the systems and the financing transaction, see Note
8a(4) as well as Note 12a(3).
Additionally, the Company, through Granot Energy, owns 4 medium systems with a total
installed capacity of some 2.8 MWp, the electricity generated by which is sold to IEC at
NIS 1.42 per kWh, linked to the consumer price index. In 2013, the medium systems with
a capacity of 630 KWp each were connected to the grid (the Company’s share in each such
system - 315 KWp). The construction of an additional medium system in said partnership
with a total capacity of 930 KWp (Company’s share - 465 KWp) has been completed and
the system was connected to the grid in January 2014. The operating results of the systems
of Granot Energy are accounted for in the financial statements as the Company’s share of
results of equity-accounted investees.
(3) Financing transactions in connection with connected and productive systems
Signing of a financing agreement with a financial institution against systems that are
wholly owned by the Company
In September 2013, the Company, through the Projects 1 partnership, entered into a binding
agreement with financial institutions (hereinafter: “the lender”) to receive financing of up
to NIS 49 million (hereinafter: “the financing transaction” and “the amount of the
loan”, respectively).
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Note 12 - Commitments (cont’d)
a.
Information on the photovoltaic sector and relevant commitments (cont’d):
According to the agreement, the amount of the loan will be extended in the form of project
finance over a period of of up to 16 years (average duration of 7.5 years) from the date on
which the financing becomes available, under non-recourse terms (except certain
exemptions relating to breaches on the part of the partnership and/or in relation to properties
that it rents for the purposes of the facilities under lien, against the placing of a lien on the
assets of the partnership (29 small systems with a total capacity of some 1.45 MWp and 2
medium systems with a total capacity of some 1.73 MWp) and the interests of the Company
in the partnership.
The loan will bear annual interest with a margin of 3.4% over series of government bonds
with a similar average duration, but not less than 4.6% a year. The partnership may
withdraw loan amounts on several dates (at its discretion), depending on the scope of the
facilities that come into its possession and on which a lien has been placed in favor of the
lender to secure the repayment of the loan and its compliance with the terms of the
financing transaction.
In February 2014, a loan in the amount of approximately NIS 19 million was extended
under the financing agreement, this against the pledging of 21 small systems with a total
capacity of some 1.05 MWp.
The loan bears annual interest at the rate of 4.6%. The principal of the loan and the interest
thereon are linked to the CPI.
The total amount of credit that is expected to be received upon the transfer of the remaining
assets of the partnership in the first half of 2014 amounts to an additional NIS 30 million.
Negotiations concerning financing from a financial institution in Granot Energy
For information on negotiations for the receipt of financing from a financial institution
against systems that are owned by in Granot Energy, see Note 22b.
(4) Systems under construction - Neot Hovav project
To the date of approval of the financial statements, the Group has one large system under
construction in Energix Neot Hovav Ltd. (hereinafter: “the project company”) that is
wholly owned by the Company.
In July 2013, the Company completed the acquisition of the full ownership in the project
company that holds the rights for the construction of a large system with a total capacity of
37.5 MWp in Neot Hovav as well as a tariff approval of NIS 63.64 NIS cents per kWh
produced (hereinafter: “the Neot Hovav project”).
The acquisition of the project company was completed following the exercise by the
Company of the acquisition option that was granted to it under an agreement that was
signed between the Company and unrelated third parties (hereinafter: “the
entrepreneurs”) on February 28, 2013 (hereinafter: “the agreement”) and upon the
fulfillment of the suspending conditions for the completion of the transaction, including the
obtaining of the approval of the Minister of the transfer of control in the project company.
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Note 12 - Commitments (cont’d)
a.
Information on the photovoltaic sector and relevant commitments (cont’d):
According to the terms of the agreement, the consideration for the shares is € 7.5 million
(hereinafter: “the total consideration”), a close approximation of the equity of the project
company as per its financial statements as of March 13, 2013. The Company paid half of
the amount of the total consideration in proximity to the transfer of ownership in the project
company and has also granted a loan of approximately NIS 21.4 million to one of the
entrepreneurs. The remaining consideration will be paid to the entrepreneurs in proximity
to the receipt of the permanent license for the system (and not later than December 31,
2015), as described below. As to the offsetting of loans that were granted against the
liability to the entrepreneurs, see Note 11 above.
The total cost of the project to the Group (acquisition, construction, financing costs,
management fees due to the entrepreneurs and related costs) is estimated at approximately
NIS 350 million, of which costs in the aggregate amount of approximately NIS 105.8 were
recognized in the reporting period in connection with the project and development activities
for the advancement of the project (for additional information see Note 7b above).
The anticipated revenues from the sale of electricity in the project over 20 years are
estimated at approximately NIS 42 million a year and the anticipated operating costs are
estimated at approximately NIS 5-6 million a year.
As part of the completion of the financial closing milestone, the project company, prior to
it acquisition by the Company, entered into a series of agreements that are required for the
achievement of this milestone, including a project financing agreement with a foreign bank
and EPC and O&M agreements for the project, to which the entrepreneurs and the
Company were a party (see below an update in relation to the substitution of the EPC and
O&M agreements).
Financing of the project:
The project has entered into an agreement with a foreign bank for financing of up to € 50
million in a project finance format for a maximum period of 9 years from the date on which
the financing becomes available. The financing was provided under non-recourse terms
(except for the Company’s undertaking to bear deviations from the construction budget in
an amount that shall not exceed NIS 35 million) and is secured by the assets and revenues
of the project. During the construction period, the principal of the loan will bear annual
interest at the rate of 4% with the addition of monthly Euribor (to the date of the report, the
aggregate annual interest amounts to 4.2%). Loan amounts will be withdrawn by the project
company on predefined dates, subject to its fulfillment of the conditions for such
withdrawal. The conditions include undertakes to comply with representations and
covenants as customary, such as the creation of reserve funds to secure the debt in an
amount of approximately NIS 16 million, maintaining debt servicing rations to ADSCR
and LLCR coverage ratios (which are designated to ensure that the anticipated cash flow
from the project is sufficient to repay the financing) of at least 1:1.075. Additionally, the
agreement includes a list of conditions the breach of which could be cause for immediate
repayment as well as other conditions, as customary in such agreements.
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a.
Information on the photovoltaic sector and relevant commitments (cont’d):
According to the financing agreement, to the extent that by June 30, 2015 the amount of
financing is not repaid or as long as it is not replaced with alternative financing, the interest
rate on the loan will be an annual rate of 4% with the addition of six months Telbor and the
swap cost and all free cash flows in the project company will be used to repay the financing
amount. For information on discussions held by the Company to obtain refinancing for the
operation period to replace the financing from the foreign bank, see below.
A lien was registered on the full rights of the Company in the project company and on the
assets of the project company in favor of the foreign bank under the financing agreement.
Engagement in a memorandum of understanding for the refinancing of the project
In September 2013, the project company entered into an exclusively indicative letter of
intent to receive financing in a volume of NIS 314-360 million that is to be extended in
proximity to the connection of the project to the grid and serve to replace the existing
financing from the foreign bank for the construction of the project as well as to finance
additional costs in relation to the project. The terms of the refinancing will be as customary
in project finance transactions and will be secured by the assets and revenues of the project
(non-recourse). The repayment of the refinancing will probably be based on a repayment
schedule spanning 19 years from the date of connection of the project to the electricity grid.
The completion of the refinancing transaction is subject to the signing of binding
agreements by March 31, 2014, the obtaining of all necessary approvals, the completion of
construction of the project and the compliance of the project company with the terms of
withdrawal.
Rights in real estate in the Neot Hovav project:
By virtue of the tender awarded to the project company for the construction of the project
in the areas of the Neot Hovav Eco-Industrial Council, the project company was authorized,
under an authorization agreement, to perform development and planning works in the real
estate of the project (hereinafter: “the leasehold”) against a monthly payment of NIS
20,000. Upon the receipt of the Electricity Authority’s confirmation of the achievement of
the financial closing milestone in the project, the project company became entitled to
receive possession in the leasehold for a period of more than 20 years. To secure its
liabilities under the authorization agreement, the Company provided a bank guarantee in
favor of the Council in the amount of NIS 10 million, which was later replaced with a bank
guarantee in the amount of NIS 3 million against the transfer of possession in the leasehold.
See also Note 4b.
In December 2013, following a one-time advance payment of the lease fees in the amount
of approximately NIS 35 million, the purchase of appropriate insurance policies and the
provision of the aforesaid bank guarantee (all using monies that were made available for
this purpose by the Company), all as stipulated in the series of agreements between the
Company and the Council, possession in the leasehold was transferred to the project
company.
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a.
Information on the photovoltaic sector and relevant commitments (cont’d):
Construction of the project and engagement in a separation agreement:
Concurrently with the activities for the planning and development of the project, in the
second half of 2013 the project company took actions to replace the principal EPC and
O&M contractors (that included the Company) for Belectric Solar Kraft Werke GMBH
(hereinafter: “Belevctric”, a companby that is highly experienced in the construction of
facilities with a scale similar to that of the project and in the construction of photovoltaic
projects in Israel.
The EPC and O&M agreements are in a full turn-key format and include all of the aspects
that are required for the construction of the facility and the operation of the system, in
conformity with the regulation requirements and the technical aspects pertaining to this
type of project.
Within the framework of the construction of the project (but without detracting from the
accountability of Belectric), the Company is preparing to provide services to Belectric,
through various contractors (including IEC) as regarding the construction of the substation
that is necessary for the operation and connection of the project to the transmission
network. Shortly after the signing of the new EPC and O&M agreements, Beletric was
notified of the commencement of the construction work on the site, which commenced in
practice in January 2014. After balance sheet date, the Company pledged a deposit in the
amount of approximately 3 million against a bank guarantee that was provided to secure
its liabilities to the nominated contractor in relation to the construction of the substation in
the Neot Hovav project.
The maximum duration of the project’s construction through to the commencement of its
commercial operation (subject to the obtaining of all necessary approvals) is estimated at
18 months.
Concurrently with the signing of the EPC and O&M agreements with Belectric, a
separation agreement was signed with the group of the entrepreneurs from which the
project was acquired, including the EPC contractors that the project company engaged on
the date of the financial closing for the construction and operation of the project. As part
of the separation agreement, the parties agreed that: (a) the remaining monies that are due
to the entrepreneurs (or some of them), having already been paid NIS 17.6 million in
respect of half of the consideration for the shares, for the remaining payment on account of
the shares in the project company and the management services that have been provided
by the entrepreneurs to the project company through to the date of separation is NIS 42.75
million (hereinafter: “the remaining consideration”), half of which will be payable on the
date of receipt of the permanent license and half on the date of delivery of the system to
the project company (subsequebt to the commencement of commercial operation), but in
no event later than December 31, 2015 (b) all of the agreements between the parties in
connection with the construction and/or operation of the project will be canceled effective
immediately (3) a mutual waiver of contentions and/or claims will be provided, other than
in connection with the undertakings of the parties under the project acquisition agreement
and under the separation agreement as well as indemnification and offsetting clauses in
connection with breach of such undertakings.
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a.
Information on the photovoltaic sector and relevant commitments (cont’d):
Additionally, as part of the separation agreement, the Company granted a loan of
approximately NIS 21.4 million, this on account of the remaining consideration as
aforesaid. The loan is linked to the CPI and accrues interest at the rate of 6% a year (which
is paid quarterly) and is repayable in two equal installments in proximity to the date of
completion of the project (subject to adjustment mechanisms prescribed in the agreement).
The loan is repayable by way of offsetting the balance of the loan from the remaining
consideration that is due to the entrepreneurs for the sale of the shares and from other
amounts that are due to the sellers pursuant to the milestones that were determined by the
parties. For additional information on the offsetting of the loan granted against the balance
of the liability to the entrepreneurs, see Note 11 to the financial statements.
It is hereby clarified that the data presented above, including in relation to the anticipated
cost of construction and revenues, are based on information that is available to the
Company on the date of approval of the financial statements and on the anticipated output
of electricity of the system, which may change from time to time. Additionally, the
completion of the system’s construction and/or its connection to the electricity grid
depends on third parties that are not in the control of the Company and therefore there is
no certainty as to when and if they will be realized.
(5) Medium systems under initiation
The Group has 2 contingent licenses, as part of the regularization in Judea & Samaria,
which are in the stage of application for tariff approvals, with a total capacity of some 7.0
MWp (Company’s share: 4.0 MWp). The parties have agreed that, to the extent that the
system achieve tariff approvals, they are expected to be constructed with equity exclusively
and the Company is to serve as the EPC contractor of the projects.
In the reporting period, the Company, through the limited partnership, Energix Har Hevron,
received a positive indication from the Electricity Administration in the Civil
Administration of Judea & Samaria in relation to one of the abovementioned licenses for
the construction of a system with a capacity of 5 MWp (Company’s share: 2.5 MWp),
regarding the fulfillment of the requirements for receiving a tariff approval of 54 NIS cents
(CPI-linked) for every kWh that is generated by the system. To the date of the report,
approximately NIS 3.7 million was invested in the payment of capitalization fees to the
Israel Land Administration for the aforesaid project. The capitalization fees would be
reimbursed to the Company if the project is not constructed.
In this context it should be noted that following the reduction by the Electricity Authority,
in March 2013, of the tariff for medium systems that are constructed under the Judea &
Samaria quota to NIS 0.572 per kWh produced (subject to an adjustment mechanism), a
petition was filed with the High Court of Justice by various parties in relation to the
Authority’s decision to reduce the tariff. Consequently, the Electricity Staff Officer decided
to halt the issue of the tariff approvals, this until the High Court of Justice rules on the
aforesaid petition.
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a.
Information on the photovoltaic sector and relevant commitments (cont’d):
Furthermore, the Group, through Granot Energy, has a project with a capacity of some 0.62
MWp (Company’s share: 0.31 MWp) and a tariff of NIS 0.54 per generated kWh, for which
the Electricity Authority has confirmed the achievement of the financial closing milestone.
To the date of approval of the financial statements, the partnership is considering the
economic feasibility of the construction of the project.
It is hereby clarified that in view of the excess of contingent licenses issued over the
existing unutilized quotas and as well as over the quota in Judea & Samaria, and in view
of the complexity of the regulatory and statutory proceedings with the Civil Administration
in Judea & Samaria, the Company has no assurance that contingent tariff approvals will be
issued for additional projects.
(6) Engagement between the Company and Granot Energy, Limited Partnership
The Company has entered into a cooperation agreement with the Granot Centeral
Agricultural Cooperative Union Ltd., for the construction of photovoltaic system on the
premises of various kibbutzim, under which the parties established a limited partnership Granot Amot Energy, Limited Partnership (hereinafter: “Granot Energy”), that constructs
and owns the systems set up within the framework of the cooperation. The parties have
agreed that the assets of Granot Energy will be owned and its expenses will be financed in
equal parts by the parties. It has further been agreed that the Company will manage and
oversee the construction and operation of the systems in return for management fees at the
rate of 6% of the facility construction costs. To the date of approval of the financial
statements, Granot Energy has 4 systems that are connected to the grid with a total capacity
of 2.8 MWp (Company’s share: 1.4 MWp). For additional information on the systems
constructed under the cooperation with Granot, see Note 12a(2) to the consolidated
financial statements.
For information on the consideration for management fees to which the Company is
entitled, at the rate of 6% of the construction costs of the facilities constructed by the
partnership, aggregating NIS 1.1 million (net of the share of the Company), see Note 14b.
(7) Rent agreements
The Group has entered into rent agreements with owners of rooftops and/or holders of
rights in lands for the purpose of installing photovoltaic systems (the signing of a rent
agreement is a prerequisite for an application to license a photovoltaic system).
1. Rent agreements with Amot (a related company of the Company) - the Company
has entered into agreements with Amot in connection with the renting of rooftops on
which small and medium systems were erected and connected to the electricity grid.
The aforesaid engagements have been assigned to Energix Projects 1, Limited
Partnership within the framework of the acquisition of the small and medium systems
that were acquired by the partnership from the Company and as part of a direct
agreement, to which Amot is also a party, that was signed under the series of agreements
between Energix Projects 1, Limited Partnership and the financing party. The direct
agreement also provides for the rights of the financing party to succeed the partnership
in the event that the financing agreements are breached and to register a lien on all of
the rights of the partnership under the rent agreements in its favor, to secure the
liabilities of the partnership under the financing agreements. For additional information
on the financing transaction, see Note 12a(3).
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a.
Information on the photovoltaic sector and relevant commitments (cont’d):
Pursuant to the aforesaid rent agreements, the Group rents the rooftop of the building
for a period of 20 years commencing on the date of delivery of possession of the rooftop
in return for monthly rental at the rate of 10% of the actual receipts of the Company
from IEC for the electricity generated in respect of each of the systems. The agreement
includes a minimum rental mechanism.
2.

Medium systems on rooftops in cooperation with Granot - the contracts are for a
consideration that reflects a payment at the rate of 10%-12% of the revenues received
from IEC (for the electricity sold to the grid, computed annually), but not less than an
amount of approximately NIS 18,000 a year for every 1,000 sq.m. in use. To the date
of approval of the financial statements, the Company has 4 medium systems that are
owned by the partnership, Granot Energy (in which the Company holds 50% interest),
that are subject to the aforesaid mechanism.
It is hereby clarified that, in practice, the rental that is paid by the Group in respect of
the connected systems is higher than the minimum amount payable.

3. Presented below is information on the future minimum rental that is payable in
respect of rent contracts that may not be canceled by the Company in respect of
systems that were connected to the electricity grid (the aforesaid amounts do not
include the future minimum rental that is payable for connected facilities in the Granot
Energy (an equity-accounted partnership in which the Company holds 50% interest):

NIS in thousands

Up to one year
Second to fifth year

746
2,982
9,681

More than five years

13,409

Total rent expenses recorded in respect of the Company’s connected systems in 2013
amounted to approximately NIS 898,000 (and are higher than the minimum rental).
Medium systems on lands - the Company has agreed with its partners in both of the projects
in Judea & Samaria, as described in Note 12a(5) above, that no rental will be paid for the use
of the land.
Large systems on lands - the Company has paid in advance the rental for the use of the land
in the Neot Hovav project over a period of 20 years commencing on the date of connection of
the system. See Note 7b above.
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b. Information on the activities of the wind energy sector and relevant engagements The Company (through the Group companies) engages in the development and initiation of
projects in the field of wing energy in Israel and Poland. The Company has engaged with third
parties in transactions for construction of and cooperation in wind energy projects in Israel and
Poland with an aggregate capacity of some 400 MW.
The operations of the Company in the wind energy sector in Israel and Poland are materially
affected by regulation aspects:
Regularization in Israel:
In July 2011, the Israeli Government decided to allocate a quota of 800 MW for the generation
of electricity using wind energy. In October 2011, the Electricity Authority determined that
the tariff for such regularization will be NIS 0.53 per kWh produced (to date, the tariff is 46.8
NIS cents per kWh) for facilities that are issued a tariff approval by December 31, 2014 or
until the utilization of a 440 MW quota. Thereafter, the tariff will be reduced to NIS 0.49 per
kWh produced (to date, the tariff is 43.2 NIS cents per kWh), this until December 31, 2017 or
until the full utilization of the quota and will be subject to the linkage mechanism that is set
out in the regularization. To the best of the Company’s knowledge, the quota is fully available
and no projects have yet been approved under it.
The tariff for the purchase of the electricity will be secured for a period of 20 years.
(1) Project initiation activities in Israel
The activities of the Company in Israel are the initiation and development of wind projects,
fully owned or in partnership, commencing in the initial stages of the project. The
Company has several engagements with third parties in relation to projects that are in
planning stages and projects that are in the stages of preliminary feasibility testing, as
follows:
a)

On December 19, 2013, the Company entered into an agreement to invest in a private
company that holds rights for the initiation and development of a project for the
construction of a wind farm in the Golan Heights with an estimated capacity of some
155 MW (hereinafter: “the project company” and “the CWE project, respectively).
Pursuant to the investment agreement, subject to the fulfillment of the suspending
conditions of the transaction, the capital structure of the project company, such that
the Company would be allotted 100% of the shares conferring management rights in
the project company (including the appointment of all members of the Board of
Directors) and 75% of the shares conferring the right to receive a dividend in the
project company. Upon the completion of the transaction, the Company will take
actions for the development and financing of the CWE project, including the
provision of the required equity on the date of the financial closing of the CWE
project, to the extent that the project reaches the financial closing stage. Based on
information that is currently available to it, the Company estimates the cost of
construction of the CWE project at approximately NIS 1 billion and the total annual
revenues from the sale of electricity
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b.
Information on the activities of the wind energy sector and relevant engagements
(cont’d):
(1) Project initiation activities in Israel (cont’d)
at approximately NIS 201 million a year (based on the anticipated regularization
tariff at this reporting date in the amount of approximately 43.2 NIS cents).
According to the information that was provided to the Company, the CWE project
has been in the stages of development in the past 8 years. Within this framework, the
project had been previously issued a contingent license and was recognized as a
national infrastructure project and has even entered planning proceedings with the
Committee for National Infrastructure.
In 2011, the holder of the license having failed to achieve the milestones of the
contingent license, the contingent license expired and the proceedings with the
Committee for National Infrastructure was put on hold. The completion of the
transaction is contingent upon various conditions, including the receipt of the Court’s
approval of a composition of creditors in the project company and the receipt of all
of the approvals that are required for the approval of the transaction and the transfer
of the control in the project company to the Company. Subsequent to the date of the
report, the Company notified the project company of its intention to advance the
achievement of the milestones that are required for the completion of the transaction,
and at the same time started preparing for the furtherance of the CWE project. Within
this framework, the Company is holding discussions with functions in the Ministry
of Defense concerning options for the development of the project. At this stage, the
feasibility of the construction of the CWE project cannot be estimated.
b)

The Company has engaged with two kibbutzin in the Ramot Menashe region to
develop and erect two wind projects on the premises of the kibbutzim with an
estimated total capacity of up to 35 MW. The Company’s share in the cooperative
that will be established is 74%. As part of the agreement, the cooperative will enter
into a rent/authorization agreement with the kibbutzim in relation to the area of the
project. The Company will bear all of the project development expenses. Both
projects have been recommended in the report of the interministerial team for the
consideration of wind farm compounds. To the extent that the projects achieves
financial closing. Based on information that is currently available to it, the Company
estimates the cost of construction of the project at approximately NIS 210 million
and the total annual revenues from the sale of electricity at approximately NIS 35.5
million a year (based on the regularization tariff at this reporting date in the amount
of approximately 43.2 NIS cents and assuming a facility capacity of 35 MW).

c)

The Company is working to advance and develop a wind project on private lands in
the Galilee with a total capacity of up to 35 MW. The compound in which the
Company is working to advance the project has been recommended in the report of
the interministerial team for the consideration of wind farm compounds. To the
extent that the projects achieves financial closing. Based on information that is
currently available to it, the Company estimates the cost of construction of the project
at approximately NIS 250 million and the total annual revenues from the sale of
electricity at approximately NIS 35.5 million a year (based on the regularization tariff
at this reporting date in the amount of approximately 43.2 NIS cents and assuming a
facility capacity of 35 MW).
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b.
Information on the activities of the wind energy sector and relevant engagements
(cont’d):
d)

The Company has reached agreements with several kibbutzim in relation to the
development of wind projects with an estimated total capacity of up to 70 MW on
the premises of the kibbutzim. The Company will work to advance the projects if the
parties manage to complete the binding agreements between the parties. The share
of the Company in the cooperative that would be erected if binding agreements are
signed is 74%. Based on information that is currently available to the Company,
should the project achieve financial closing, the Company estimates the cost of
construction of the project at approximately NIS 450 million and the total annual
revenues from the sale of electricity at approximately NIS 71 million a year (based
on the regularization tariff at this reporting date in the amount of approximately 43.2
NIS cents and assuming a facility capacity of 70 MW).
In view of the aforesaid, the overall capacity of the projects that are being developed
by the Company in the wind sector in Israel is close to 295 MW (Company’s share:
229 MW) and it is the intention of the Company to continue investing in additional
projects, if any.
It is hereby clarified that all of the projects that are being developed by the Company
in Israel are in preliminary stages of initiation and are subject to examinations of
practicability, economic feasibility and the completion of the regulatory proceeding,
which may change from time to time. Accordingly, there is no certainty as to the
construction and/or connection of the projects to the electricity grid as well as the
actual cost of their construction or the volume of revenues that may be derived from
them, to the extent that the construction of the facility is completed. Subject to the
aforesaid, the Company belies that projects that are advanced by the Company and
achieve the tariff approval milestone could reach the financial closing stage during
the years 2015-2017.

(2) Project initiation activities in Poland
Regularization in Poland:
Pursuant to the existing regularization in Poland, a producer of electricity from renewable
energy, including using wind technology, sells the electricity that it produces on the
electricity exchange or to the local distributors. According to the regularization, the local
distributor (the owner of transmission system in the location where the electricity is
generated) is required to purchase the electricity that is generated at the wind farm at the
price that is determined and published by the regulator. This price is determined annually
in reference to the average price of electricity in the previous year. The price in 2013 was
201.36 zloty per 1 MW.
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b.
Information on the activities of the wind energy sector and relevant engagements
(cont’d):
(2) Project initiation activities in Poland (cont’d)
In addition to the right to sell the generated electricity, in order to motivate entrepreneurs
to invest in renewable energy projects in Poland, Poland has adopted the TGC (Tradeable
Green Certificates) mechanism. Pursuant to the mechanism, Green Certificates are issued
to producers of electricity using renewable energy. The Green Certificates transferable to
producers of electricity that do not use renewable energy as well as to institutions selling
electricity to end consumers and commodity brokers (hereinafter: “electricity dealers”)
and may be traded on the commodity exchange. Electricity dealers are required by law to
obtain and submit to the Energy Authority in Poland Green Certificates at a certain
percentage of their total electricity sales or alternatively to pay a fee (hereinafter: “the
substitute fee”) The amount of the substitute fee determined by the Polish regulator id
currently 297.35 zloty per 1 MWh, index-linked.
Over the past two years, the Polish regulator has been working on a proposed amendment
to the existing Energy Law by way of renewable energy legislation. The purpose of the
bill is to regulate the renewable energy market in the country so that it meets its obligations
to the European Union and complies with the formal policy of the government. In 2013,
several drafts of the bill were published, causing uncertainty in the market, this alongside
the drop of the prices of the Green Certificates and electricity to an historic low on the
Polish exchange that directly affected the ability to obtain bank financing for wind
projects.
Following is information on the principal projects:
a) In October 2012, the Company and unrelated third parties (hereinafter: “the Sellers”)
entered into a memorandum of understanding and a series of contingent agreements for
the acquisition of shares in two project companies that each hold rights in wind-farm
projects in Poland (one with a capacity of some 60MW and the other with a capacity of
some 40MW) in advanced licensing stages, for the development, construction and
operation of wind farms and for the sale of the electricity that is generated by them to the
electricity grid in Poland. The projects are located in adjacent areas in the north-east of
Poland. The Company found the results of the legal, technical and financial due diligence
of the projects to be satisfactoru, subject to the fulfillment of certain conditions and the
completion of certain issues as agreed upon between the Company and the sellers.
Following the announcement of the Company of its conditional satisfaction with the due
diligence, 100% of the shares in the project companies were transferred to the Company.
It is hereby clarified that the agreement prescribes several material milestones, such as
completion of the entrepreneur’s obligations for the development of the project, obtaining
terms of connection to the electricity grid from the local electricity distributor and
achievement of financial closing, all to the satisfaction of the Company. If the milestones
are not met, the Company may cancel the agreement and transfer its rights in the project
to the entrepreneur against the reimbursement of its expenses. If the project achieves
financial closing, the payment foe the license will be made in three installments:
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b.
Information on the activities of the wind energy sector and relevant engagements
(cont’d):

b)

First installment - after the financial closing date of each of the wind farms, the Company
will pay the sellers € 70,000 for every installed 1MW.
Second installment - upon the connection to the electricity grid of each of the wind farms,
the Company will pay the sellers € 70,000 for every installed 1MW.
Third installment - a maximum payment of € 55,000 for every installed 1MW, based on
the actual revenues of the farm in the first three years of operation. The Company believes
that the chances of the sellers to receive this consideration are low and will only be payable
if the output of the farm significantly exceeds projections.
To the date of the report and according to the inquiries of the Company with the local
electricity distributor regarding its ability to receive the energy, there may be limitations
to the maximum capacity that will be installed in each of the wind farms, this in view of
the state of the existing electricity grid and the upgrades that it requires. Nevertheless, a
final response has yet to be received from the electricity distributor as to the maxumum
capacity that may be connected to the existing electricity grid.
Assuming an estimated cost of construction of an installed 1MW of approximately € 1.6
million, the total investment in the projects is estimated at approximately € 160 million.
Assuming that the projects are funded, as customary, by a financier at the rate of 75%,
then the portion of equity that the Company would be required to invest (in both projects
jointly, if both are approved as above) is estimated at approximately € 40 million
(approximately NIS 190 million).
To the date of the report, the Company has decided not to invest material amounts in the
advancement of the projects in Poland pending regulatory and legal certainty with respect
to the regularization that will apply to wind facilities in Poland.
During the reporting period, the Company notified its partners to a wind project in Poland
with a total capacity of 37.5MW that was in the stages of financial closing that it is
unwilling to invest in the project under new conditions that were required by the financiers
on the backdrop of the regulatory uncertainty in the electricity market in Poland and
following the sharp drop in the prices of Green Certificates shortly before the issue of the
notification. In view of the position of the partners in the project company, pursuant to
which they intend to move forward to financial closing in the original format, the Company
has agreed with its parties on a mechanism for the separation of the parties. Pursuant to
the formulated mechanism, in May 2013 the Company received approximately € 613,000
(approximately NIS 2.8 million) in addition to the refund of a deposit in the amount of €
3.6 million to the Company at the beginning of April 2013 in return for the sale of the
Company’s holdings. The capital gain that was derived by the Company from said sale is
approximately 0.6 million.
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c. Additional engagements with related parties
- As to a management agreement with Alony Hetz, see Note 15a below.
- As to an agreement for the rent of offices with Amot, see Note 15e below.
- As to agreements for the rent of rooftops that are owned by Amot, see Note 12a(7) above.
- As to a memorandum of agreement in connection with the future rental of rooftops that are
owned by Amot, see Note 15b(2) below.
- As to agreements concerning the operation of systems in a limited partnership that is 50%
owned by the Company, see Note 15h below.
- As to an agreement for substation construction services that are provided to by the Company
to the principal nominated EPC contractor of the Neot Hovav project, through engagements
with subcontractors, see Note 12a(4) above.
- As to an agreement for the rent of rooftops from related entities of Granot, see Note 12a7(2).
Note 13 - Share Capital
a. Presented below are the composition of and movement in the share capital of the Company in
nominal NIS:
Authorized

Date
December 31
, 2010

Change

May 2, 2011
December 31
, 2011
December 31
, 2012

Initial public offering

In April 2013
December 31
, 2013

Issued and
paid-in

Authorized

Ordinary shares of
NIS 1 par
NIS 0.01
value
par value

Issued and
paid-in

Ordinary shares of
NIS 1 par
NIS 0.01
value
par value

500,000,000

16,625,000

-

119,775,190

Closing balance

500,000,000

136,400,190

Closing balance
Exercise of share options
(series 1)

500,000,000

136,400,190

-

31,349,860

Closing balance

500,000,000

167,750,050

Opening balance

b. Share-based payment - for information on share options granted to the CEO of the Company in
2010 and share options granted to the CEO, an officer in the Company and to its employees in 2011
and in 2013, see Note 16. As to options granted after the reporting date, see Note 22f and d.
c. Capital raising 1.
On May 1, 2011, the Company raised capital of approximately NIS 146 million by way of a
non-uniform offer to the holders of shares and convertible securities of Amot Investments
Ltd. (the former parent company prior to the issue and a subsidiary of Alony Hetz Properties
and Investments Ltd.) under a prospectus published by it in April 2011, under which the
Company offered 119,775,190 ordinary shares, registered in name, of NIS 0.01 par value
each of the Company and 47,910,076 options (series 1) that are exercisable into ordinary
shares for an exercise price of NIS 1.5 per share (unlinked) until April 5, 2013. The shares of
the Company and the options (series 1) have been listed for trade on the Tel Aviv Stock
Exchange Ltd. and their trading commenced on May 5, 2011.
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c.
Capital raising (cont’d):
2.

In April 2013, 31.35 million options (series 1) have been exercised into shares of the
Company. The immediate consideration from the exercise of said options amounted to
approximately NIS 47 million (an exercise price of NIS 1.5 per option) with a corresponding
increase in the equity of the Company. The majority of the shares have been exercised by the
controlling shareholder in the Company, Alony Hetz Properties and Investments Ltd., that
even engaged in the purchase of options and shares from third parties. Following the
additional investment, the percentage holding of Alony Hetz in the equity of the Company
increased to 66.7%.
In May 2013, the Company published a shelf prospectus, under which the Company may
initiate asnother capital raising within a period of up to three years from the date of publication
of the prospectus, to the extent required for its operations, and subject to the approval of the
Securities Authority, until May 2016.

3.

Note 14 - Additional Information on Items of Revenues and Expenses
a.

Revenues from the sale of electricity The total revenues of the Group from the sale of electricity, which amounted to
approximately NIS 8,982 thousands in 2013, derive from the electricity generated by 30
small photovoltaic systems at an average tariff of NIS 1.82 (CPI-linked) per generated
kWh, the construction of which was completed in the years 2010-2012 and from the
electricity gernerated by two medium systems that were connected to the electricity grid
in December 2012 ar an average tariff of NIS 1.50 (CPI-linked).
The revenues of the Group from the sale of electricity are affected by seasonality due to
changes in weather conditions. Sunlight is weaker in the first and fourth quarters whereas
it is stronger in the second and third quarters.

b.

Other revenues, net - other revenues in 2013 are due mainly to the payment received
for the management and oversight services that the Company provided to the equityaccounted partnership, Granot Energy (close to NIS 1,081 thousands), and to
compensation received by the Company from a supplier of converters in respect of
damages caused to the converters during the warranty period (close to NIS 0.5 milion).

c.

Rooftop rental expenses - represent about 10% of the turnover from the sale of
electricity. See Note 12a(7) above.

d.

System maintenance expenses - primarily in respect of day-to-day servicing of the
panels, insurance expenses, storage of equipment and communications relating to remote
access to the meters of the photovoltaic systems.
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e.

Payroll and related expenses
Year ended December 31
2013
NIS in
thousands

2012
NIS in
thousands

2011
NIS in
thousands

Payroll and related expenses (*)

4,717

2,983

2,131

Vehicle maintenance

550
1,257
6,524

350
761
4,094

175
560
2,866

Share-based payment (see Note 16)

(*) As to the terms of employment of the CEO and the CFO, see Note 15i.
f.

Administrative, headquarters and other expenses
Year ended December 31
2013

2012

2011

NIS in thousands

NIS in thousands

NIS in thousands

Management fees to the
parent company (**)
Management fees to the
former parent company
Professional fees
Office and other

885

772

352

1,285
1,249
3,419

735
(*) 1,098
2,605

90
862
871
2,175

(*) See Note 2i as to reclassification.
(*) See Note 15a.
g.

Initiation expenses - Include expenses in respect of investments in impracticable
projects and projects for which the conditions for capitalization to systems under
construction have not yet been fulfilled. See Note 3i.

h.

Financing expenses
Year ended December 31

Commissions
Interest on loans from Amot
Exchange differences, net
CPI-linkage differences in
respect of loans from Amot
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2013

2012

2011

NIS in thousands

NIS in thousands

NIS in thousands

148
432

67
-

56
450
-

580

67

274
780
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i.

Financing income
Year ended December 31
2013
NIS in
thousands

Exchange differences, net
Interest from loan and other debtors
Interest on loans granted, bank deposits,
deposits and marketable securities (*)

2012
NIS in
thousands

2011
NIS in
thousands

227

69
-

34
157

2,047
2,274

3,164
3,233

2,166
2,357

(*) In 2013, includes interest income of NIS 1.1 million from a loan granted to an equity-accounted
limited partnership that is 50% held by the Company (2012: NIS 1.3 million).

Note 15 - Transactions with Related and Interested Parties
a.

Management agreements
Management agreement with Alony Hetz
The Company has entered into a management agreement with Alony Hetz (that in May 2011
became the direct controlling shareholder in in the Company) for a period of 3 years commencing
on July 1, 2011. Pursuant to the agreement, Alony Hetz is to provide management and support
services to the Company through its employees, inter alia, in the following areas: management
and formulation of a business strategy; establishment of a business policy; business development;
provision of headquarters and control services; assistance in debt management and credit dources;
assistance in examining new investments and engagement in new transactions; assistance in
examining new markets overseas; consulting in relation to improving the efficiency of processes;
assistance in capital raising and in connection with rating agencies, underwrites, distributors,
institutional and other investors; financial consulting and guidance in relation to the banking
system; assistance in the management of surplus cash, assistance in tax issues, assistance in
accounting issues and legal issues. Additionally, Alony Hetz will make its employees available
to the Company, without additional payment, to serve as directors (subject to the approval of
nominations by the general meeting), including the office of Mr. Nathan Hetz, CEO of Alony
Hetz, as the executive Chairman of the Company’s Board of Directors.
In consideration for the management services, the Company will pay Alony Hetz the following
amounts, with the addition of VAT as required by law: a fixed amount of NIS 150 thousands per
quarter, linked to the CPI and a variable quarterly amount at the rate of 0.125% (i.e. 0.5% on an
annual basis) of the original cost in the accounts of the Company of its electricity generation
facilities that are producing electricity in practice.
At the general meeting it was decided that the cumulative variable amounts that will be payable
by the Company to Alony Hetz every calendar year shall not exceed NIS 3 million, linked to the
CPI. The managements fees to Alony Hetz in 2013 amounted to approximately NIS 885
thousands. See also Note 14f.
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b. Rooftop rent agreements with Amot
(1) General
As to the engagements of the Company and its wholly owned limited partnership in agreements
for the rent of rooftops that are owned by Amot, in the ordinary course of business of the Group,
see Note 12a(7) above.
(2) Memorandum of agreement for the future rental of rooftops from Amot
In the reporting period, the Company was a party to a memorandum of agreement concerning
the future rental of rooftops that are owned by Amot (an interested party in the Company),
which determines, inter alia, that to the extent that Amot decides to rent any of its rooftops for
the installation of solar systems, and the Company would be interested in such rental, the
Company will pay rent at the rate of 10% (ten percent) of the actual receipts of the Company
from the Essential Service Provider/IEC for the electricity generated by the system to which
the related rent agreement relates.
c.

Ratification of the bearing by Alony Hetz of part of the cost of employment of an employee
in the Company
On April 6, 2011, the Company’s Board of Directors decided to ratify the agreement between
the Company and Alony Hetz, pursuant to which the Company charges to Alony Hetz 50% of
the cost of employment of an employee in the Company or any other rate as shall be agreed
between the parties. The employee is a bookkeeper that provides bookkeeping services to the
Company and to companies in the Alony Hetz Group.

d.

Employment of a relative of the controlling shareholder
The Company’s Audit Committee and Board of Directors, in their meetings on August 10, 2011,
approved the entering by the Company into an agreement for the employment of Mr. Tush, the
son-in-law of Mr. Nathan Hetz, a controlling shareholder in Alony Hetz Properties and
Investments Ltd., the controlling shareholder in the Company, as a project coordinator for a
salary that does not exceed the average salary in the market.
On April 30, 2013, the general meeting of shareholders of the Company approved (following
the approval by the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors) the engagement in a new
agreement, pursuant to which, effective from January 1, 2013, Mr. Tush will be employed as
project manager under the following terms:
 Gross salary of NIS 15 thousands per month for a ll time position (includes a global overtime
component).
 An annual bonus of up to 4 gross salaries, at the discretion of the CEO and as customary in
the Company.
 A company car.
 Related benefits, including social benefits, subsistence supplement, mobile telephone as
customary in the Company as well as 12 days of vacation (the number of which will be updated
as required by law).
 Grant of 500 thousands options of the 2,350 thousands options approved by the Board of
Directors on March 10, 2013 for allocation to several employees.
In the fourth quarter of 2013, Mr. Tush started serving in a business development position in the
Company. Other than the change in the job description, there has been no other change in the
terms of his employment.
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e.

Agreements for the rent of offices from Amot
In June 2011 and in several other expansions, the Company entered into agreements with Amot
for the rent of offices and parking spaces. To the date of the report, the Company rents 360
sq.m. and 6 parking spaces (2012: 268 sq.m. and 5 parking spaces).
The cost of rent of the offices and parking spaces from Amot amounted to approximately NIS
407 thousands in 2013, NIS 344 thousands in 2012 and NIS 167 thousands in 2011.

f.

Management agreements with Granot Energy
For information of a service agreement for the construction and management of solar systems
that was signed between the Company and investee entities that are jointly controlled by the
Company, see Note 12a(6) above.

g.

Purchase of crime insurance together with Amot and Alony Hetz
The Company has a joint insurance policy with Alony Hetz and Amot. The cost of the insurance
amounted to approximately NIS 13 thousands in 2013.

h.

O&M agreements with partnerships
The Company provides O&M services for photovoltaic systems that are owned by a limited
partnership (in which the Company holds 50%). Pursuant to the agreement between the
Company and the limited partnership, the Company is entitled to fixed operation fees in the
amount of NIS 433 thousands a year, linked to the CPI, for repairs and handling of malfunctions
as well as other services that are required for the proper function of the facilities, including cleaning the panels, routine checkups, inspection by an electrical engineer and a technician,
monitoring and supervision of the performance of the systems. The fixed payments are linked
to the CPI.

i.

Benefits to key management personnel (including directors)
The Company has three senior officers - the CEO of the Company, the CFO and the Internal
Auditor. Presented below are the terms of employment of the CEO and the CFO of the
Company:


Benefits to the CEO of the Company
According to the employment agreement of the Company CEO, as amended, the gross
monthly salary of the CEO until the end of June 2013 amounted to NIS 48 thousands, linked
to the CPI, and as from July 2013 and thereafter amounts to NIS 60 thousands, linked to the
CPI (provided that it does not fall below NIS 60 thousands). Additionally, the CEO of the
Company is entitled to social benefits, as customary, and a company car for which the
maintenance expenses are borne by the Company. The agreement is effective until July 3,
2017 (3 years from the date of approval by the general meeting) and either of the parties may
terminate the new agreement with 90 days advance notice. As part of the agreements between
the parties, Mr. Levinger shall not be entitled to a further salary raise for his employment in
the Company until December 31, 2014 (without prejudice to the rights of the Company to
grant bonuses to the CEO of the Company in accordance with the compensation policy and
the terms of Mr. Levinger’s employment in the Company).
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i.

Benefits to key management personnel (including directors) (cont’d)
To the date of issue of this report, the monthly cost of employment of the Company CEO
(employer cost) amounts to approximately NIS 83 thousands (without bonuses).
In 2013, payroll and related expenses in respect of the Company CEO amounted to
approximately NIS 1,853 thousands (includes a share option of NIS 882 thousands, of which
NIS 225 thousands relates to equity-based compensation in lieu of a cash bonus for his work
in the Company in 2012, NIS 304 thousands relates to equity-based compensation in lieu of
a cash bonus for his work in the Company in 2013, and a cash bonus of NIS 125 thousands
for his work in the Company in 2013).
 Benefits to the CFO of the Company
According to the employment agreement of the Company CFO, as amended, the gross
monthly salary of the CFO until the end of April 2013 amounted to NIS 30 thousands, linked
to the CPI (on the basis of the CPI for December 2011 published on January 15, 2012), and
as from May 2013 and thereafter amounts to NIS 36 thousands, linked to the CPI, on the
basis of the latest CPI published prior to the updating of the salary (provided that it does not
fall below NIS 36 thousands). Additionally, the CFO of the Company is entitled to customary
social benefits and related benefits, an extra salary in the amount of the monthly salary as
well as supplemental medical insurance for him and his family.
To the date of issue of this report, the monthly cost of employment of the Company CFO
(employer cost) amounts to approximately NIS 57 thousands.
In 2013, payroll and related expenses in respect of the Company CFO amounted to
approximately NIS 1,169 thousands (includes a share option of NIS 222 thousands and a
bonus of NIS 222 thousands for his work in 2013).
The CFO notified the termination of his office in the Company shortly after the issue of the
financial statements. As part of the termination of his office and in view of the contribution
of the CFO to the Company, upon the termination of his office, the Company’s Board of
Directors, at the recommendation of the Compensation Committee, approved the full
acceleration of the exercise dates of the 600 thousands options that were granted to him as
part of his work in the Company and have not yet vested at the date of the termination of his
employment in the Company. Consequently, the Company will record in its financial
statements for 2014 an expense of NIS 96 thousands in respect of the remaining benefit of
the options that were allotted to him and have not yet been amortized as at December 31,
2013.
 Benefits to the Internal Auditor of the Company
The total payments to which the Internal Auditor of the Company in 2013 amounts to NIS
25 thousands in respect of internal audited services that he has provided to the Company
during the year.

j.

Directors and officers
Insurance of directors and officers
The insurance arrangement is an umbrella arrangement for the entire Alony Hetz Group that
includes the directors and officers in Alony Hetz, in Amot and in the Company as well as
directors that are appointed by Alony Hetz in CARR (a company that is active in the real estate
sector in Washington). The arrangement is for a period of 6 years commencing on July 1, 2013
and ending at the end of June 2019.
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j.

Directors and officers (cont’d)
Pursuant to this arrangement, the limit of the liability is US$ 50 million per instance and for the
period with the addition of coverage of legal expenses and the maximum premium shall not
exceed US$ 70 thousands (for the entire Group) (with an option of a maximum increase of an
additional 50% in the event of price hikes). According to the aforesaid arrangement, Alony Hetz
purchased a policy for the period from July 1, 2013 to June 30, 2014 with a liability limit of
US$ 40 million with the addition of coverage of legal expenses in accordance with Section 66
of the Insurance Contract Law, 1981. Under the terms of the policy, there is no deductible for
the officers themselves and the deductible of the entities that are insured under the policy is
US$ 7,500 and US$ 35 thousands in the event of a claim in the United States/Canada. The
annual premium for the period from July 1, 2013 to June 30, 2014 (the Company’s share) is
approximately US$ 3 thousands (the amount was determined in reference to the ratio of the
equity of the three companies as per their latest financial statements prior to the purchase of the
policy).
The general meeting of the Company approved (following the approval by the Audit
Committee/the Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors of the Company) the
aforesaid arrangements, including the participation of the Company in the premium for the
policies that are purchased by Alony Hetz under the aforesaid umbrella arrangement, in
proportion to the equity of Amot, of Alony Hetz and of the Company itself. The Audit
Committee/the Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors further approved the
application of all of the aforesaid arrangements also to officers who are controlling shareholders
or their relatives as may be from time to time, this in accordance with Regulation 1B(5) of the
Exemptions Regulations.
Indemnification and release of directors and officers
On October 4, 2011, the general meeting approved a change in the Articles of Association of
the Company, and the corresponding inclusion of the changes in the letter of indemnity, and to
the extent required the expansion of the insurance policy, of officers in the Company, to the
effect that the Company is permitted to indemnify and insure directors and officers in the
Company (including from among the controlling shareholders or their relatives) in respect of
events and expenses that are permitted in indemnification and insurance under the Law for the
Efficiency of Enforcement Proceedings in the Securities Authority (Legislation Amendments),
2011 (“the Administrative Enforcement Law”).
The amount of indemnification that shall be payable by the Company to all or any of the officers
in the Company in the aggregate under all of the letters of indemnity that have been or will be
issued to them, will be limited to a total amount that shall not exceed 25% of the equity of the
Company as per the most recent consolidated financial statements published by the Company
prior to the actual payment of the indemnification or NIS 40 million, whichever is higher. It is
hereby clarified that in relation to directors and officers that are appointed after the date of the
general meeting (October 4, 2011) as well as for Mr. Nathan Hetz, the aggregate indemnification
will not exceed 25% of the equity of the Company per the most recent (consolidated) financial
statements published by the Company prior to the actual payment of the indemnification.
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j.

Directors and officers (cont’d)
Directors’ remuneration
Pursuant to a resolution that was passed by the Company, directors in the Company that are not
employed by the Alony Hetz Group will be paid an annual remuneration and a remuneration for
their participation in meetings of the Board of Directors and its committees in the sum of the
“fixed amount” within its meaning in the Companies Regulations (Rules regarding
Compensation and Expenses of an Outside Director), 2000 (“the Compensation
Regulations”). In accordance with the Compensation Regulations and based on the equity of
the Company as per its financial statements as at December 31, 2012, the Company has a C
rating.
To the date of issue of this report, the fixed annual remuneration is approximately NIS 49
thousands and the fixed remuneration for participation in a meeting is approximately NIS 2,500
(these amounts are updated from time to time based on the updating mechanism that is set out
in the Compensation Regulations).
The total aggregate payments received by outside directors and directors in 2013 is NIS 333
thousands.
 Benefits to key management personnel of the Company who are employed in the Group
(with the exception of directors’ fees all amounts relate to the CEO of the Company and
its CFO)
Number of recipients
2013

Directors’ fees
Short-term
employee
benefits
Postemployment
benefits
Other long-term
benefits
Share-based
payment

2012

2011

Year ended December 31
2013
NIS in
thousands

2012
NIS in
thousands

2011
NIS in
thousands

3

3

3

333

329

90

2

2

2

1,675

1,128

1,107

2

2

2

89

78

61

2

2

2

214

199

164

2

2

2

1,044
3,355

556
2,290

533
1,955

in the reporting period, no benefits were paid to key management personnel that are not
employed in the Group other then directors’ remuneration as described above.
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k.

Additional information on balances and transactions with related parties
Balances with related parties
December 31
2013
NIS in
thousands

Current assets
Receivables and debit balances - limited partnership (1)
Receivables and debit balances - other related companies (2)
Liabilities
Trade payables and other payables and credit balances loans from non-controlling interests
Trade payables and other payables and credit balances (Amot
Investments)
Trade payables and other payables and credit balances other related companies
Trade payables and other payables and credit balances
(Alony Hetz)
Accrued expenses - directors’ remuneration

2012
NIS in thousands

1,154
1,154

199
218
417

3,000

12,667

3

104

61

17

462

182

64

97

(1) Highest balance in 2013 - NIS 1,594 thousands (excluding loans and investments in the
partners’ equity in a limited partnership in the amount of NIS 18,968 thousands) and in
2012 - NIS 4,632 thousands.
(2) Highest balance in 2013 - NIS 40 thousands and in 2012 - NIS 995 thousands. Excluding
receivables and debit balances with Amot that represent receipts receivable for the sale of
electricity to IEC.
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k.

Additional information on balances and transactions with related parties (cont’d)
Transactions with related parties
Year ended December 31

Revenues from the sale of
electricity from facilities
located on rooftops of the
former parent company or
its subsidiaries
Expenses for the rent of
rooftops from the former
parent company or its
subsidiaries
Expenses for the rent of
offices from Amot
Expenses in respect of
management fees to the
parent company
Expenses in respect of
management fees to the
former parent company
Expenses for directors’
remuneration
Financing expenses on loans
from the former parent
company
Financing income received
from a limited partnership
Revenues from management
and oversight services to a
limited partnership
Revenues from operation
services to a limited
partnership
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2013

2012

2011

NIS in thousands

NIS in thousands

NIS in thousands

8,503

4,323

3,250

850

432

349

407

344

167

885

772

352

-

-

90

333

329

90

-

-

724

1,138

1,309

-

1,081

-

-

74

-

-
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a. Presented below are the plans for the compensation of officers and employees in effect as
at December 31, 2013:

No. of
recipients

Number of
options

Of which to
the CEO

Economic
value on
grant
date, NIS
in
thousands

Of which to
the CFO

Exercise
price per
option in
NIS

Expiration
date

2010

1

875,000

875,000

-

610

0.01

2011

7

6,180,000

3,000,000

1,200,000

1,780

1.55

2013

4

2,350,000

-

-

376

1.55

2013

1

900,000

900,000

-

225

1.55

2013

1

420,000

-

420,000

105

1.55

December
13, 2014
November
13, 2016
March 9,
2018
July 3,
2018
May 12,
2018

(8) For information on options allotted after balance sheet date (including in lieu of a cash bonus),
see Note 22f.
b. Parameters used in calculating the benefit embodied in the options:
Plan

Share price (NIS)
Exercise price (NIS)
Weighted expected
volatility (*)
Average life of the
options (in years) (**)
Risk-free interest rate
Expected dividend rate
Total benefit (NIS in
thousands)
Amortized balance (NIS
in thousands)
Opened in 2013
2012
2011

2010

2011

2013

2013

2013

(*) 2014

-

0.99

1.04

1.17

1.17

2.49

0.01

1.55

1.55

1.55

1.55

2.68

-

52.2%

35%

34.2%

34.2%

32.8%

4

4

4

5

5

2.75-3

-

1%

0.1%

0.1%

0.1%

0.1%

-

-

-

-

-

-

610

1,780

376

225

105

379

-

454

94

225

105

379

119

643

-

-

-

-

477

83

-

-

-

-

(*) Determined based on the historic volatility of the share prices of the Company.
(**) The life of the options is determined according to management’s projections as to the
period of holding by the optionees, based on their position in the Company and the Company’s
past experience concerning the employee turnover rate.
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c. Presented below are developments in the options granted to the officers in the Company
and its employees:
2013

No. of options

2012

Weighted
average
exercise price

No. of options

Weighted
average
exercise price

Balance as at January 1
Granted during the year
Forfeited during the year
Exercised during the year
Balance as at
December 31

7,055,000
3,670,000
(700,000)
-

1.36
1.55
-

7,055,000
-

1.36
-

10,025,000

1.42

7,055,000

1.36

Options exercisable as at
December 31

4,935,000

1.28

875,000.00

0.01

Anticipated consideration
from the exercise of the
outstanding options as
at December 31 (NIS in
thousands)

14,191

9,588

(*) The share price shortly before the date of issue of the report is NIS 2.485.
Note 17 - Loss per Share
Year ended December 31

Loss attributable to the
holders of ordinary shares
Loss for the year used in
computing the basic and
diluted loss per share

2013

2012

2011

NIS in thousands

NIS in thousands

NIS in thousands

(4,026)

(5,947)

(1,102)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in computing the
basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share from continuing
operations
Balance at beginning of year
(1)
136,400,190
136,400,190
16,625,000
Effect of shares issued in the
23,276,169
79,740,743
period (2) (3)
Balance as at December 31
159,676,359
136,400,190
96,365,743
(1) (2) (3)
(1) In 2011 - after taking into account the splitting of the shares to NIS 0.01 par value on
December 16, 2010.
(2) In 2011 - after taking into account the issuance in May 2011.
(3) In 2013 - after taking into account the exercise of options (series 1) in April 2013.
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a.

Composition of income tax expense
In the reporting periods the Company has incurred losses for tax purposes and therefore no
current tax expenses were recorded. As to deferred taxes, see article e below.

b.

Tax laws applicable to the Group
The provision for current taxes of the Company and its investee entities in Israel was determined
based on the provisions of the Income Tax Ordinance (New Version), 1961.
As to the share of the Company in partnerships (including the Granot Energy partnership) - in
accordance with the provisions of Section 63 of the Income Tax Ordinance (New Version), 1961,
the share of the partnership’s income to which each partner is entitled in the tax year will be
deemed as the income of such partner and will be included in its tax return.
The Income Tax Regulations (Depreciation) (Amendment), 2010 set a depreciation rate of 25%
for all facilities that generate electricity from solar energy, using photovoltaic technology. The
Amendment is applicable to facilities the operation of which commenced in the period from
January 1, 2009 to December 31, 2013.

c.

Tax rates applicable to the Group
Tax rates applicable to the companies in Israel:
2011 - 24%
2012 - 25%
2013 - 25%
On August 5, 2013, the Knesset passed the Law for the Change of National Priorities (Legislation
Amendments for the Achievement of the Budget Targets for the Years 2013 and 2014), 2013,
which determines, inter alia, the raising of the corporate tax rate by 1.5% commencing in 2014
and thereafter, up to a rate of 26.5%.
The deferred tax balances as at December 31, 2013 were calculated according to the new tax rates
specified in the Law for Changes in National Priorities, at the tax rate expected to apply on the
date of reversal.
The effect of the change on the financial statements as at December 31, 2013 is reflected in an
increase in a deferred tax asset, net in the amount of NIS 27 thousands against deferred tax
income.

d.

Tax assessments
As at December 31, 2013, the Company and its investee entities have not yet been issued final
tax assessments since their inception.
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e.

Deferred taxes
Until December 2012, the Company did not create surplus deferred tax assets in excess of the
tax liabilities, this in view of the uncertainty as to its ability to utilize its losses. In December
2012, the Company connected 2 medium facilities with a capacity of some 1.727 MW and in
the opinion of management of the Company, following the connection of said facilities, and
taken into consideration the anticipated revenues of the Company from the overall facilities that
have been connected by the date of the report, deferred tax assets may be recognized in excess
of the liabilities, this in view of the increased level of certainty as the utilization of the
Company’s carryforward losses. Accordingly, in 2012 the Company recognized a deferred tax
asset that was not recognized in the past, to the effect that the excess of tax assets over the
liability as at December 31, 2012 amounted to approximately NIS 2,583 thousands. The excess
of tax assets over the liability as at December 31, 2013 amounted to approximately NIS 3,153
thousands.
Presented below are the composition and movement of the deferred taxes in the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012:

2013

Accumulated losses
(*)
Fixed assets (*)
Other
Unrealized gains on
an intercompany
transaction

2012

Accumulated losses
(*)
Fixed assets (*)

December 31, 2012

Amount carried to
profit or loss

December 31, 2013

4,664
(2,081)
-

(4,305)
1,272
927

359
809
927

2,583

2,676
570

2,676
3,153

December 31, 2011

1,019
(1,019)
-

Amount carried to
profit or loss

December 31, 2012

3,645
(1,062)
2,583

4,664
(2,081)
2,583

(*) The deferred taxes in respect of depreciation differences and losses for tax purposes were
recognized as at December 31, 2013 according to the tax rates that are expected to apply on the
date of reversal (26.5%).
f.

Losses for tax purposes carried forward to future years
As at December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company has carryforward tax losses of approximately
NIS 1.3 million and 18.7 million, respectively. In 2013, as part of the preparations for obtaining
long-term credit, the Company sold in a taxable event 31 of its connected facilities to a wholly
owned limited partnership of the Company in consideration of approximately NIS 50.7 million.
The capital gain recorded on the sale is NIS 10.1 million and was eliminated in the consolidation
of the financial statements.
Following the sale, the Company utilized most of its carryforward tax losses as at December
31, 2012, thereby reducing the deferred tax balance in respect of losses to NIS 359 thousands.
On the other hand, for purposes of consolidation, a deferred tax assets was created in respect of
an unrealized gain on the sale in the amount of approximately NIS 2.7 million.
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g.

Theoretical tax
The difference between the amount calculated at the ordinary tax rates and the amount of
provision for taxes is explained as follows:

Year ended December 31
2013
NIS in
thousands

2012
NIS in
thousands

2011
NIS in
thousands

Loss before taxes on income

(4,508)

(8,576)

(1,102)

Statutory tax rate

25%

25%

25%

(1,127)

(2,144)

(276)

Different tax rate of foreign subsidiaries
Non-deductible expenses

-

(7)

-

323

7

-

Effect of the change in the tax rate
Losses and benefits for the year for which no
deferred tax were recorded
Creation of deferred taxes for losses for
which deferred taxes were not created in
the past
Decrease in deferred taxes due to losses for
which deferred taxes were not created in
excess
Taxes in respect of previous years
Other differences

(27)

-

-

-

190

276

-

(629)

-

199

-

-

(10)

-

-

62

-

-

547

(439)

276

(580)

2,583

-

38%

30%

25%

Effective tax rate

-
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The Company has two reportable segments, as described below, which form the Group’s strategic
business units.
The strategic business units include various operations and the allocation of resources and evaluation
of performance are managed separately because they require different technology and modes of
operation. The following summary describes the operations in each of the Group’s operating segments:
Photovoltaic field - initiation, development, and connection of solar systems for the sale of electricity
to the grid and their operation over their active period.
Wind energy field - initiation and development for the construction of projects for the sale of
electricity generated using wind energy (to the date of approval of the financial statements, all of the
projects of the Company are in pre-construction initiation and development stages).
The Company has no other activities.
These two strategic business units possess different characteristics, both as regarding the nature of
initiation and the processes and as regarding the equipment and its complexity and require different
sets of engagements. For each strategic business unit, the chief operating decision maker and
management of the Company review, at least once every quarter, the internal management reports.
Segment profits are measured based on the profit (loss) before financing, taxes, depreciation and
amortization as included in the reports that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision
maker and management. Segment profit is used to measure the results of the segment since the chief
operating decision maker and management believe that such information is the most relevant in
evaluating the results of segments relative to other entities that operate within these industries. Segment
results reported to the chief operating decision maker include items directly attributable to the segment
on a reasonable basis.
Segment assets comprise connected facilities and projects in progress, whereas segment liabilities
comprise loans taken (excluding working capital), as included in reports provided regularly to the chief
operating decision maker and to management of the Company.
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Photovoltaic

Year ended December 31, 2013
Total
reportable
Wind
segments
Adjustments

Total
consolidated

NIS in thousands
Total revenues from the sale of
electricity Other revenues, net

8,982
1,739
(2,892)

(2,699)

8,982
1,739
(5,591)

(8,617)

8,982
1,739
(14,208)

7,829

(2,699)

5,130

(8,617)

(3,487)

(2,655)

592

(2,063)

(138)

(2,201)

(2,107)
-

Income tax income or expense

5,174
-

3,067
-

(8,755)
1,694
580

(5,688)
1,694
580

Company’s share in the results of
equity-accounted investees

(514)

-

(514)

-

(514)

Net profit (loss)

4,660

(2,107)

2,553

(6,481)

(3,928)

Asses of reportable segments and
other operations
Other amounts

167,237
4,218

1,384
-

168,621
4,218

958
35,673

169,579
39,891

Total consolidated assets

171,455

1,384

172,839

36,631

209,470

Other shared expenses

Profit (loss) before financing,
taxes, depreciation and
amortization
Adjustments in respect of
unallocated amounts:
Provisions, depreciation and
amortization
Consolidated profit (loss) from
continuing operations before
taxes on income
Financing income, net

Liabilities of reportable segments
and other operations
Total consolidated liabilities
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Photovoltaic

Year ended December 31, 2012
Total
reportable
segments
Wind
Adjustments

Total
consolidated

NIS in thousands
Total revenues from the sale of
electricity Other revenues, net

4,737
509
(1,207)

(532)

4,737
509
(1,739)

(6,021)

4,737
509
(7,760)

4,039

(532)

3,507

(6,021)

(2,514)

(2,473)

(5,495)

(7,968)

(118)

(8,086)

(6,027)
-

Income tax income or expense

1,566
-

(4,461)
-

(6,139)
3,166
2,583

(10,600)
3,166
2,583

Company’s share in the results
of equity-accounted investees

(1,142)

-

(1,142)

-

(1,142)

424

(6,027)

(5,603)

(390)

(5,993)

Other shared expenses
Profit (loss) before financing,
taxes, depreciation and
amortization
Adjustments in respect of
unallocated amounts:
Depreciation and amortization
Consolidated profit (loss)
from continuing operations
before taxes on income
Financing income, net

Net profit (loss)

Asses of reportable segments
and other operations
Other amounts

68,777
2,082

2,820
29,492

71,597
31,574

487
50,202

72,084
81,776

Total consolidated assets

70,859

32,312

103,171

50,689

153,860

Liabilities of reportable
segments and other
operations
Total consolidated liabilities

-

-

12,667

12,667

3,435

16,102

-

12,667

12,667

3,435

16,102

In 2011, the Company did not operate in the field of wind energy and therefore comparative figures
are not included
As at December 31, 2013 and 2012, all of the revenues of the Company from the sale of electricity
derive from a principal customer in the photovoltaic field (IEC - see also Note 5 above).
As at December 31, 2013 and 2012 (as well as the preceding reporting year), the Company operates
and generates its revenues in Israel exclusively.
As at December 31, 2012, the liabilities of the wind segment relate to the share of the non-controlling
interest in loans that it had granted to a subsidiary sold in 2013.
For information on revenues from the sale of electricity, see Note 14a.
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a.

Contingent liabilities - demand for the payment of a betterment levy
On December 26, 2011, the Haifa Regional Planning and Construction Committee issued the
Company a demand for the payment of a betterment levy in the amount of approximately NIS 1.2
million in respect of the construction of a photovoltaic facility on buildings in the Caesarea
Industrial Park. The Company filed an administrative petition for the full cancellation of the levy
and the appointment of a decisive appraiser. On March 20, 2013, the decisive appraiser accepted
the arguments of the Company in connection with the betterment levy assessment that was
determined by the Regional Committee in relation to the project and ruled that there is no cause
to impose a betterment levy on the Company. The Regional Committee announced that it rejects
the decision of the decisive appraiser and holds the assessment to be firm and abiding (albeit it
was reduced to NIS 945 thousands).
Under these circumstances, the Company filed a new petition with the Court, requesting to
validate the ruling of the decisive appraiser. The Regional Committee has submitted a response
to the appeal. The Court rejected the petition and determined (de facto) that the burden of
affirming the ruling of the appraiser lies with the Company that should therefore file an additional
petition a new (third) petition with the Court. The Company filed an appeal with the Supreme
Court, requesting, inter alia, that it recognizes the binding effect of the ruling of the decisive
appraiser. At the same time, the Company filed a renewed petition, as stipulated in the ruling of
the District Court. To the date of approval of the financial statements, the District Court has
decided to postpone the hearing of the new petition until after the hearing in the Supreme Court.
In respect of the two aforementioned petition, the Company provided guarantees in an aggregate
amount of NIS 1.2 million Management of the Company believes, based on the opinion of its
legal counsel, that the changes of petition being accepted are more likely than not and therefore
no provision was included in the financial statements.
In this context, see Note 3(q) to these financial statements concerning IFRIC 21, Levies.
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b.

Liens and guarantees

Asset under lien

Carrying
amount of
the liability

Carrying
amount of
the asset
under lien

Type of
lien

Notes

December 31
2013
NIS in
thousands

Liability of the
Group:

Credit facility
of up to € 50
million from a
foreign bank

Loan in an
amount of up to
NIS 49 million
Bank guarantee
in favor of the
Neot Hovav
Eco-Industrial
Local Council

Lien on all of the
assets of the project
company, Energix
Neot Hovav Ltd.,
and on the rights of
the Company in the
project company
A lien on all of the
assets of Projects 1,
Limited Partnership
and on the rights of
the Company in this
partnership

-

-

2013
NIS in
thousands

105,781

Firstranking
fixed
charge

See Note
12a(4)

40,209

Firstranking
fixed
charge

See Note
12a(3)

3,006

Firstranking
fixed
charge

See Note
12a(4)
and 4b

Pledged deposit in a
bank
-

(1) As to a deposit pledged against a bank guarantee that was provided in favor of the nominated
EPC contractor in the Neot Hovav project after balance sheet date, in connection with
liabilities of the Company for the construction of the substation, see Note 12(a)(4)
(2) The Company has provided bank performance guarantees in amounts of approximately NIS
432 thousands in respect of its applications to receive contingent and permanent licenses.
(3) The Company has provided a bank guarantee in the amount of approximately NIS 1.2 million
in connection with its legal proceedings with the Haifa Regional Planning and Construction
Committee, see section a. above.
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a. General
This note presents quantitative and qualitative information about the Group’s exposure to each of
the following risks.
The financial instruments of the Group consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, deposits,
trade receivables, other receivables and debit balances, Payables and credit balances and other
long-term liabilities. The Group believes that the carrying amount of the aforesaid financial assets
and liabilities, as presented in the financial statements, is close or identical to their fair value.
As at December 31, 2013 and 2012 the Company has no derivative financial assets and/or
liabilities.
b.

Presented below are the balances of the Group’s financial instruments, by categories:
December 31

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Deposits and marketable securities

Trade receivables
Receivables and debit balances
Financial liabilities
Trade payables and other payables and credit
balances
Other long-term liabilities

c.

2013

2012

NIS in thousands

NIS in thousands

29,352
3,006
1,146
2,025
35,529

47,914
29,124
991
417
78,446

5,759
21,617
27,376

15,783
15,783

Financial risks and the management thereof
As part of its activities, the Group is exposed to risks pertaining to various financial instruments,
such as:
 Credit risk;
 Liquidity risk;
 market risk (including currency risk, fair value risk in respect of interest rate and cash flow
risk in respect of the CPI);
The risk management program of the Group focuses on actions that are designated to minimize
potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. The risk management is
carried out primarily by the CEO and CFO of the Company by constantly keeping track of
developments in the relevant markets. As part of the overall risk management of the Group, the
Company’s Board of Directors has determined that the CEO of the Company will regularly report
to the Chairman of the Board of Directors on the existing level of exposure. In the event of
extraordinary developments in the currency and interest markets, they review the data and
occasionally the modes of operation in the derivatives market is reviewed in order to hedge
interest rate and currency risks.
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c.

Financial risks and the management thereof (cont’d)

Presented below are risks pertaining to the financial instruments and the management thereof:
(1) Credit risks
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a counterparty fails to meet its
contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s trade and other receivables,
cash and cash equivalents, deposits and marketable securities that are deposited in banks.
The overall theoretical exposure to credit risk as at December 31, 2013 amounts to
approximately NIS 35,529 thousands.
In the opinion of the Company's management, the credit risk of the Group is low, for the
following reasons:
 The revenues of the Company from the sale of electricity are received from an Essential
Service Provider.
 The Group holds the vast majority of the assets that are theoretically exposed to credit
risl in cash and cash equivalents and deposits and marketable securities in banks and
financial institutions with an AA+ rating by Maalot.
(2)

Liquidity risks
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations
associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial
asset.
The responsibility for the management of the liquidity risks lies with management of the
Company, which conducts a program for the management of financing and liquidity risks in
the short, medium and long terms, depending on the needs of the Company. The Company
manages the liquidity risk by maintaining adequate surpluses of cash, performing current and
future financial forecasts and by comparing the future yields on the financial assets and the
financial liabilities. The Group aims to maintain the existing ratio between the obtaining of
ongoing financing and the flexibility that is afforded by the use of credit.
The responsibility for the management of liquidity risks lies with the Board of Directors,
within the framework of the management of the liquidity risk in relation to the management’s
financing and liquidity requirements in the short, medium and long term.
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Financial risks and the management thereof (cont’d)

c.

Analysis of the projected maturities of non-derivative financial liabilities
The table below presents the flow of financial liabilities (principal and projected interest)
that do not constitute derivative financial instruments, based on the contractual maturities:
December 31, 2013
Effective
interest
rate

Up to one
year
NIS in
thousands

1-3 years
NIS in
thousands

Over 3
years
NIS in
thousands

Total
NIS in
thousands

-

2,759

-

-

2,759

-

3,000

-

-

-

-

21,357

260

3,000
21,617

5,759

21,357

260

27,376

%

Trade payables and other
payables and credit
balances
Trade payables and other
payables and credit
balances - partners in
controlled entities
Other long-term liabilities



The overall theoretical exposure to the liquidity risk amounts to approximately NIS
27,376 thousands. In the opinion of management of the Company, the liquidity risk is
low, since the Company maintains cash balances that exceed the amount of the risk.
December 31, 2012
Effective
interest
rate

Up to one
year
NIS in
thousands

1-3 years
NIS in
thousands

Over 3
years
NIS in
thousands

Total
NIS in
thousands

-

3,116

-

-

3,116

-

12,667

-

-

12,667

15,783

-

-

15,783

%

Trade payables and other
payables and credit
balances
Trade payables and other
payables and credit
balances - partners in
controlled entities

(3) Market risks
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices to which the Group is exposed, such as
foreign exchange rates, interest rates and the CPI, will affect the Group’s income or the value
of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to
manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing
the return.
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c.

Financial risks and the management thereof (cont’d)
Presented below are the types of market risks:
a. Foreign currency and linkage risks
Currency risk - The Company customarily engages with suppliers overseas for the
purchase of systems and equipment for its electricity generation gacilities.
Consequently, the Group is exposed to changes in the exchange rates of currencies in
which it intends to purchase the equipment (U.S. dollar or Euro). Such exposure is
limited to the timespan from the date of purchase of the equipment to the date of
payment of the full consideration in its respect.
As necessary and in order to fix the purchase cost of systems and equipment that are
purchased overseas, the Company considers the performance of forward or swap
transaction to hedge the foreign currency risk.
For the purpose of the construction of the Neot Hovav project, the Group entered into
an agreement with a nominated EPC contractor. The consideration was denominated in
Euro, yet in order to hedge the currency exposure and to avoid the project exceeding its
planned budget, it has been determined that the payment will be made in NIS in
accordance with an exchange rate framework that will not fall below NIS 4.5 and will
not exceed NIS 4.85 per 1 Euro. The source of such payments is backed by a signed
credit facility in the amount of € 50 million that the Group signed with a foreign bank.
Since after the project is connected the Group intends to seek refinancing from an Israeli
financier in NIS (see Note 12a(4)), after every withdrawal in Euro from the foreign bank,
the Group will enter into currency hedge transactions from the date of withdrawal to the
anticipated date of discharge of the loan (the date of connection and refinancing). As at
December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company has not hedged this exposure.
The Israeli consumer price index - As at December 31, 2013, the Company has CPIlinked financial liabilities to the entrepreneurs that sold the Neot Hovav project to the
Company, amounting to NIS 42.7 million, which are 50% linked to the rate of increase
of the CPI. On the other hand, the Company has provided a loan of NIS 21.4 million,
which is 100% linked to the CPI and bears 6% annual interest, to the same entrepreneurs
that had sold the shares of the Company as aforesaid, so that in practice the Company
has no economic exposure to the increase in the CPI. As to the offsetting of the loan
against the liability to the entrepreneurs as above, see Note 11 above and section 5
below. As to CPI-linked financing obtained after balance sheet date, see note 22c. The
CPI-linked loans expose the Group to a cash flow risk in respect of changes in the CPI
rate that are not accompanied by a corresponding change in the fair value of the financial
instruments. It should be noted that the revenues of the Company from IEC are linked
to the CPI in a manner that is updated one a year and are secured for 20 years.
Accordingly, when the Company comes to hold CPI-linked financial liabilities in the
future, an increase in the rate of the CPI will result in an increase in revenues from the
generation of electricity, thereby reducing this exposure.
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c.

Financial risks and the management thereof (cont’d)
The linkage and foreign currency exposure of the Group is as follows:

December 31, 2013
In
pounds
sterling

In
Euro

In
zloty

In U.S.
dollars

In NIS unlinked

Other

In NIS - CPIlinked

Total

NIS in thousands

Cash and cash
equivalents
Pledged
deposit
Trade
receivables
Receivables
and debit
balances
Trade payables
and other
payables and
credit
balances
Other longterm
liabilities
Total excess of
assets over
liabilities

91

6

8

56

4

29,187

-

29,352

-

-

-

-

-

3,006

-

3,006

-

-

-

-

-

1,146

-

1,146

493

-

-

-

-

1,532

-

2,025

584

6

8

56

4

34,871

-

35,529

66

-

-

44

-

5,649

-

5,759

-

-

-

-

-

260

21,357

21,617

66

-

-

44

-

5,909

21,357

27,376

518

6

8

12

4

28,962

(21,357)

8,153

December 31, 2012
In
pounds
sterling

In
Euro

In U.S.
dollars

In zloty

In NIS unlinked

In NIS CPIlinked

Total

NIS in thousands

Cash and cash
equivalents
Deposits and
marketable
securities
Trade receivables
Receivables and
debit balances
Trade payables
and other
payables and
credit balances
Total excess of
assets over
liabilities

158

4

376

25

47,351

-

47,914

29,124
-

-

-

-

991

-

29,124
991

-

-

-

-

417

-

417

29,282

4

376

25

48,759

-

78,446

-

-

12,970

66

2,747

-

15,783

29,282

4

(12,594)

(41)

46,012

-

62,663
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c.

Financial risks and the management thereof (cont’d)
Presented below is an analysis of the Group’s linkage and foreign currency sensitivity:
The effect of a 3% change in the CPI/the exchange rate on the profit or loss in respect of
financial liabilities that are exposed to said risk (before the tax effect) is as follows:
December 31, 2013

3% change

Carrying
amount
NIS in
thousands

In Euro (cash and cash equivalents)
In Euro (receivables and debit
balances)

3% increase

3% decrease

Profit or loss
NIS in
thousands

Profit or loss
NIS in
thousands

91

3

(3)

493

15

(15)

December 31, 2012

3% change

In Euro (cash and cash equivalents)
In Euro (deposits)
In zloty (cash and cash equivalents)
In zloty (trade payables and other
payables and credit balances including loans from non-controlling
interests)

Carrying
amount
NIS in
thousands

3% increase

3% decrease

Profit or loss
NIS in
thousands

Profit or loss
NIS in
thousands

158

5

(5)

29,124

874

(874)

376

11

(11)

(12,970)

(389)

389

b.

Interest rate risk
Fair value risk -As at December 31, 2013 the Group has no financial liabilities
bearing a fixed interest rate. As to CPI-linked financing obtained after balance sheet
date with an annual interest rate that shall not fall below 4.6%, see Note 22c below.

c.

Cash flow risk
Loans bearing variable interest rates expose the Group to a cash flow risk in respect
of changes in interest rates. As at December 31, 2013, the Group has no short-term
credit bearing variable interest.
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Note 21 - Financial Instruments (cont’d)
c.

Financial risks and the management thereof (cont’d)

(4) Guarantees As to guarantees, see Note 20(2).
(5) Setting off of financial assets and financial liabilities
The table below presents the carrying amount of recognized financial instruments that have
been offset in the statement of financial position:
December 31, 2013

Gross amounts
of recognized
financial
assets
(liabilities)

Gross amounts of
recognized
financial
(liabilities) assets

Net amounts of
financial
assets
(liabilities)
presented in
the statement
of financial
position

NIS in thousands
Financial assets
Long-term loans

12a(4)

21,393
21,393

(21,393)
(21,393)

-

Financial liabilities
Other long-term liabilities

11

(42,750)
(21,357)

21,393
-

(21,357)
(21,357)

Note

for additional information see Note 21(3)a above.
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Note 22 - Subsequent Events
a.

Connection of a system
In January 2014, Granot Energy connected a system with a total capacity of 0.93MWp.
(Company’s share: 0.465MWp). The system is entitled to a tariff of 142 NIS cents, linked to the
CPI, over 20 years for every 1KWh generated. The cost of construction of the system amounted
to approximately NIS 5.7 million (Company’s share) and the anticipated annual revenue from the
system is approximately NIS 1.1 million (Company’s share).

b.

Agreement for the financing of systems in Granot Energy
Granot Energy is holding negotiations with a financial institutions for non-recourse financing
over a period of 16 years (average duration: 7.5 years). According to the agreement that is being
formulated, the partnership will be entitled to receive financing of up to NIS 40 million against a
lien on its connected facilities with a capacity of some 2.8MWp (for medium systems that have
been fully financed with the equity of the partnership). The agreement contains terms that are
customary in project finance, such as the replenishment of reserve funds, the dates of withdrawal
of surplus monies remaining in the partnership etc.

c.

Withdrawal of a loan
As to a first withdrawal in the amount of NIS 19 million under a financing agreement with a
volume of up to NIS 49 million, see Note 12a(3).

d.

Grants to officers
Shortly before the approval of the financial statements, the Board of Directors, at the
recommendation of the Compensation Committee, and subject to the policy for the compensation
of officers in the Company, decided as follows:
1.

2.

3.

To grant a discretionary bonus of approximately NIS 125 thousands to the CEO of the
Company. Additionally, the CEO shall be entitled to equity-based compensation with a value
of approximately 304 thousands in respect of of a bonus for the measurable component that
is due to the CEO for 2013. The bonus for 2013 was granted in accordance with the
Company’s compensation policy.
To determine that the maximum amount in respect of the measurable component of the bonus
to the CEO of the Company for 2014 will be the amount of 5 salaries (without detracting
from the rights of the Company to grant a discretionary bonus to the CEO in an amount equal
to the cost to the employer of up to 2 monthly salaries).
To grant a discretionary bonus of approximately NIS 57 thousands to the CFO of the
Company. Additionally, the CFO shall be entitled to a cash bonus of 165 thousands in respect
of the measurable component of the bonus that is due to the CFO for 2013.
The amounts of the aforesaid bonuses were included in payroll expenses in 2013.

e.

Provision of a bank guarantee
For information on the pledging of a deposit in the amount of approximately 3 million against a
bank guarantee that was provided by the Company to secure its liabilities to the nominated
contractor in relation to the construction of the substation in the Neot Hovav project, see Note
12(a)(4).
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f.

Options granted to employees and to the CEO of the Company
On March 12, 2014, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a general plan for the allocation
of up to 10 million options to employees and officers, of which it was decided to allocate 1.71
million options to employees and an officer. Any allocation is subject to the approval of the
option plan by the tax authorities.
The options are not listed for trade and are exercisable into ordinary shares of NIS 0.01 par value
each of the Company within the framework of Section 102 of the Ordinance, under the capital
gains track with a trustee that is provided for in Section 102(b)(2) of the Ordinance. 1,092,000
options were granted to nine new employees that joined the Company in 2013 that at the date of
the report are not officers (of which 162,000 options were granted to two employees in lieu of a
cash bonus (which were therefore decided to be fully accelerated) and 625,000 options were
granted to the CEO of the Company in lieu of a cash bonus (which were therefore decided to be
fully accelerated)). The exercise price of the options is NIS 2.684 (nominal). The exercise price
is 8% higher than the quoted price of the share on the Stock Exchange shortly before the date of
allotment. Pursuant to the terms of the plan, the optionees will become eligible to exercise all of
the share options at the end of the vesting period (with the exception of 787,000 options that were
granted in lieu of a cash bonus). The final date for the exercise of all options is three days from
the date of allotment. The fair value of the options granted is NIS 0.46 per option to employees
who are not officers and NIS 0.486 to the CEO of the Company. The fair value is estimated using
the Black and Scholes model. The total economic value of the options amounts to approximately
NIS 809 thousands. Out of said balance, an amount of NIS 379 thousands was deducted in 2013
(due to their grant in lieu of a cash bonus) and the remaining NIS 430 thousands is expected to be
deducted in 2014 and 2015 (NIS 215 thousands in each of the years).
Assuming that all of the options that are offered to optionees are exercised, the overall shares
arising from such exercise will represent close to 1.0% of the equity and voting rights in the
Company without dilution and about 0.9% of the equity and voting rights in the Company on a
fully diluted basis.
The parameters that were used in the implementation of the Black and Scholes model are as
follows:
Share price (NIS)
2.485
Exercise price (NIS)
2.684
Expected volatility
32.77%
Life of the option (in years)
3 for the CEO and 2.75 for other
employees
Risk-free interest rate
0.1
Expected dividend rate
-
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g.

Approval of retirement benefits for the CFO
Shortly before the approval of the financial statements, the Company’s Board of Directors
approved, at the recommendation of the Company’s Compensation Committee, the retirement
arrangements of the CFO of in the Company who announced his retirement from the Company
shortly after the issue of the financial statements. As part of the termination of his office and in
view of the contribution of the CFO to the Company, the Company’s Board of Directors has
approved the full acceleration of the exercise dates of the 600,000 options that were granted to
him as part of his work in the Company and have not yet vested at the date of the termination of
his employment in the Company. Consequently, the Company will record in its financial
statements for 2014 an expense of NIS 96,000 in respect of the remaining benefit of the options
that were allotted to him and have not yet been amortized as at December 31, 2013.

h.

Engagement with a CFO in place of the retiring CFO
In March 2014, the Company entered into an employment agreement with CPA Elad Cohen, until
then an employee of the controlling shareholder, Alony Hetz, who will be appointed as CFO in
the Company on place of Mr. Nodary Zizov. According to the terms of the agreement, Mr. Cohen
shall be entitled to a gross monthly salary of NIS 18 thousands (which will be updated to NIS 22
thousands on January 1, 2015 and to NIS 25 thousands on January 1, 2016). Additionally, Mr.
Cohen shall be entitled to customary and related social benefits (subsistence, mobile telephone as
customary in the Company) and to a company car for which all maintenance expenses will be
borne by the Company.
The monthly cost of employment of the CFO (employer cost) is expected to amounts to
approximately NIS 27 thousands a month.
The Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors the Company have also approved:
1. The grant of a letter of indemnity and release to Mr. Cohen in respect of his position in the
Company, in the format that is customary in the Company.
2. To determine that the maximum amount in respect of the measurable component of the bonus
to the CEO of the Company for 2014 will be the amount of 3 salaries (without detracting from
the rights of the Company to grant a discretionary bonus to the CEO in an amount equal to
the cost to the employer of up to 2 monthly salaries).
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December 31
2013
NIS in
thousands

2012
NIS in
thousands

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

20,352

47,546

Pledged deposit

3,006

-

Trade receivables

1,146

991

52,772

346

1,276

107

78,552

48,990

Non-current assets
Connected electricity generation systems

354

43,084

Systems under construction

226

211

Fixed assets

958

487

124,114

45,257

1,696

-

Other receivables

162

64

Deferred taxes, net

477

2,583

Receivables - investee companies
Receivables and debit balances
Total current assets

Investment in investee companies
Long-term receivables - investee companies

Total non-current assets
Total assets

127,987

91,686

206,539

140,676

Liabilities and equity
Current liabilities
Trade payables

385

576

Payables and credit balances

2,489

2,342

Total current liabilities

2,874

2,918

260

-

21,357

-

21,617

-

Non-current liabilities
Liability for employee severance benefits, net
Other long-term liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Equity
Share capital
Capital reserves
Accumulated loss
Total equity attributable to the owners of the Company
Total liabilities and equity

1,677

1,364

190,894
(10,523)

144,144
(7,750)

182,048
206,539

137,758
140,676

In the name of the Board of Directors:
Nathan Hetz
Asa Levinger
Itzhak Nodary Zizov

Chairman of the Board
of Directors
CEO
CFO

March 12, 2014
The accompanying supplementary information is an integral part of the separate financial
information.
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Profit or Loss Data
Year ended December 31
2013
2012
2011
NIS in
NIS in
NIS in
thousands
thousands
thousands

Revenues
Revenues from the sale of electricity

8,074

4,737

3,494

Other revenues, net

1,798

490

450

10,188

-

-

20,060

5,227

3,944

Expenses
Rental of rooftops
Maintenance of systems
Payroll and related expenses
Initiation expenses

807
350
6,524
2,592

473
229
4,094
(*) 359

349
133
2,866
-

Administrative, headquarters and other

3,373

(*) 2,432

2,175

13,646

7,587

5,523

6,414

(2,360)

(1,579)

592

(4,644)

-

(2,440)

(3,442)

(1,007)

4,566

(10,446)

(2,586)

3,146

3,193

2,357

(1,104)

(65)

(780)

2,042

3,128

1,577

6,608

(7,318)

(1,009)

(8,537)
(1,929)

(1,212)
(8,530)

(93)
(1,102)

(2,097)

2,583

-

(4,026)

(5,947)

(1,102)

38

-

-

(3,988)

(5,947)

(1,102)

Capital gain

Profit (loss) before financing, taxes, depreciation
and amortization
Decrease (increase) in impairment provisions and
losses
Depreciation and amortization
Loss before financing and taxes
Financing income
Financing expenses
Profit (loss) after financing expenses, net
Company’s share of results of equity-accounted
investees
Loss before taxes on income
Taxes on income
Loss for the year attributable to the owners of the
Company
Other comprehensive income items that will be
transferred to profit or loss
Foreign currency translation differences for foreign
operation
Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable
to the owners of the Company

(*) Reclassified -see note 2(i) to the consolidated financial statements.

The accompanying supplementary information is an integral part of the separate financial
information.
Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
(of the Alony Hetz Group)

4882

Financial Statements (Convenience Translations of report and financial statements originally issued in Hebrew)
Cash Flow Data
Year ended December 31
2013
NIS in
thousands

2012
NIS in
thousands

2011
NIS in
thousands

(Audited)

Cash flows - operating activities
Loss for the period attributable to the owners of the
Company
Expenses not involving cash flows (Schedule A)
Changes in working capital (Schedule B)
Net cash from operating activities in respect of
transactions with investees
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Cash flows - investing activities
Investment in electricity generation systems
Disposal of investment in photovoltaic systems
Cash in respect of marketable securities, net
Increase in pledged deposit
Decrease in pledged deposit
Repayment of loan granted to a partnership
Proceeds from the sale of an investee
Grant of loans
Interest received
Investment in other fixed assets
Investment in partnerships and investees
Payment related to the acquisition of a project company
Consideration from sale of fixed assets
Other receivables
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows - financing activities
Consideration from exercise of share options
Issue of shares
Capital raising costs
Short-term loans received from Amot
Long-term loans received from Amot
Repayment of loans from Amot
Interest paid
Net cash provided by financing activities
Change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the
period
Effect of fluctuations in exchange rates on cash and
cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
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(4,026)
2,271
(1,755)
(844)

(5,947)
6,311
364
(504)

(1,102)
(5)
(1,107)
1,450

(78)
(2,677)

745
605

16
359

(412)
(13,100)
10,100
7,800
19,798
1,094
(641)
(20,066)
(76,154)
19
(127)
(71,689)

(2,366)
786
26,060
1,128
(155)
(46,470)
(19)
(21,036)

(33,400)
3,892
(26,050)
(2,839)
1,142
(413)
(107)
(29)
(57,804)

47,025
47,025
(27,341)

(20,431)

146,166
(824)
12,583
3,783
(36,537)
(963)
124,208
66,763

47,546

67,977

1,214

147
20,352

47,546

67,977
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Year ended December 31
2013
2012
2011
NIS in
NIS in
NIS in
thousands
thousands
thousands
(Audited)

Schedule - Adjustments required for presenting cash
flows from operating activities
a. Expenses not involving cash flows:
Financing expenses, net
Capital gain
Reversal of impairment on subsidiary that was sold
Capital loss
Revaluation of loans, deposits and marketable securities,
net
Movement in deferred taxes, net
Losses in respect of investees
Depreciation, amortization and provisions
Share-based payment
b. Changes in asset and liability items (changes in
working capital):
Increase in trade receivables and other receivables and
debit balances
Increase in trade payables and other payables and credit
balances

Non-cash activity
Investment in electricity generation facilities against
supplier credit and payables
Conversion of long-term loans received from the former
parent company into short-term loans
Write-off of connected systems against receivables in
respect of investees
Investment in an investee against a long-term liability
Additional information
Taxes paid

(1,241)
(10,188)
(592)
14

438
(180)
-

(418)
(434)
-

(58)
2,106
8,537
2,440
1,253
2,271

(547)
2,583
1,212
8,086
761
6,311

(813)
93
1,007
560
(5)

(1,286)

358

(755)

442
(844)

(862)
(504)

2,205
1,450

45

502

2,810

-

-

33,475

40,561

-

-

21,357

-

-

-

7

-

The accompanying supplementary information is an integral part of the separate financial
information.
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Supplementary Information to the Separate Financial Statements
Note 1 - General
(a)

Presented below are financial data out of the consolidated financial statements of the Group as at
December 31, 2013 (hereinafter: “consolidated financial statements”) that are published within
the framework of the periodic reports and are attributable to the Company itself (hereinafter “separate financial information”), which are presented in accordance with Regulation 9C
(hereinafter: “the Regulation”) and the tenth addendum of the Securities Regulations (Periodic
and immediate Reports), 1970, concerning separate financial information of the entity.
The separate financial information should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements.

(b)

Definitions
“The Company” - Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
“Investee” - As defined in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements of the Company as at
December 31, 2013.

(c)

Significant accounting policies applied in the separate financial information:
The separate financial information was drawn up in accordance with the accounting policies that
are set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements of the Company, with the exception
of the amounts of the assets, the liabilities, the income, the expenses and the cash flows in respect
of investees, as described below:
a.

Financial position data - The assets and liabilities reflect the assets and liabilities that are
included in the consolidated financial statements and that are attributable to the Company
itself as a parent company (excluding investments in investees).

b.

Investments in investees are presented in the financial position data based on the share of
the Company in the net amount of the total assets less the total liabilities that are included in
the consolidated financial statements of the Company.

c.

Comprehensive income data - The amounts of income and expenses reflect the income and
the expenses that are included in the consolidated financial statements, divided into profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, which are attributable to the Company itself as a
parent company (excluding amounts of income and expenses in respect of investees).

d.

The share of the Company in the results of investees is presented in the profit or loss data at
the net amount of the Company’s share of total revenues less total expenses that are included
in the consolidated financial statements of the Company and that present the operating
results of investees.

e.

Cash flow data - The amounts of cash flows reflect the amounts that are included in the
consolidated financial statements that are attributable to the Company itself as a parent
company, including cash flows from transactions between the Company and the investees
that were eliminated in the consolidated financial statements, and with the exception of the
amounts of cash flows deriving from activities and transactions that were carried out in the
investees, divided into cash flows from operating activities, investing activities and
financing activities, including a description of their components.
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Note 1 - General (cont’d)
Significant accounting policies applied in the separate financial information (cont’d)

(c)

Loans granted to and/or received from investees are presented in the amount that is
attributable to the Company itself as a parent company.
Balances (including loans granted and received) and income and expenses in respect of
transactions with investees, which were eliminated in the consolidated financial statements,
are measured and presented under the relevant items in the financial position data and the
profit or loss data, in the same manner that would have been applicable to the measurement
and presentation of such transactions had they been carried out with third parties.
Unrealized gains and losses on transactions between the Company and its investees are
presented under the balance in respect of investees and under the profit (loss) in respect of
investees.
Note 2 - Financial Instruments
a.

General
The financial instruments of the Company consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, a
pledged deposit, trade receivables, other receivables and debit balances, receivables in
respect of investees and other receivables, trade payables and other payables and credit
balances and other long-term liabilities.
As at December 31, 2013 and 2012 the Company has no derivative financial assets and/or
liabilities.

b. Presented below are the balances of the Company’s financial instruments, by categories:
December 31
2013

2012

NIS in thousands

NIS in thousands

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Pledged deposit
Trade receivables
Receivables and debit balances
Receivables - investee companies
Long-term receivables - investee companies

20,352
3,006

47,546
-

1,146
872
52,772
1,696

991
1
346
-

79,844
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost:
Trade payables and other payables and credit
balances

2,628
21,617

Other long-term liabilities
24,245
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Note 2 - Financial Instruments (cont’d)
c.

Financial risks and the management thereof
For information on the financial risks of the Company, see Note 21 to the consolidated
financial statements.

d. Presented below are risks pertaining to the financial instruments and the management
thereof:
(1) Credit risks
a. For information on the credit risks of the Company, see Note 21 to the consolidated
financial statements.
b. Analysis of the projected maturities of non-derivative financial assets
Financial assets - As at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 that anticipated
maturities of the Company in respect of non-derivative financial assets are up to one
year. Other than a long-term balance of approximately NIS 1.7 million receivable from
an investee that is expected to mature in 2015.
(2) Liquidity risks
a. For information on the liquidity risks of the Company, see Note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.
b. Analysis of the projected contractual maturities of non-derivative financial
liabilities - As at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, the anticipated
maturities of the Company in respect of non-derivative financial liabilities are up to
one year. Except other long-term liabilities that are expected to mature in 2015.
(3) Market risks
For information on the market risks of the Company, see Note 21 to the consolidated
financial statements.
Presented below are the types of market risks:
a. Foreign currency and linkage risks
Foreign currency - See Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.
Consumer Price Index - CPI-linked loans expose the Company to a cash flow risk in
respect of changes in the CPI rate that are not accompanied by a corresponding
change in the fair value of the financial instruments. As at December 31, 2013 and
2012, the Company has no CPI-linked long-term financial liabilities (loans and
credits), other than a long-term liability in the amount of approximately NIS 21.3
million, as described in Note 21(3) to the consolidated financial statements.
The revenues of the Company from IEC are linked to the CPI, which is updated annually, and
secured for a period of 20 years.
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Note 2 - Financial Instruments (cont’d)
d.

Presented below are risks pertaining to the financial instruments and the management
thereof (cont’d):
The linkage and foreign currency exposure of the Company is as follows:
December 31, 2013

In Euro

In
pounds
sterling

In zloty

In U.S.
dollars

In NIS unlinked

Other

In NIS CPIlinked

Total

NIS in thousands

Cash and cash
equivalents

43

1

6

56

3

20,243

-

20,352

-

-

-

-

-

3,006

-

3,006

-

-

-

-

-

1,146

-

1,146

493

-

-

-

-

379

-

872

-

-

-

-

-

52,772

-

52,772

-

-

-

-

-

1,696

-

1,696

536

1

6

56

3

79,242

-

79,844

66

-

-

44

-

2,518

-

2,628

-

-

-

-

-

260

21,357

21,617

66

-

-

44

-

2,778

21,357

24,245

470

1

6

12

3

76,464

(21,357)

55,599

Pledged deposit
Trade receivables
Receivables and
debit balances
Receivables investee
companies
Long-term
receivables investee
companies
Trade payables and
other payables and
credit balances
Other long-term
liabilities
Total excess of
assets over
liabilities

December 31, 2012

In Euro

In pounds
sterling

In zloty

In U.S.
dollars

In NIS unlinked

In NIS CPIlinked

Total

NIS in thousands

Cash and cash
equivalents
Trade
receivables
Receivables and
debit balances
Trade payables
and other
payables and
credit balances

158

8

4

25

47,351

-

47,546

-

-

-

-

991

-

991

-

-

-

-

347

-

347

158

8

4

25

48,689

-

48,884

-

-

-

66

2,852

-

2,918

-

-

-

66

2,852

-

2,918
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December 31, 2012

In Euro

In pounds
sterling

In zloty

In U.S.
dollars

In NIS unlinked

In NIS CPIlinked

Total

NIS in thousands

Total excess of
assets over
liabilities

158
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-
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Note 2 - Financial Instruments (cont’d)
d.

Presented below are risks pertaining to the financial instruments and the management
thereof (cont’d):
A linkage and foreign currency sensitivity analysis that was performed by the Company
suggests that the effect of a 3% change in the CPI/the exchange rate on the profit or loss in
respect of financial liabilities that are exposed to said risk is negligible.
b.

Interest rate risk
As to fair value risk and cash flow risk, see Note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Note 3 - Taxes on Income
As at December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company has carryforward tax losses of approximately
NIS 1.3 million and 18.7 million, respectively. Following the sale of facilities to a wholly owned
limited partnership of the Company, as described in Note 4a below, the Company utilized most
of its carryforward tax losses as at December 31, 2012, thereby reducing the deferred tax balance
in respect of losses to NIS 359,000. The net balance of the deferred tax as at December 31, 2013
and December 31, 2012 amounted to NIS 477,000 and NIS 2,583,000, respectively.
For additional information, see Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.
Note 4 - Material Relationships, Commitments and Transactions with Investee Companies
a. Sale of facilities to a wholly owned limited partnership of the Company
In November 2013, the Company sold 29 small photovoltaic electricity generation facilities
with an installed capacity of 50KWp each (1.45MW in aggregate) and two medium
photovoltaic facilities with an installed capacity of 1.727MW to Projects 1, a wholly owned
limited partnership of the Company, in consideration of approximately NIS 50.7 million.
The amortized cost of the sold facilities in the accounts of the Company amounted to
approximately NIS 40.6 million and accordingly the Company recognized a gain of
approximately NIS 10.1 million.
b. Bank guarantee
As to bank guarantees of the Company, see Note 20b to the consolidated financial statements
that are published together with this financial information.
c. Loans
As to loans that the Company granted to subsidiaries and consolidated partnerships, see Note
8a(1) to the consolidated financial statements that are published together with this financial
information.
d. Investments
On July 15, 2013, the Company granted to a wholly owned limited partnership an amount of
NIS 7,500,000 as an investment in the equity of the partnership for the purpose of compliance
with capital requirements under the permanent electricity generation licenses of two medium
photovoltaic facilities.
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Note 4 - Material Relationships, Commitments and Transactions with Investee Companies
(cont’d)
e. Agreement for the provision of services
The Company provides O&M services for photovoltaic systems that are owned by a wholly
owned limited partnership of the Company. Pursuant to the agreement, which is for a period
of 20 years commencing in November 2013 with exit points every five years, the Company
is entitled to fixed operation fees in the amount of approximately NIS 458,000 a year, linked
to the CPI, for repairs and handling of malfunctions as well as other services that are required
for the proper function of the facilities, including - cleaning the panels, current checkups,
inspection by an electrical engineer and a technician, monitoring and supervision of the
performance of the systems. The fixed payments are linked to the CPI and payable every six
months.
f.

Supplementary information
For supplemetary information on investee companies and commitments with them, see Notes
8 and 12 to the consolidated financial statements.
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